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The followings are the financial highlights for the year ended 31
December 2023 (“this year” or the “Reporting Period”):

Revenue of the Group in 2023 was RMB6,294.59 million,
representing an increase of 68.08% as compared with 2022.

Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of RMB1,992.62 million, representing
an increase of 2,501.23% as compared to loss and total
comprehensive income attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company of RMB76.60 million for the year ended 31 December
2022.

Basic and diluted earnings per share was RMB2.26 for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (for the year ended 31 December
2022: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

B 751 &

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—EBE-hE ZEB-TF —T-—F —T-C —EBo=&F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFIT AREFTT ARBTT AREFT AR%®TR
Operating result REXEE
Revenue B 6,224,024 2,348,113 913,788 3,744,952 6,294,585
Gross profit EF 5,302,202 1,996,566 483,699 2,846,074 4,985,764
Profit/(loss) from operation &%,/ (E518) 2,473,556 1,254,640 (423,377) 321,068 | 2,354,198
Profit/(loss) before taxation — BRAEATEF](E518) 2,269,053 1,010,434 (667,184) 39,422 | 2,126,771
Profit/(loss) and total AAEE R E RN
comprehensive income wm AL (ER) &
attributable to equity 2EW LA
shareholders of the Company 1,918,709 839,455 (587,649) 76,603 1,992,624
Profit margin =
Gross profit margin EF=E 85.19% 85.03% 52.93% 76.00% 79.21%
Net profit margin i 1) 2 30.64% 35.66% (64.32%) 8.57% 37.40%
Earnings/(loss) per share BRER,(F#E)
Basic (RMB) HEA(ARYE ) 2.16 0.95 (0.67) 0.09 2.26
Diluted (RMB) BE(ARE T 2.07 0.53 (0.67) 0.09 2.26
Assets condition BEEMR
Total assets BEE 9,912,339 9,561,267 10,541,581 11,889,800 | 12,744,329
Total equity attributable to PAVNSIE En S
equity shareholders of FEfh B =S
the Company 4,408,555 4,891,103 5,808,281 5,884,884 7,935,513
Non-controlling interests FEFERR R 214,600 212,556 212,481 185,117 -
Total liabilities “aE 5,289,184 4,457,608 4,520,819 5,819,799 4,808,816
Net cash generated from/ wRIEFAE(FTA)
(used in) operating activities R FE 1,794,407 1,299,493 (662,510) 1,699,909 1,673,212
Quick ratio (time) RENE X (1) 2.2 0.69 1.44 0.95 1.30
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YiChang HEC ChanglJiang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. is a
pharmaceutical manufacturing company that focuses on the
development, manufacturing and sales of pharmaceutical products
in the therapeutic areas of anti-infection diseases, endocrine and
metabolic diseases and other diseases. It is the domestic

pharmaceutical manufacturing platform of the HEC Group.

The Company entered into China’s pharmaceutical industry through
the establishment of its predecessor, Yichang Changjiang
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., in 2001. Up to now, we have been
operating for more than 23 years, and are in the leading position in
the domestic pharmaceutical industry in terms of pharmaceutical
sales performance and research and development capability.

The Company was converted into a joint stock limited company on
11 May 2015, and was listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange on 29 December 2015, with the stock code
01558.HK.

Since its establishment, the Company has always followed the
motto of “serving the Chinese with higher standards” and has a
strong industrial foundation and leading competitive edges in the
manufacturing, marketing and sales of pharmaceutical products. As
of 31 December 2023, the Company has 1,788 professional sales
staff across nationwide product distribution network. Kewei
(Oseltamivir Phosphate), one of the Company’s core products, is the
first-line drug for clinical application of anti-influenza virus in China
with strong brand influence and continues to maintain the premier
position in the field of influenza. Oseltamivir Phosphate was included
in the National Essential Drug List (2018 Version) in 2018. In 2020,
Oseltamivir Phosphate continued to be included in the Influenza
treatment plan (2020 version) published by National Health
Commission. In 2023, Oseltamivir Phosphate continued to be
included in the National Drug List for Basic Medical Insurance, Work-
Related Injury Insurance and Maternity Insurance (2023 Version)
issued by the Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the
People’s Republic of China.

CORPORATE PROFILE
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CORPORATE PROFILE
NS

In addition, the Company has built strategic cooperative partnerships
with various renowned pharmaceutical enterprises. The Company
reached a strategic cooperative partnership with China National
Accord Medicines Corporation Ltd. (SZSE: 000028.5Z) and kicked-off
its first operational project during the year of 2018. The Company
entered into a strategic cooperation framework agreement with
Jointown Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. (“Jointown
Pharmaceutical”), pursuant to which the Company authorised
Jointown Pharmaceutical as the exclusive general distribution agent
for its Kewei products to be sold through the OTC channel(s) within
the PRC. The Company entered into a letter of intent with Wuhan
Institute of Virology, Chinese Academy of Sciences* (7 B} 228z i
&% & T 35 FT), National Engineering Technology Research Center
for Drugs of Emergency Prevention and Control* (B 5% J& & Bj 2 %
) T2 R M %5 0 and Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd.* (BR &
5t 2R B R AR, previously known as ER RGN EEE AR
A 7)) (“Sunshine Lake Pharma”), pursuant to which, these parties
will jointly establish a national military-civilian integrated
collaborative industrialization platform for drugs of emergency
prevention and control cum national antiviral drug centre. The
Company believes that the abovementioned strategic cooperative
partnerships will bring favourable development prospects for the
Company’s business.

The Company is committed to the implementation of
professionalism, branding and differentiated development strategies
all along. The Company is committed to the establishment of a
professional marketing team, a steady and innovative marketing
operation and a strategic integration of resources, in order to create
brand characteristics and core competitiveness unique to “Pharm
HEC” in the industry and create additional value for the vast

pharmaceutical consumers and our partners.
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In the future, the Company will further develop and expand its
product lines and markets, enhance the production standards and
quality of its products and continue to expand the coverage of
marketing and sales to facilitate the further growth of business and
profitability of the Company, and strive for more economic benefits

and cost-effectiveness for our investors.

CORPORATE PROFILE
NSIISPA)
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HISTORY OF DEVELOPMENT
LRIEIR

= (Change of stock short name
B R T

= Completion of the major and connected transaction in relation to
the disposal of target equity in Sunshine Lake Pharma
TENBERSFERLEERRRBG L EXN B FRERZETK

= Completion of repurchase of the H share convertible bonds in full
SEAK R BB B H AR AT S R (E 55

= Application for launching of Yigibuvir Tablets being accepted
WegmER ETHRBESXIE

= Mixed Protamine Human Insulin Injection (30R) approved to launch
BEAARSRESITHIR GOR)EHE £

= Metoprolol Succinate Sustained-release Tablets approved to launch
BRINMERBEER EE T

= Azithromycin Tablets approved to launch
MEBRAEHELT

= Insulin Aspart Injection approved to launch
FILBRE L5 REHS & LT

= Insulin Aspart 30 Injection approved to launch

FIZ RS R 30T 5T REE £

= Insulin Glargine Injection approved to launch
HRRERIHRELS AL LT
= Became a subsidiary of Sunshine Lake Pharma

RABRRG BB AT

= Completion of bonus issue of Shares
TE KR B AL AR

= Completion of the “Full Circulation” of 226,200,000 H Shares
5E/X 226,200,000 A& H AR [ 2 7% 388

= Emitasvir Phosphate Capsules approved to launch
B ORM ZRBRER A

= Recombinant Human Insulin Injection approved to launch

ERARESZEGRESE T
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HISTORY OF DEVELOPMENT
HRERE

= QOseltamivir Phosphate Capsule being the first drug variety to pass
the Consistency Evaluation
BMERARMEBRESZAE —BUEFNENME

=  New drug application of Emitasvir Phosphate was submitted and
has been accepted
BB FROR M Z R B - R S W IR

= Comprehensively roll out the “Full Circulation” reform of H Shares

EEMBHKI 208 E

= Inclusion in the Hong Kong Stock Connect List under the Shenzhen-
Hong Kong Stock Connect
BERANRBBTHERBRERE

= Became a constituent of the Hang Seng family of indexes
EFOUNEER - S0l S

= Being a subsidiary of A-share listed company, Guangdong HEC
PR AR BT A RIERRE 2 M B A A

= Oseltamivir Phosphate was listed as a drug recommended for
treatment for influenza by the Influenza Treatment Guidelines
(2018 Edition)
CRITHERE A RERM (2T —/\FhR)) T BB R Al 25| /R

= Started the cooperation with TaiGen Biopharmaceuticals on
Hepatitis C. combination therapy
HASRBERATBESBRERFAGE

= Obtained three approvals for the clinical trials for insulin product
3MEBRS REMBSRRLG

= Pharm HEC was awarded as the “Listed Enterprises of the Year
2016”
REXRIELE(ZZE—RFE LT EERE)

FEHE 2023 / EERGARIEXZRNERAF
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HISTORY OF DEVELOPMENT
LRIEIR

= Transformed into a joint stock limited company by means of
reorganization
BAENGHRBROBRRAT]

=  Established strategic cooperation relationship with our controlling
shareholder, and acquired the pre-emptive right to purchase
products developed by the research institute of the controlling

shareholder
BRIERR AR R R T BB S ERR - AR R T BTl i K
REEBEER

= Successfully listed on the Stock Exchange on 29 December 2015
“E-RAFT AT ABRBRAEREERRZ S

= Kewei product dominated the largest market share of Oseltamivir
Phosphate products in China
HRERGETEBRERRRMEERT SHANE

= The Company’s Kewei granule product was registered with the
China Food and Drug Administration and the Company became the
only manufacturer of Oseltamivir Phosphate Granule in China
AAARENAERRBERAREREERELEM  KATHE
Me—— R R A BN EER

= The Company was licensed to manufacture Oseltamivir Phosphate
products in China

W18 E B R T o B A

= The predecessor of the Company was established in Hubei Province
and formally entered into China’s pharmaceutical industry

RBIA S ML ERSY - ENEAPBEBEETE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the Board, | am hereby pleased to present the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
future prospects of 2024.

2023 REVIEW

In 2023, the pharmaceutical industry experienced unprecedented
changes and challenges. As the global population ages, the market
demand for chronic disease medications continued to grow.
Meanwhile, the recurring COVID-19 pandemic propelled the research
and development as well as the production of anti-infective drugs.
Against this backdrop, the focus of the pharmaceutical industry
shifted towards the research and development of innovative drugs.
In China, the policy environment for the pharmaceutical industry
continued to optimize. The government introduced a series of
policies related to the pharmaceutical industry, with a view to
promote industry innovation, ensure steady drug supply, and
maintain drug quality and safety standards. In particular, the
revision and implementation of the new version of the Medical
Reimbursement Drug List, along with the advancement of the
centralized drug procurement system, had a profound impact on the

pharmaceutical market.

Driven by these policies, significant progress were made in the
research and development of innovative drugs in China. With the
continuous development of biotechnology, the research and
development cycle of innovative drugs has been shortened, and their
efficacy has become more significant. This led to the approval and
launch of several groundbreaking innovative drugs, offering more

treatment options for patients.

Numerous pharmaceutical companies successfully developed
innovative drugs with independent intellectual property rights and
has achieved good sales performance in both domestic and
international markets. These drugs not only addressed the unmet
needs in the domestic market but also, to a certain degree, reduced

the dependence on foreign new drugs.

EERWMES
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
SSERWMEE

The outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic led to a surge in demand for
anti-infective drugs, prompting governments around the world to
further invest in the research and development of anti-infective
drugs. This has accelerated the launching of related drugs to the
market.

As global population aging intensified, the demand for chronic
disease drugs continued to grow, leading to an expansion of the
chraonic disease medication market. Number of patients with
diabetes, and other chronic diseases has been increasing year by
year, which catalyzes the growth of the chronic disease medication
market.

Looking forward, as the development direction of China’s
pharmaceutical industry is gradually shifting from generic drugs to
innovation drugs, drug innovation has become the core
competitiveness which supports the future development of
enterprises. In order to capture opportunities in the fierce
competition, pharmaceutical companies need to make continuous
efforts in various aspects including product R&D, refinement of
technical processing abilities, production and supply chain
management and sales management. Meanwhile, pharmaceutical
companies will have to be on top of market demands and trends of
the pharmaceutical industry, effectively captivate opportunities in
strategic targeted markets and consolidate its market position,
grasp initiative of industry competition, thereby garnering
sustainable development as its competitive edge.

The Company will continually increase its investment in drug R&D
and accelerate the transformation of drug R&D into clinical
applications in the therapeutic areas of anti-infective, endocrine and
metabolic diseases. In addition, the Company will continue to
strengthen its product R&D and innovation capabilities, constantly
introduce new products and enrich the existing product portfolio to
enhance the market competitiveness of its products.

The Company will also continue to optimize its scientific and
sustainable marketing strategy, strengthen academic promation and
drug promotion activities, further promote its core products in
graded hospitals and primary care markets, and strive to create a
highly recognized business image and well-respected reputation in
the domestic market, in order to lay a solid foundation for new
products to be rapidly launched in the market in the future.
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BB R EMFE SRR - FBBF
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BEREY -

RRRAGHEB MR ERFERA - INRAE
TURRE ~ MO W R R RS RN EY
T2 A B K e R VML - NERR T AE m
BEMETE D TEELHER @88
BWERMBS  HEREMNMEHRFN -

RARMBEBTERZ  AIFENT IS
HERE  MABWMHERERERERE
B E—IHERLERESRBRREE
BEEMS  2HITERATSERNE
%ﬁﬁ%*ﬂuu%m@ CRARARELEME
IS EE SRR E ST TEE R AR -

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

The Company has come to the ninth year since its listing on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. The Board has been upholding the governance
principles of “standardization, independence, rational structure and
high efficiency”, strictly complying with the Company Law of the
PRC, the Listing Rules and other laws and regulations and fully
discharging the duties conferred by the Articles of Association. All
decisions are strictly implemented in compliance with the
resolutions of the general meetings through standardized operation,
scientific decision-making and diligence so as to fully accomplish all
tasks. Meanwhile, the Board will constantly lead the management of
the Company to improve its governance level and strengthen the
Company’s management systems and internal control, striving to
become a highly competitive listed company in the domestic and
even the international market.

2023 was a year of remarkable results in the Company’s business
expansion in different aspects. During the Reporting Period, the
Company’s self-researched and developed product, Yigibuvir Tablets
(0.3g) (the “Yigibuvir Tablets”), has received the Notice of
Acceptance issued by the NMPA, and the new drug application of the
Product has been accepted. Meanwhile, the Mixed Protamine Human
Insulin Injection (30R) (the “Mixed Protamine Human Insulin
Injection”), independently researched and developed by the
Company, has undergone the assessment and approval process and
obtained approval for launch from the NMPA. The Mixed Protamine
Human Insulin Injection being successfully approved for launch will
be beneficial for the expansion of the Group’s business of treating
endocrine and metabolic diseases and further enrich the Group’s
product portfolio. In addition, in order to further enrich the product
line of the Group in the field of diabetes, the Group have acquired
multiple drugs for diabetes from Sunshine Lake Pharma, save for
Rongliflozin L-Pyroglutamic Acid, which is in course of applying for
new drug launching approval, and Liraglutide, which is under the
pending submission stage of new drug application, all drugs acquired
have been approved for launch. Such products are expected to be
launched soon and contribute significantly to our sales in the future,
which will further increase the integrated strengths of the Group

and improve the revenue structure of the Group.

EERWMES
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
SSERWMEE

In respect of the anti-infective area, the Group is dedicated to the
research and development of hepatitis C products with a holistic
business planning, In particular, the new drug application for
Emitasvir Phosphate, an innovative treatment for hepatitis C
genotype 1, has been approved for launch. Furthermaore, the new
drug launch application for Yigibuvir Tablets, a pan-genotypic
regimen, has been accepted by the China National Medical Products
Administration (the “NMPA”).

With the launch and promotion of more insulin products in the
future, the Company’s product line in the field of diabetes will

continue to be optimized and thus enhancing its reputation.

The Group has made breakthroughs in the field of generic drugs. 31
products out of 33 generic drugs acquired by the Group from
Sunshine Lake Pharma have been approved to launch by the NMPA.
With more products approved to launch, the Group’s product line
will cover more diverse therapeutic areas and its results will
continue to improve in the future.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking forward, as the development direction of China’s
pharmaceutical industry is gradually shifting from generic drugs to
innovation drugs, drug innovation has become the core
competitiveness which supports the future development of
enterprises. In order to capture opportunities in the fierce
competition, pharmaceutical companies need to make continuous
efforts in various aspects including product R&D, refinement of
technical processing abilities, production and supply chain
management and sales management. Meanwhile, pharmaceutical
companies will have to be on top of market demands and trends of
the pharmaceutical industry, effectively captivate opportunities in
strategic targeted markets and consolidate its market position,
grasp initiative of industry competition, thereby garnering
sustainable development as its competitive edge.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

The Company will continually increase its investment in drug R&D
and accelerate the transformation of drug R&D into clinical
applications in the therapeutic areas of anti-infective, endocrine and
metabolic diseases. In addition, the Company will continue to
strengthen its product R&D and innovation capabilities, constantly
introduce new products and enrich the existing product portfolio to
enhance the market competitiveness of its products.

The Company will also continue to optimize its scientific and
sustainable marketing strategy, strengthen academic promation and
drug promotion activities, further promote its core products in
graded hospitals and primary care markets, and strive to create a
highly recognized business image and well-respected reputation in
the domestic market, in order to lay a solid foundation for new
products to be rapidly launched in the market in the future.

We believe that under the leadership of the Board and the efforts of
all employees, the Company would become a benchmark
pharmaceutical enterprise in China and the world as well as a major
and influential brand in China’s pharmaceutical industry, through
formulating comprehensive development strategy and implementing

strict management system.
Once again, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to all

Shareholders, Board members, the management and all employees

and partners of the Company.

TANG Xinfa
Chairman

28 March 2024
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HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR
FREARFL

1

2.

3.

4.

5.
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Change of stock short name

Completion of the major and connected transaction in relation
to the disposal of target equity in Sunshine Lake Pharma

Completion of repurchase of the H share convertible bonds in
full

Application for launching of Yigibuvir Tablets being accepted

Mixed Protamine Human Insulin Injection (30R) approved to
launch

1.

728

3.

4.

5.
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1.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2023, the pharmaceutical industry experienced
unprecedented changes and challenges. As the global
population ages, the market demand for chronic disease
medications continued to grow. Meanwhile, the recurring
COVID-19 pandemic propelled the research and development
as well as the production of anti-infective drugs. Against this
backdrop, the focus of the pharmaceutical industry shifted
towards the research and development of innovative drugs. In
China, the policy environment for the pharmaceutical industry
continued to optimize. The government introduced a series of
policies related to the pharmaceutical industry, with a view to
promote industry innovation, ensure steady drug supply, and
maintain drug quality and safety standards. In particular, the
revision and implementation of the new version of the Medical
Reimbursement Drug List, along with the advancement of the
centralized drug procurement system, had a profound impact
on the pharmaceutical market.

Driven by these policies, significant progress were made in the
research and development of innovative drugs in China. With
the continuous development of biotechnology, the research
and development cycle of innovative drugs has been
shortened, and their efficacy has become mare significant.
This led to the approval and launch of several groundbreaking
innovative drugs, offering more treatment options for patients.

Numerous pharmaceutical companies successfully developed
innovative drugs with independent intellectual property rights
and has achieved good sales performance in both domestic
and international markets. These drugs not only addressed the
unmet needs in the domestic market but also, to a certain

degree, reduced the dependence on foreign new drugs.
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The outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic led to a surge in demand
for anti-infective drugs, prompting governments around the
world to further invest in the research and development of
anti-infective drugs. This has accelerated the launching of
related drugs to the market.

As global population aging intensified, the demand for chronic
disease drugs continued to grow, leading to an expansion of
the chronic disease medication market. Number of patients
with diabetes, and other chronic diseases has been increasing
year by year, which catalyzes the growth of the chronic
disease medication market.

The competition among pharmaceutical companies has
become increasingly fierce, shifting from solely price
competition to a comprehensive competition of overall
strengths, including aspects such as research and
development capabilities, production capacity, sales networks
and brand image. This competitive landscape has urged
pharmaceutical companies to transcend in order to meet the
evolving market demands.

In 2023, the internationalization process of innovative drug
industry in China also made significant progress. Various
pharmaceutical companies successfully launched their
independently developed innovative drugs in the international
market and gained global recognition. Meanwhile, Chinese
pharmaceutical companies actively participated in clinical
trials of various international centers, strengthening their

status in the international pharmaceutical field.

Looking forward, the pharmaceutical industry in China will
continue to maintain a strong development momentum. With
policy guidance and market demand as driving forces,
pharmaceutical enterprises will put more emphasis on product
innovation, research and development, expansion of
international markets and enhancement of their core
competitiveness. Meanwhile, with the continuous
advancement of technology and the deepening of cross-sector
collaboration, the pharmaceutical industry is poised for further

growth and a promising future.

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E STam T

%ﬁﬁf'iﬁ’\]iﬁ?‘ﬁ? MR EY™
FRAE - MRBRENMFH fﬁi 3
Rlﬂ(ﬁﬂﬂkﬁﬁ@”x*?%#ﬁﬁ?ﬁ
BA - S T IHBEEMARE EH o

MERHAOZRCERHME -
BRENTSBERTYER B
BT REA MRS R
RREMBEHREF LI £HT
BREDTB OB EEA -

P

NN
/e

i EIMBEFHE R B
RE-—WERRFERNTEHMLH
HAEBENBRE BREMESLEN £

ERE  HEBK mBEEREZ
1877 M - & & 5 5 A ?TETE@mT

N
u

o

—ECZF RERAFETENE
RIEERECRBTEREER - 2R
BRI AS B A B e 8RB
MERTS BETEERRA - F
B REECCEGS RS EHR
PLOBRRAR R THEERES
BILHIHAL

RERK HEBHETEHELER
FARYWBERLE - HEBKSIEM
MERKOESH T BELXREE
IETEERWAELF  BEER™MS
R UARZOBESFIONRTT -
[ B - B8 32 R % 6 Tl 2 A S R
BIERRAHEE - BEITEBER
00 FA BY 2% R Z= ) M0 BB 005K 4F Y
R -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERETHRAN

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES

As a company focusing on the development, production and

sales of anti-infective drugs, and chronic diseases drugs, we

are committed to aligning with latest industry trends. To this

end, we have formulated the following development

strategies:

@

2

A3)

4

Expand the anti-infective drug product portfolio: In light
of the growing market demand for anti-infective drugs,
we will actively develop new anti-infective drugs and
optimize the existing product mix, aiming to improve
product quality and market competitiveness.

Deepen the development of chronic disease medications:
With the global trend of population aging, we will focus
on strengthening the development of chronic disease
medications, with the objective of launching safer and
more effective treatment options for chronic diseases
such as diabetes.

Enhance industry cooperation and exchange: We will
actively engage in cooperation and exchanges with
industry renowned pharmaceutical companies and
research institutions to jointly promote the innovation
and development of the pharmaceutical industry. By
introducing advanced technologies and management
experience, we strive to enhance our comprehensive
capabilities and market competitiveness.

Improve marketing network: Based on market demand
and product characteristics, we will further enhance our
domestic marketing networks by strengthening brand
building and promotion efforts to enhance brand
recognition and reputation of our products. In addition,
we are keen on to expand our online sales channels,
thereby leveraging internet and big data technologies to
optimize marketing efficiency and customer experience.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm AN

5)

(6)

Strengthen the quality management system: Quality
remains as the cornerstone of an enterprise. Adhering
strictly to the national standards of Good Manufacture
Practice (GMP) of Drugs, we will develop and refine the
quality management system to ensure our product
quality remains at an industry-leading level. Through
strengthening internal quality control and implementing
external quality audits, we are dedicated to improving
our quality management level.

Promote green and sustainable development: Aligned
with the national environmental protection policies, we
will actively promote a strategy for green and
sustainable development. We will use environmentally
friendly materials and processes in production to reduce
energy consumption and waste emissions. Meanwhile,
we will strengthen environmental protection publicity
and training, aiming to raise our employees’ awareness
for and skills for environmental protection.

Il. BUSINESS REVIEW

1.

Summary of Overall Results

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s
revenue amounted to RMB6,294.59 million, representing
an increase of 68.08% as compared to the corresponding
period in 2022. Profit and total comprehensive income
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2023 was RMB1,992.62
million, representing an increase of 2,501.23% as
compared to that of RMB76.60 million for the year ended
31 December 2022. The increase was mainly due to the
continuous efforts of the Group in strengthening
academic promotion and brand building, brand
recognition of the core product, Kewei, has been further
enhanced, and all business pipelines have demonstrated
good performances. The overall business has shown a
trend of common development of multiple product lines.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In terms of specific performance, for the year ended 31
December 2023, revenue from Kewei (Oseltamivir
Phosphate Capsules and Granules), Ertongshu
(Benzbromarone Tablets), Oumeining (Telmisartan
Tablets), Linluoxing (Moxifloxacin Hydrochloride Tablets)
and Olmesartan Tablets, being the Company’s core
products, accounted for 87.53%, 1.51%, 1.24%, 0.71%
and 0.66% of the total revenue, respectively. At the same
time, as new pharmaceutical products are successively
approved for launch, they further enriched the Group’s
product portfolio and offer medical choices with both
high quality and fair price for patients.

(1) Anti-infective paediatrics business pipeline

represented by Kewei (Oseltamivir Phosphate)

In 2023, the Group was continued to commit to
academic promotion and brand building. In the in-
hospital market, the Group has been increasing the
activities in academic promotion to constantly
strengthen the influence of Kewei among doctors
and patients, especially paediatricians and parents.
In the out-of-hospital market, the Group has been
implementing the concept of brand building to
establish Kewei as the No. 1 brand of anti-influenza
drugs through active brand building and doctor-
patient education over the years and to
continuously enhance the brand recognition of
Kewei among patients. Riding on the huge potential
of the primary care market, secured by solid supply
chain and brand influence, Kewei is set to embrace

further market growth.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm AN

(2

3

Chronic disease business pipeline represented by

insulin

The Group’s chronic disease pipeline business
represented by insulin entered into a period of
rapid growth, which was fueled by the Group’s
continuous effort in strengthening its professional
promotion team, introduction of elite reputable
institutions, cultivating the primary care market
and exploring new patients markets as one of its
priorities. Currently, the Group has developed a
customer base comprising approximately 9,000
institutions, laying a solid foundation for faster

growth in the future.

New Drugs Represented by Emitasvir Phosphate

The Group’s new drugs business pipeline,
represented by Emitasvir Phosphate, has attained
a satisfactory business progress. The Action Plan
Against Public Health Hazards and Hepatitis C
(2021-2030) (CEBRREF X AR B ERLEZTH
T ¥ % (2021-20304F))) promulgated by nine
departments including the National Health
Commission in 2021 put forward an aim that,
within a period of 10 years, the clinical cure rate of
antiviral treatment for hepatitis C patients should
attain at least 95%, and the treatment rate of
chraonic hepatitis C should attain at least 80%. With
these goals in mind, the Group has conducted
targeted development and promoted the
establishment of diagnosis and treatment
protocols in Henan, Sichuan, Jiangsu and many
other provinces in the PRC, getting actively involved
in the elimination of Hepatitis C. At this stage,
Emitasvir Phosphate has been shortlisted in the

National Medical Reimbursement Drug List.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERETHRAN

Centralized Procurement and New Retail Channel

As of the date of this announcement, a total of 12
of the Group’s chemical generic drugs have been
selected for national centralized procurement, and
the centralized procurement business has become
a fast-growing segment of the Group. With the
gradual enrichment of the variety of Group’s
product profile, the Company also attached great
importance to the construction of the new retail
system. In 2023, the Group strives to develop its
pharmaceutical new retail product profile through
cooperating with parties including leading
corporates and sizeable pharmacy chains, so that
the growth of the out-of-hospital retail business
could be driven by in-hospital prescriptions
through the integration of online and offline sales
channels for pharmaceutical new retail. Currently,
the Group’s new retail system has matured and
formed a relatively stable business model.
Pharmaceutical new retail is a very broad market,
and the Company will continue to diversify its new
retail product line, expand the market channels for
pharmaceutical retail, and provide patients with
more medical choices that are of high quality and

at fair price.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEE R ST

2. R&D PROGRESS

The Group made outstanding R&D progress in the

therapeutic areas of endocrine and metabolic diseases
during 2023.

1.

Endocrine and metabolic diseases area

In the area of endocrine and metabolic diseases,
the Group is dedicated to the R&D of insulin
products and has a comprehensive product line
planning, which covers both the second and the

third generations of insulin.

The Group has a complete R&D system for insulin
series products established in accordance with
standards on biosimilar drugs adopted in Europe
and the United States, the quality of which can be
compared to innovated biological drugs. The
Recombinant Human Insulin Injection, Insulin
Glargine Injection, Insulin Aspart Injection, Insulin
Aspart 30 Injection and the Mixed Protamine
Human Insulin Injection developed by the Group
were approved for launching, and the results of
clinical trials show that the statistics of those
injection are highly consistent in terms of efficacy,
safety and stability when compared with innovated
biological drugs. The Group also has a
comprehensive product line, covering the second
and third generations of insulin, that meets the
clinical medication needs of doctors and patients.
Moreover, the product line adopts a yeast
expression system which is advanced in technology
and easy for large scale production.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In addition, in order to further enrich the product
line of the Group in the field of diabetes, the Group
have acquired multiple drugs for diabetes from
Sunshine Lake Pharma, save for Rongliflozin
L-Pyroglutamic Acid, which is in course of applying
for new drug launching approval, and Liraglutide,
which is under the pending submission stage of
new drug application, all drugs acquired have been
approved for launch. Such products are expected
to be launched soon and contribute significantly to
our sales in the future, which will further increase

the integrated strengths of the Group and improve

the revenue structure of the Group.
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Rongliflozin L-Pyroglutamic Acid 197,110.94 - 197,110.94 3.13% 15.06%
ERRBRIRIF

Liraglutide 6,280.64 - 6,280.64 0.10% 0.48%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm AN

Anti-infective area

In respect of the anti-infective area, the Group is
dedicated to the research and development of
hepatitis C products with a holistic business
planning. In particular, the new drug application
for Emitasvir Phosphate, an innovative treatment
for hepatitis C genotype 1, has been approved for
launch. Furthermore, the new drug launch
application for Yigibuvir Tablets, a pan-genotypic
regimen, has been accepted by the NMPA.

Sales Performance Review

During the Reporting Period, the sales of the
Group’s core products are as follows:

. The revenue of Kewei (Oseltamivir Phosphate)
Granules amounted to RMB4,824.59 million,
accounting for 76.65% of the total revenue;

o The revenue of Kewei (Oseltamivir Phosphate)
Capsules amounted to RMB684.91 million,
accounting for 10.88% of the total revenue;

o The revenue of Ertongshu (Benzbromarone
Tablets) amounted to RMB94.97 million,
accounting for 1.51% of the total revenue;

. The revenue of Oumeining (Telmisartan
Tablets) amounted to RMB77.98 million,
accounting for 1.24% of the total revenue;

. The revenue of Linluoxing (Moxifloxacin
Hydrochloride Tablets) amounted to
RMB44.97 million, accounting for 0.71% of
the total revenue; and
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o The revenue of Olmesartan Tablets amounted
to RMB41.62 million, accounting for 0.66% of
the total revenue.

The total revenue of the Group’s above-mentioned
six core products accounted for 91.65% of the total
revenue of the Group during the Reporting Period.

Kewei, the Company’s core product, is the first-line
drug for treatment of influenza in the PRC, which
can be used in the treatment and prevention of
Influenza A and Influenza B and is listed in the
Influenza Treatment Guidance (2020 version) (&
1T RS 2 B 5 %2 (2020 % hR ))) and the National
Drug List for Basic Medical Insurance, Work-
Related Injury Insurance and Maternity Insurance
(2023 Version) KBEI R EABZE R - TEHERRM
EERBEE R B 82 (2023 F))).

During the Reporting Period, the Group adjusted
the division of labour of the sales teams in
accordance with the market demand, i.e. a self-
operated sales team responsible for the academic
promotion of core drugs in graded hospitals and
primary medical institutions, a new retail sales
team responsible for all drugs in chain pharmacies,
non-bidding markets and online hospitals, and a
centralized sales team responsible for centralized
procurement of drugs by the PRC government.
During the Reporting Period, the Company has
started to expand its online pharmacy channel and
cooperated with a number of well-known online
channel operators. As of 31 December 2023, the
Group has a total of 1,788 staff in its sales teams.
The establishment and development of these
multi-channel sales teams shall lay a solid
foundation to the sales volume of the Group’s

product portfolio in all sales channels.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Production Review

The Group’s Hubei Yidu production base is the
production base for a full range of insulin products
and the world’s largest production base for
oseltamivir phosphate. Our preparation factory in
Hubei Yidu production base produces oral solid
preparations and freeze-dried powder injections,
which are mainly supplied to the domestic market.
It has passed the GMP certification in the PRC, and
its dosage forms include tablets, capsules,
granules, dry suspension and freeze-dried powder
injections, making it the world’s largest oseltamivir

phosphate preparation production base.

The Group is the largest supplier of oseltamivir
phaosphate, providing a reliable supply of national
reserve drugs. Over the years, we have
demonstrated strong production capacity and high
standards in response to influenza pandemic. We
have advanced facilities and strict production
standards, and comply with GMP and other quality
management systems. Our experienced team is
capable of quickly adjusting production plans to
ensure the continuity and stability of drug supply.
We are committed to providing a reliable guarantee

for the national drug reserve.

The Group adheres to the belief of “For Everyone’s
Health” and strives to provide high quality medicine
to patients. With this belief in mind, the Group
enhances its production system constantly,
strengthens its supervision on the production
process and improves the quality of products and

services continuously.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

At the same time, the Group is concerned about
production safety and environmental protection. In
respect of production safety, to ensure no
occurrence of any material safety incidents, the
Group has implemented safety education,
strengthened safety risk management and
promoted the establishment of safety standards.
In respect of environmental protection, the Group
takes environmental protection as its mission and
adheres to green production. Specific measures
were taken to deal with various pollutants
generated during the production process so as to
achieve the recycle of resources and environmental

protection at the same time.

OPERATING RESULTS AND ANALYSIS

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
recorded revenue of RMB6,294.59 million, representing
an increase of 68.08% as compared to the corresponding
period of 2022. During the Reporting Period, the sales
volume of the Group’s core product, Kewei (Oseltamivir
Phosphate Capsules and Granules), amounted to
RMB5,509.50 million, representing an increase of 78.15%
as compared to the corresponding period of last year.
The increase in sales volume of Kewei was mainly
attributed to the gradually normalized footfall and daily
sacial activities as well as the good recovery momentum
in flow of people, the number of diagnaosis and treatment
activities and the volume of drug prescriptions in
frontline medical institutions in 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The table below sets forth the revenue of the Group by TREINAEES AEEEERK
therapeutic areas as a percentage of total revenue. HERANGEEEBNADLIBER -
Year ended 31 December Change
HEt-A=1-PLEE compared
2023 2022 with last year
t 2 —ToCF El:4 214
(RMB’000) % (RMB’000) % (%)
(AR¥Fr) % (ARETT) % %)
Anti-viral drugs 5,580,477 88.66% 3,116,059 83.21% 79.09%
RSB
— Kewei (Oseltamivir Phosphate) Granules 4,824,592 76.65% 2,585,151 69.03% 86.63%
A (Bl R A ) Bh
— Kewei (Oseltamivir Phosphate) Capsules 684,911 10.88% 507,554 13.55% 34.94%
g (BERAMNE) BE
Endocrine and metabolic drugs 164,174 2.61% 113,497 3.03% 44.65%
A0 RRHEED
Anti-infective drugs 106,919 1.70% 87,190 2.33% 22.63%
MR B
Cardiovascular and cerebrovascular drugs 184,117 2.92% 150,114 4.01% 22.65%
DENEEY
Others 258,898 4.11% 278,092 7.42% -6.90%
Hith
Total 6,294,585 100% 3,744,952 100% 68.08%
CH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales consists of (i) cost of raw
materials, primarily including cost of active
pharmaceutical ingredient (API), ancillary materials and
packaging materials; (ii) labour cost, primarily including
salaries and benefits of our staff directly involved in
manufacturing of our products; (iii) manufacturing cost,
primarily including depreciation of machinery, equipment
and plant and cost of labour protection materials, fuel,
machine oil and maintenance; and (iv) patent fees paid
to third parties in relation to various patents and

licences.

The Group’s cost of sales increased by 45.61% to
RMB1,308.82 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 from RMB898.88 million for the year ended 31
December 2022, which was mainly due to the increase in
sales valume of the Group’s core product Kewei during
the Reporting Period.

Gross Profit

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s gross
profit was RMB4,985.76 million, representing an increase
of 75.18% as compared with RMB2,846.07 million for
the year ended 31 December 2022. It was mainly due to
the increase in sales volume of the Group’s core product
Kewei during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Other Net Losses

Other net losses/income of the Group mainly included (1)
government subsidies; (2) interest income; (3) net
foreign exchange loss; (4) fair value change on
convertible bonds embedded in conversion option; (5)
impairment loss on intangible assets and goodwill; and

(6) other miscellaneous gains and losses.

Far the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s other
net losses were RMB499.80 million, representing a
decrease of RMB344.53 million as compared to other net
losses of RMB844.33 million for the year ended 31
December 2022, which was due to the decrease in fair
value change and exchange loss arising from convertible
bonds, and partially offset by the increase in impairment

losses on intangible assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Expenses Analysis

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s total
expenses amounted to RMB2,359.16 million,
representing an increase of 20.22% as compared to
RMB1,962.31 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. The main components of the Group’s expenses are
as follows:

ERETHRAN

BRDH
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Year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t+—-HLEE

Change
compared

2023 2022 to last year
—E-=F —F-= El:4-£(4
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (%)
(AREF ) (ANR®FIT) (%)
Distribution costs Gz |D %N 1,547,150 1,216,590 27.17%
Administrative expenses THERMS 385,702 338,452 13.96%
Research and development A3 pK & 192,287 129,614 48.35%
cost
Recognition/(reversal) of BR/ (B ES K 6,627 (3,995) -265.88%
impairment loss on trade  E b B UFKIE
and other receivables REEE
Finance costs BEKA 227,398 281,646 -19.26%
2,359,164 1,962,307 20.22%

Distribution costs mainly consist of (1) marketing
expenses relating to conducting academic promotion
activities and other marketing activities; (2) travelling
expenses for marketing purposes; (3) labour cost; and (4)
other expenses. The increase in distribution costs was
mainly due to (i) the corresponding increase in marketing
costs driven by increase in sales of the Group’s products;
and (ii) an increase in marketing expenses and travelling
expenses relating to the organization of academic
promotion activities and other marketing activities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Administrative expenses mainly consist of (1) salary and
welfare benefits for the management and administrative
personnel; (2) depreciation and amortization costs
relating to our office facilities and land use rights; and (3)
other miscellaneous expenses. The increase in
administrative costs was mainly due to the increase in
tax surcharges resulting from the sales increase in 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s total
investment in R&D amounted to RMB397.20 million,
representing 6.31% of the revenue and an increase of
99.36% as compared to the corresponding period of last
year, amang which expenses recognised in profit or loss
were RMB192.29 million and capitalized expenditures
were RMB204.91 million.

Finance costs mainly consist of interest expense for bank
loans and other borrowings and convertible bonds.

Profit Before Taxation

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s profit
before taxation amounted to RMB2,126.77 million in
total, representing an increase of RMB2,087.35 million
as compared to the profit before taxation of RMB39.42
million for the year ended 31 December 2022, which was
mainly due to the increase in sales volume of core
product Kewei.

Income Tax

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the income tax
expenses of the Group amounted to RMB270.95 million,
as compared to the income tax credit of RMB9.82 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022, mainly due to the
increase in the Group’s profit before taxation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Profit for the Reporting Period

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
recorded a net profit amounted to RMB1,855.83 million,
representing an increase of RMB1,806.59 million as
compared to the net profit of RMB49.24 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly due to

the increase in sales volume of core product Kewei.

Profit and Total Comprehensive Income attributable to
Equity Shareholders of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2023, profit and total
comprehensive income attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company was RMB1,992.62 million,
representing an increase of 2,501.23% as compared to
profit and total comprehensive income attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company of RMB76.60 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly
due to the gradually normalized footfall and daily social
activities as well as the good recovery momentum in
flow of people, the number of diagnosis and treatment
activities and the volume of drug prescriptions in
frontline medical institutions in 2023, resulting in a
significant recovery of the sales and a substantial
increase in sales volume of Kewei, the core product of
the Group.
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IV. FINANCIAL POSITION IV. BI#ARR

1. Overview 1.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total assets
amounted to RMB12,744.33 million, with liabilities of
RMB4,808.82 million and shareholders’ equity of
RMB7,935.51 million.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s capital is derived
from sales of product and are used in production
workshop construction, distribution and administrative
management etc. The management has clear goals and
records in budget, financial and operating performance,
and actively monitors them and regularly evaluates
internal control measures.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Net Current Assets

The following table sets forth our current assets, current

liabilities and net current assets for the date indicated.

ERETHRAN

FBEEFE
TRBFBIRFR B BT
BEE RPAARADEE
FE -

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2023 2022
—EB=-= B F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 78 409,050 315,027
Trade and other receivables B 5 M E I FRIE 2,112,798 1,036,916
Prepayments T FRIE 270,809 59,433
Financial assets measured BRAARBEFAEEEZY
at fair value through profit or loss FFABEMEREE
(“FVPL”) 18,686 290,000
Non-current assets held for sale BIEHECIERDEE - 2,312,320
Restricted cash XEREIR 2 1,567,300 76,781
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEER 1,674,413 923,543
Total current assets REEERRE 6,053,056 5,014,020
Current liabilities nEEE
Trade and other payables E 5 R E M EA A 1,755,352 1,718,222
Contract liabilities aRAE 101,448 75,386
Bank loans and other borrowings IRITER R EAMER 2,319,518 223,343
Interest-bearing borrowings STEMER - 2,906,963
Lease liabilities HEBE 359 -
Deferred income IR E W = 8,195 8,195
Financial liabilities measured BEARBEFEBHES
at FVPL ARG EREBE 1,139 -
Current taxation BN EAT 1R 146,209 8,672
Total current liabilities BREBEE 4,332,220 4,940,781
Net current assets ERBEE 1,720,836 73,239
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group recorded the total
current assets of RMB6,053.06 million, as compared to
RMB5,014.02 million as at 31 December 2022. During
the Reporting Period, the current assets increased due to
the increase in trade receivables derived from the sales
of Kewei.

Intangible Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s intangible assets
was RMB2,565.63 million, representing a decrease of
RMB355.02 million as compared to RMB2,920.65 million
as at 31 December 2022. The decrease in intangible
assets was mainly due to the amortization and
impairment loss was recognised for some generic drugs
and Hepatitis C drugs.

Gearing Ratio and Quick Ratio

Gearing ratio represents total interest-bearing
borrowings as at a record date divided by total
shareholders’ equity as at the same record date. Quick
ratio represents current assets excluding inventories as
at a record date divided by current liabilities as at the
same record date.

The gearing ratio and the quick ratio of the Group as at
31 December 2023 were 32.86% and 1.30 times,
respectively. The gearing ratio and the quick ratio of the
Group as at 31 December 2022 were 62.96% and 0.95
times, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Bank Loans and other borrowings

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s loans balance
included RMB2,419.44 million of bank loan and
RMB188.37 million of obligation arising from sales and
lease back transactions, representing an increase of
RMB1,692.94 million as compared to RMB914.87 million
as at 31 December 2022. The Group is in good liquidity
position with sufficient funding and has no repayment
risk. The Group’s bank loans were denominated in RMB
and USD as at 31 December 2023.

Foreign Currency Exposure

The Group mainly operates in the PRC and the exposure
in exchange rate risks mainly arises from fluctuations in
the Renminbi exchange rates. However, some of the
interest-bearing borrowings of the Group were
denominated in US Dollars. During the Reporting Period,
the Group had a net foreign exchange loss of RMB34.4
million as compared to a net foreign exchange loss of
RMB241.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.
The amounts mainly represent foreign exchange loss
arising from the translation of interest-bearing
borrowings and bank loans which was denominated in
US Dollars in 2023 and 2022.

The Group, after reviewing its exposure for the time
being, did not enter into any derivative contracts aimed
at minimising exchange rate risks during the year.
However, management will monitor foreign currency
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign

currency exposure if necessary.

ERETHRAN

RITER R H M5

BeE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—
A AEEEMEROERR
HERBETERARE
2,41944 B8 Tk EEMEEE
EMEMTARK188.37E &
T BR_ZEZ_F+=A
=+ —HHAR®KI1487E 8
TTEMAR®K1,692.9485 8
T AEENTBESKAR
FoEcRmAYTEEER
R oM T =ZF+ = A
=+—H AEEMRITER
AR REITFHE -

S EL B

AEEHFELEMR AT
B - H A E KRR E B R
BARBEERLEE - A
REB DT BBEAETE
B -HBERBE-_ZT==

+T_A=+-—HLFEERE
BEREHEAARE 241458
REBRFEHANNERER
FHEAARBIMLIFET &
CHIEAMEN_T_=F
—E - FUETFHEMNGT
BREERBRITERELENER
E518 -

RS S AT AR KFE
% AEBEBFALEARREE
RRERMmEIZEMNTETES
WeRm ERERTYEE
HNEERVBR - 4 BEF S E B Y
BARINERS ©

FERE 2023 / EERG AR TIEERMNER AR

39



40

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Capital Expenditure

In order to meet the production demand for our
products, the Group’s aggregate capital expenditure for
construction of plants and buildings, purchasing
administration offices, machines and equipment,
investment in the capitalised expenditure of
development cost and acquired the ownership of
approvals for purchasing, manufacturing and launching
certain pharmaceutical products as at 31 December
2023 amounted to RMB595.08 million.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities,
litigation or arbitration of material importance as at 31
December 2023.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2023, land use rights held for own
use amounting to RMB254.04 million (2022: RMB159.32
million), fixed assets held for own use amounting to
RMB995.06 million (2022: RMB930.77 million),
construction in progress amounting to RMB117.95
million (2022: RMB409.08 million), bill receivables
amounting to RMB19.51 million (2022: RMB10.67
million) and restricted cash amounting to RMB1,545.24
million (2022: nil) held by the Group were pledged for

bank loans and other borrowings.
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10.

11.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
S REEE

Material Acquisitions and Disposals 10.

Far the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not

have any material acquisitions or disposals.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets 11.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not
have any immediate plan for material investments or

acquisition of material capital assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm AN

@

12. Employee and Remuneration Policies 12. EERFMBE
Human Resource Summary (1) AHDEREBR
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of NRZEZ_=%5+_A#
4,618 employees. The staff costs, including =t+—H AEEH#XEH
Directors’ emoluments but excluding any BE46I8A - HEZZT
contributions to pension scheme, were =+ A=+—H
approximately RMB714.30 million for the year FFEE - BIKAKA (B
ended 31 December 2023. EEMe BETREAR
AERARSFEIHF) LR
AR¥ET71430B8 T -

by age: RFEREERD

Number Percentage
Age Distribution FieD M AE Batt
30 or below 305k AT 1,336 28.93%
31-50 (inclusive) 31-50% (&) 3,177 68.80%
Above 50 50 5% A & 105 2.27%
Total &ast 4,618 100%
by education: REREED

Number Percentage
Education Level XALRE N Batt
Master or above (AP 108 2.34%
Bachelor E 1,586 34.34%
Associate RE 1,482 32.09%
Vocational or below HERIAT 1,442 31.23%
Total &t 4,618 100%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E STam T

Remuneration Policy

The objective of the Group’s remuneration policy is
to motivate and retain talented employees to
ensure the Group’s sustainable development. Such
policy is determined by taking into consideration of
factors such as remuneration in respect of the
overall remuneration standard in the industry and
employee motivation. The management of the
Company will review the remuneration policy of
employees of the Group on a regular basis.

Employee Benefits

The Group strictly complies with the Labour Law of
the People’s Republic of China ({1 % A R £ #1
24%)),%)), the Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China ((FFZE AR KX FIBI & 8) & FE))
and the Social Insurance Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({2 A R £ A B & RERE)),
under which it contributes various social insurance
premiums and housing provident fund for
employees. In addition to the statutory
requirements of the PRC, the Group has established
corresponding systems such as the Corporate
Annuity Plan, Housing Welfare and Children’s
Welfare, and set up public welfare facilities such as
kindergarten and infirmary room. In the future, the
Group will provide employees with mare benefits
and protections in accordance with its
development progress.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEE R ST

(4

Gender Diversity Policy and Future Plans

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the number
of male and female employees of the Group was
2,442 and 2,176, respectively. In order to achieve
gender diversity, the Company strictly complies
with laws and regulations including the Labour
Law of the PRC and the Labour Contract Law of the
PRC, and has formulated the Equal Employment
system to review the relevant information of male
and female candidates based on the same
standards and requirements in the recruitment
process. In terms of talent promotion and senior
management election, the Company has always
adhered to the principles of openness, fairness and
impartiality in the selection of male and female
employees. The content of the assessment is based
on uniform standards to ensure that male and
female employees have the same opportunities to
be promoted to the Company’s management.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In the future, the Company will further increase
the proportion of female employees, especially the
gender ratio of female employees among senior
management. In order to better implement gender
diversity, the Company will assist female senior
managers in developing their careers, provide
guarantees for female career development in terms
of performance appraisal, talent training and other
policies, encourage the Board to promote and
recruit female employees, and carry out
professional training for female employees. In
addition, the Company will systematically guide
and encourage capable female to join the
Company’s management and increase the
proportion of female employees in the

ERETHRAN

AEK > KRB HE—F
RALEE THLLH -
FRARXMETITHESR
EEABRHERILL ] o
BTEHWEEMRZ
JTit AR E B K
HEREBAEREL
ERR - HRAMEZ - A
ARBSHRITEARK
MR B B RIRHREE -
NEEEFGRK EE
ZEBITHMA AR
THEBTWHEREEI -
1A NI R S
5| E M 5 BB E B A

management. N ZEIMARRRE
BE RBAZHEEIR
ERERLLHI -
Number Percentage
By Gender % 5l &l 5 A Aokt
Number of Male Staff EMEIH 2,442 52.88%
Number of Female Staff ZIEBTE 2,176 47.12%

Note: The above breakdown includes senior management.
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V. OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

Repurchase of the H Share Convertible Bonds

The Company entered into a bond purchase agreement
with the bondholders (the “Sellers”) of the
US$400,000,000 3.0% H Share convertible bonds issued
by the Company (the “Bonds”) on 13 January 2023,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase
certain Bonds (1) in the aggregate principal amount of
US$28,911,534 from the Sellers at the total purchase
price of US$40,000,000 on or before 31 January 2023
(the “First Tranche of Repurchased Bonds”); and (2) in
the aggregate principal amount of US$43,118,778 from
the Sellers at the total purchase price of US$60,000,000
on or before 28 February 2023 (the “Second Tranche of
Repurchased Bonds”). The total purchase price was
determined after arm’s length negotiation between the
Company and the Sellers.

On 27 February 2023, the Company further entered into
a supplemental agreement with the Sellers in respect of
the Second Tranche of Repurchased Bonds (the
“Supplemental Agreement”), under which both parties
agreed to revise the date of repurchase of part of the
Second Tranche of Repurchased Bonds. Pursuant to the
Supplemental Agreement, the Company agreed to
complete the repurchase of the Second Tranche of
Repurchased Bonds from the Sellers on or before 15
March 2023. The total purchase price for the Second
Tranche of Repurchased Bonds remained unchanged at
US$60,000,000.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm AN

V.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 9 March 2023, the Company entered into the third
bond purchase agreement with the Sellers, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to (i) purchase a portion of
bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
US$38,547,623 from the Sellers at the total purchase
price of US$54,075,477 on or before 3 April 2023; and (ii)
purchase a portion of bonds in the aggregate principal
amount of US$194,161,057 from the Sellers at the total
purchase price of $278,191,332 on or before 30 June
2023 (the “Third Partial Repurchase of Bonds”). The
total purchase price of the Third Partial Repurchase
Bonds was determined after arm’s length negotiation
between the Company and the Sellers.

On 30 June 2023, the Company and the Sellers further
entered into a supplemental agreement to the third bond
purchase agreement (the “Further Supplemental
Agreement”) in respect of the Second Tranche of
Repurchased Bonds, under which both parties agreed to
change the aggregate purchase price of the Second
Tranche of Repurchased Bonds from US$278,191,332 to
US$263,191,332, and to complete the repurchase of the
Second Tranche of Repurchased Bonds on or before 5
July 2023.

On 5 July 2023, the Company completed the repurchase
under the Further Supplemental Agreement. Upon
completion, the principal of the bonds has been fully
repurchased, and the Sellers will no longer have any
interests in the bonds and/or any rights arising
therefrom.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 13 January 2023, 27 February 2023, 9 March
2023, 30 June 2023 and 5 July 2023 for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm AN

Continuing Connected Transactions

On 10 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial Development Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen HEC
Industrial”) entered into the Leasing and Other Services
Framework Agreement, pursuant to which Shenzhen HEC
Industrial will provide leasing of office buildings,
warehouse, inspection and testing services, conference
accommodation and other services to the Company
during the three years ending 31 December 2025. The
proposed annual caps under the Leasing and Other
Services Framework Agreement for the three years
ending 31 December 2025 are RMB12,383,300,
RMB12,999,500 and RMB13,003,300, respectively.

On 10 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the APIs and Pharmaceutical
Products Sales Framework Agreement, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to sell APIs such as
Esomeprazole Magnesium, Oseltamivir Phosphate,
Olanzapine, Entacapone and Febuxostat to Shenzhen HEC
Industrial during the three years ending 31 December
2025. The proposed annual caps under the APIs and
Pharmaceutical Products Sales Framework Agreement
for each of three years ending 31 December 2025 are
RMB18,000,000, RMB20,000,000 and RMB22,000,000,

respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 27 February 2023:

@

2

the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial entered
into the Energy Purchase Framework Agreement,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase
electricity and steam power required for its
production from Shenzhen HEC Industrial during
the three years ending 31 December 2025. The
proposed annual caps under the Energy Purchase
Framework Agreement for each of the three years
ending 31 December 2025 are RMB50,400,000,
RMB56,750,000 and RMB56,750,000, respectively.

the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial entered
into the APIs Purchase Agreement, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to purchase certain
APls such as Aripiprazole, Rivaroxaban,
Escitalopram Oxalate, Clarithromycin from
Shenzhen HEC Industrial during the three years
ending 31 December 2025. The proposed annual
caps under the APIs Purchase Agreement for each
of the three years ending 31 December 2025 are
RMB38,946,300, RMB53,786,800 and
RMB75,442,100, respectively.

B EFm AT

RZEBE-_=F—_A—-++H:

(1) ARAREFIRBERE
EFTUBRERBIESED
& B ARBIRER
REBEE-_ZT_AF+=
AZ+—BUEZ@EAFE
BRI R E X
EHAEEMEENRE
o BRI ERHE
BIHZ-_ZEZ_-_AF
+—A=+—HIL=1
FESFHNEBEFE L
R 5 5l A AR
50,400,000 - AR
56,750,000t X A R
56,750,000 7T °

(2) ARREFRIEBLE
AT R R IR
ﬁm'ﬁﬂﬂﬁ%%@
E_ET_RAF+ A
;+—a¢:m¢§%
FRRINEG X EEE
B 7 RM - FEODTE
ERVAIARER - *
NEXRFETEREME-
JRB SR BB 1 s 18 T &R
EZT_RFE+ A
S+ BLE=ZEAFES
FHREZRFE LRSI
A AR 38,946,300 7T
AR #53,786,800 7T &
ANER#575,442,100 7T °

FERE 2023 / EERG AR TIEERMNER AR

49



50

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RE RN

3

4

the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial entered
into the Packaging and Production Materials
Purchase Framework Agreement, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to purchase packaging
materials for packaging and production of the
drugs manufactured by the Group from Shenzhen
HEC Industrial during the three years ending 31
December 2025. The proposed annual caps under
the Packaging and Production Materials Purchase
Framework Agreement for each of the three years
ending 31 December 2025 are RMB40,600,000,
RMB40,600,000 and RMB40,600,000, respectively.

the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial entered
into the Equipment Purchase and Civil Construction
Framework Agreement, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to purchase certain equipment
and civil construction services from Shenzhen HEC
Industrial during the three years ending 31
December 2025. The proposed annual caps under
the Equipment Purchase and Civil Construction
Framework Agreement for each of the three years
ending 31 December 2025 are RMB27,050,000,
RMB7,900,000 and RMB7,900,000, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERETHRAN

the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial entered
into the Entrusted Processing Framework
Agreement, pursuant to which the Company agreed
to purchase processing services for its certain
pharmaceutical products, including Olmesartan
Tablets, Moxifloxacin Tablets, Clarithromycin
Tablets, Aripiprazole Tablets, Levofloxacin Tablets,
Rivaroxaban Tablets, Duloxetine Enteric-coated
Capsules, Escitalopram Oxalate Tablets, Xadiafil
Tablets, Aripiprazole Orally Disintegrating Tablets,
Entacapone Tablets, Rongliflozin and other APIs
from Shenzhen HEC Industrial during the three
years ending 31 December 2025. The proposed
annual caps under the Entrusted Processing
Framework Agreement for each of the three years
ending 31 December 2025 are RMBS4,805,500,
RMB108,832,000 and RMB139,468,200,
respectively.

the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial entered
into the Equipment Sales Framework Agreement,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell
specific pharmaceutical production equipment
(including Glatter fluidized bed), quality inspection
equipment and other equipment to Shenzhen HEC
Industrial. The proposed annual cap under the
Equipment Sales Framework Agreement for the
year ended 31 December 2023 is RMB30,496,500.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm AN

(7)  the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial entered
into the Entrusted Production and Inspection
Services Framework Agreement, pursuant to which
the Company agreed to provide production and
inspection services to Shenzhen HEC Industrial
during the three years ending 31 December 2025.
The scope of the entrusted production and
inspection services includes provision of
production, inspection and testing services to Dong
An Tai, Dong An Qiang, Dong An Rui, Dong Tong
Shen, other generic drugs, other new drugs, insulin
degludec/insulin aspart, insulin degludec/
liraglutide injection and intermediates of generic
drugs. The proposed annual caps under the
Entrusted Production and Inspection Services
Framework Agreement for each of the three years
ending 31 December 2025 are RMB105,230,000,
RMB68,992,000 and RMB49,250,000, respectively.

The abovementioned (1) Energy Purchase Framewaork
Agreement, (2) APIs Purchase Agreement, (3) Packaging
and Production Materials Purchase Framewaork
Agreement, (4) Equipment Purchase and Civil
Construction Framework Agreement, (5) Entrusted
Processing Framework Agreement, (6) Equipment Sales
Framewaork Agreement and (7) Entrusted Production and
Inspection Services Framework Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder (including the
respective annual caps) have been approved by the
independent Shareholders at the annual general meeting
of the Company for the year of 2022 held on 2 June
2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 29 November 2023, the Company and Sunshine Lake
Pharma entered into a drug R&D pipeline cooperation
project framework agreement in relation to the proposed
cooperation between the Company and Sunshine Lake
Pharma on the R&D and commercialization of the
undergoing and future R&D pipeline cooperation projects
of Sunshine Lake Pharma in the PRC (the “Framework
Agreement”). Pursuant to the Framework Agreement,
the Company and Sunshine Lake Pharma agreed to
cooperate in a series of drug R&D projects to jointly carry
out the R&D of (i) 17 innovative drugs; and (ii) small
molecule generic drug (“small molecule generic drug”)
pipeline projects (tentatively 20 drugs) (the “R&D
pipeline cooperation projects”) in China. Sunshine Lake
Pharma will formulate the R&D plan and be solely
responsible for the R&D of the R&D pipeline cooperation
projects. The Company will provide financial support
solely for the clinical stage R&D expenses incurred by
Sunshine Lake Pharma in the R&D pipeline cooperation
projects (the “R&D pipeline cooperation expenses”).
Pursuant to the Framework Agreement, the Company
will provide maximum investment amount of R&D
pipeline cooperation expenses for (i) innovative drugs of
RMB150,000,000, RMB400,000,000, RMB400,000,000
and RMB250,000,000; and (ii) small molecule generic
drugs of RMB25,000,000, RMB40,000,000,
RMB40,000,000 and RMB10,000,000, for each of the
period from the effective date to 31 December 2023, the
two years ending 31 December 2024 and 2025, and the
period from 1 January 2026 to the expiry date of the
term of the Framework Agreement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The above annual caps of the continuing connected
transactions contemplated under the Framework
Agreement were approved by the independent
Shareholders at the third extraordinary general meeting
for the year of 2023 held on 27 December 2023 (the
“Third EGM”).

Please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 10 February 2023, 27 February 2023, 2 June
2023, 29 November 2023 and 27 December 2023 and
the circulars of the Company dated 17 May 2023 and 7
December 2023 for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE S M

Revision of Annual Caps of Continuing Connected

Transactions

On 30 October 2023, the Board proposed to revise the

annual caps for certain continuing connected

transactions entered into with Shenzhen HEC Industrial

as follows:

@

It is expected that the Group’s demand for energy
will be higher in the fourth quarter of 2023 in light
of the historical energy consumption pattern with
higher demand for electricity in winter, and the
fact that the insulin factory of the Group has
commenced production. Accordingly, to satisfy the
Group’s energy demand for the year ended 31
December 2023, the Board proposed an upward
adjustment of RMB940,000 for the annual cap
under the Energy Purchase Framework Agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Hence, the
revised annual cap under the Energy Purchase
Framework Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2023 was RMB51,340,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RE RN

(2

As of 30 September 2023, the transaction amount
under the APIs Purchase Agreement amounted to
approximately RMB23,358,000, representing
approximately 75.4% of the original annual cap for
the year ended 31 December 2023 with only
approximately one-fourth of the original annual
cap available for the Group’s drug production in the
fourth quarter of 2023, and it is expected to be
insufficient to meet the production demand of the
Group in the fourth quarter of 2023. Therefore, in
order to satisfy the Group’s production needs for
the fourth quarter of 2023, the Board proposed an
upward adjustment of RMB18,411,800 for the
annual cap under the APIs Purchase Agreement for
the year ended 31 December 2023. Hence, the
revised annual cap under the APIs Purchase
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023
was RMB57,358,100.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERETHRAN

As of 30 September 2023, the transaction amount
under the Packaging and Production Materials
Purchase Framework Agreement amounted to
approximately RMB30,520,000, representing
approximately 75.2% of the original annual cap for
the year ended 31 December 2023 with only
approximately one-fourth of the original annual
cap available for the Group’s drug production in the
fourth quarter of 2023, and it is expected to be
insufficient to meet the production demand of the
Group in the fourth quarter of 2023. Therefore, in
arder to satisfy the Group’s production needs for
the fourth quarter of 2023, the Board proposed an
upward adjustment of RMB3,380,000 for the
annual cap under the Packaging and Production
Materials Purchase Framework Agreement for the
year ended 31 December 2023. Hence, the revised
annual cap under the Packaging and Production
Materials Purchase Framework Agreement for the
year ended 31 December 2023 was
RMB43,980,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEE R ST

4

®)

In light of the recovering market sentiment in
2023, the Group has initiated more academic
conferences and marketing events in order to
capture the market opportunities. Accardingly, the
expenses in rental for venue for hosting the
relevant academic conferences and marketing
events increased. After taking into consideration
the marketing plan and conference schedule of the
Group in the fourth quarter of 2023, the Board
proposed an upward adjustment of
RMB10,000,000 for the annual cap under the
Leasing and Other Services Framework Agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Hence, the
revised annual cap under the Leasing and Other
Services Framework Agreement for the year ended
31 December 2023 was RMB22,383,300.

As of 30 September 2023, the Group has received
invoices under the APIs and Pharmaceutical
Products Sales Framework Agreement with an
aggregate sum of approximately RMB12,553,000,
representing 69.7% of the original annual cap for
the year ended 31 December 2023. After taking
into consideration the production needs of the
Group, the Board proposed an upward adjustment
of RMB12,818,500 for the annual cap under the
APIs and Pharmaceutical Products Sales Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023.
Hence, the revised annual cap under the APIs and
Pharmaceutical Products Sales Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023
was RMB30,818,500.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE S M

On 7 November 2023, the Board further proposed to
revise the annual caps for certain continuing connected
transactions entered into with Shenzhen HEC Industrial
as follows:

(6) As of 30 September 2023, the transaction amount
under the Entrusted Processing Framework
Agreement amounted to approximately
RMB66,246,900, representing approximately 639.9%
of the original annual cap for the year ended 31
December 2023 with only approximately one-third
of the original annual cap available for the
purchasing Processing Service by the Group in the
fourth quarter of 2023, and it is expected to be
insufficient to meet the demand of Processing
Services by the Group in the fourth quarter of
2023. Therefore, in order to satisfy the need of
Processing Services to meet high market demand
of certain pharmaceutical products, the Board
proposed an upward adjustment of
RMB11,000,000 for the annual cap under the
Entrusted Processing Framework Agreement for
the year ended 31 December 2023. Hence, the
revised annual cap under the Entrusted Processing
Framework Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2023 was RMB105,805,500.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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)

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 30 October 2023, as of 30 September 2023,
the transaction amount under the APIs Purchase
Agreement amounted to approximately
RMB29,358,000, representing approximately 75.4%
of the original annual cap for the year ended 31
December 2023. Therefore, in order to satisfy the
Group’s growing production needs and expected
future expansion in the output level of the Group,
in addition to the proposed revision of the annual
cap under the APIs Purchase Agreement for the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Board proposed
an upward adjustment of RMB20,000,000 for the
annual caps under the APIs Purchase Agreement
for the years ended/ending 31 December 2023,
2024 and 2025, respectively. Hence, the revised
annual caps under the APIs Purchase Agreement
for the years ended/ending 31 December 2023,
2024 and 2025 will be RMB58,946,300,
RMB73,786,800 and RMB95,442,100, respectively.

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

%

FUMARARBHAE T
—=ZFt+A=Z+HBZA
ERBEE RZT==
FAA=+8 R &
REBEETIXS 28
%/ A K% 29,358,000
T EEREE-ZT ==
F+-A=+—BI#HF
EHWRFE LR Y
75.4% ° E Ik - BER R
SEHARERNEER
K REAEEBBHERND
AREEKTE BLEH
BT RA SR E R E
THEZZEZ=F+=
A=+—BLEFENF
ELERIN EEGHE
REEXEHBZEEHE =
To=F ZFT_WF
rZZE-_HEF+=A
“t+—HLEFENFE
IR ERAEA
K % 20,000,000 7T ° #
It - FROBH SRR BB 1

22T -T2/
FR-_FE-_RF+=A
T+ —BLEFEMNLE
FFELRAMIABAR
¥ 58,946,300 * AR
#73,786,800 T & AR
#95,442,100 7T °



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E STam T

(8) As disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 30 October 2023, as of 30 September 2023,
the transaction amount under the Packaging and
Production Materials Purchase Framework
Agreement amounted to approximately
RMB30,520,000, representing approximately 75.2%
of the original annual cap for the year ended 31
December 2023. With reference to the growing
production capacity and expected future expansion
of output level of the Group, in order to satisfy the
Group’s production needs, in addition to the
proposed revision of the annual cap under the
Packaging and Production Materials Purchase
Framework Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2023, the Board proposed an upward
adjustment of RMB8,000,000 for the annual caps
under the Packaging and Production Materials
Purchase Framework Agreement for the years
ended/ending 31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025.
Hence, the revised annual caps under the Packaging
and Production Materials Purchase Framework
Agreement for the years ended/ending 31
December 2023, 2024 and 2025 will be
RMB48,600,000, RMB48,600,000 and
RMB48,600,000, respectively.

The revision to the annual caps of the continuing
connected transactions mentioned under items (1) to (8)
above has been approved by the independent
Shareholders at the Third EGM.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 30 October 2023, 7 November 2023 and 27
December 2023 and the circular of the Company dated 8
December 2023 for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm AN

Continuing Connected Transaction in relation to Sales
Sharing

On 26 December 2022, the Company and Sunshine Lake
Pharma entered into the sharing agreement (the
“Sharing Agreement”), pursuant to which Sunshine Lake
Pharma agreed to distribute to the Company its revenues
or profits generated from the sale of designated
pharmaceutical products within the PRC as authorised by
the Company for a term from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2024. The original annual caps under the
Sharing Agreement for the year ended 31 December
2023 and the year ending 31 December 2024 were
RMB2.5 million and RMB2.5 million, respectively. As the
highest applicable percentage ratio of annual caps of
transaction contemplated under the Sharing Agreement
was less than 5% and the total consideration is less than
HKD3 million, the transaction contemplated under the
Sharing Agreement was fully exempted under Rule
14A.76 of the Listing Rules. On 26 April 2024, the Board
resolved to revise annual cap for the year ending 31
December 2024 under the Sharing Agreement from
RMB2.5 million to RMB70.0 million (the “Revised
Proposed Annual Cap”). As the highest applicable
percentage ratio (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Revised Proposed Annual Cap under the Sharing
Agreement is more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the
transaction contemplated under the Sharing Agreement
is subject to the reporting, announcement and annual
review requirements but exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
26 April 2024 for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Change of Stock Short Name

Due to the similarities between the stock short names of
the Company and other pharmaceutical companies under
the group formed by Shenzhen HEC Industrial and other
subsidiaries (the “HEC Group”), in order to better
distinguish the stock short names of the Company and
other pharmaceutical companies of the HEC Group and
reflect the uniqueness of the stock short name of the
Company, the Company has changed its stock short
name from “HEC PHARM” to “HEC CJ PHARM” in English
and from “H[5 Y5> to “RFGH KRTEEZ” in Chinese.
The English and Chinese names of the Company will
continue to be “YiChang HEC ChanglJiang Pharmaceutical
Co, Ltd” and “BEERG A RIZXRHB AR AR,
respectively, while the stock code for H shares on the
Stock Exchange will remain unchanged as “1558”. The
change of the stock short name of the Company will not
affect the rights of the existing Shareholders of the

Company.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
19 May 2023 for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm AN

Completion of the Major and Connected Transaction in 6.
relation to the Disposal of Target Equity in Sunshine
Lake Pharma

The Company agreed to transfer and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial agreed to acquire 9.9134% of the Target Equity
of Sunshine Lake Pharma held by the Company at a
consideration of RMB2,312,319,650. All conditions
precedents under the Disposal have been fulfilled on 27
June 2023, the Company has received the Consideration
under the Equity Transfer Agreement in full and the
completion has taken place on 27 June 2023. Upon the
campletion, the Company ceased to hold any interest in
Sunshine Lake Pharma.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
27 June 2023 for details.

Resignation of an Executive Director, Proposed 7.
Appointment of an Executive Director and Proposed
Amendment to the Articles of Association

On 14 August 2023, Mr. CHEN Yangui, an executive
Director, tendered his resignation as an executive
Director due to his decision to devote more time to his
other business commitments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On the same date, the Board has resolved to nominate Mr.
CHEN Hao as an executive Director. In addition, the Board
proposed to make amendment to certain articles in the
Articles of Association in light of the business development
needs of the Company. The abovementioned appointment
of directors and proposed amendments to the Articles of
Association have been approved by the Shareholders at the
second extraordinary general meeting of the Company for
the year of 2023 held on 8 September 2023. The
resignation of Mr. CHEN Yangui as the executive Director
has also been effective from the same date upon which the
appointment of Mr. CHEN Hao was approved.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 14 August 2023 and 8 September 2023 and the
circular of the Company dated 21 August 2023 for
details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEwm AN

Application for Launching Yigibuvir Tablets Accepted

On 15 August 2023, the Company’s self-researched and
developed product, Yigibuvir Tablets, has received the
Notice of Acceptance issued by the NMPA, and the new
drug application of the Product has been accepted. The
Yigibuvir Tablets is a Class 1 innovative drug in China,
which is a NS5B polymerase inhibitor of Pan-genotypic
chronic Hepatitis C treatment direct antiviral agent (DAA).
In combination with Antaitasvir Capsules, the Yigibuvir
Tablets is used for the treatment of HCV infection in
adults with genotypes 1, 2, 3, and 6 in primary or
interferon-treated cases, which may or may not be
comorbid with compensated cirrhosis. The Yigibuvir
Tablets has the advantages of high cure rate, high safety
and not prone to develop drug resistance. Looking
forward, if the application for approval of the launching
of Yigibuvir Tablets is granted by the NMPA, the
Company’s product portfolio in the field of antiviral
drugs will be further enriched and enhance the
Company’s capability to provide patients with more

affordable and quality drugs choices.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
15 August 2023 for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Mixed Protamine Human Insulin Injection (30R) Approved
for Launch

On 25 September 2023, the Company announced that
the Mixed Protamine Human Insulin Injection,
independently researched and developed by the
Company, has undergone the assessment and approval
process and obtained approval for launch from the
NMPA. The Mixed Protamine Human Insulin Injection is a
biological drug of the Group approved for launch. The
cumulative research and development expense we
invested in it was approximately RMB130.1 million.
Moreover, the Group has long been involved in the
treatment of diabetes with a comprehensive product plan
and a complete product line in place. The Mixed Protamine
Human Insulin Injection being successfully approved for
launch will be beneficial for the expansion of the Group’s
business of treating endocrine and metabolic diseases and
further enrich the Group’s product portfolio.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
25 September 2023 for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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VI.

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE
REPORTING PERIOD

On 8 March 2024, the Company was informed by Sunshine
Lake Pharma, the parent company of the Company, that it and
its wholly-owned subsidiary HEC (Hong Kong) Sales Co.,
Limited (“HEC (Hong Kong)”), entered into a share transfer
agreement, pursuant to which HEC (Hong Kong) will transfer to
Sunshine Lake Pharma the 226,200,000 H Shares (the “Sale
Shares”) held by it (the “Share Transfer”). The Company has
been informed by Sunshine Lake Pharma that the Share
Transfer is part of a group restructuring which may involve a
possible merger between Sunshine Lake Pharma and the

Company.

Completion of the transfer of the rights and obligations
attached to, and the profit or loss arising from the relevant
Sale Shares has taken place on 8 March 2024. As at the date of
this report, despite the transfer of rights and obligations
attached to the Sale Shares to Sunshine Lake Pharma, HEC
(Hong Kong) still remained the legal owner of 226,200,000 H
Shares in the Company, as the register of members of the
Company has yet to be updated.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 8
March 2024 for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 26 December 2022, the Company and Sunshine Lake
Pharma entered into the sharing agreement (the “Sharing
Agreement”), pursuant to which Sunshine Lake Pharma agreed
to distribute to the Company its revenues or profits generated
from the sale of designated pharmaceutical products within
the PRC as authorised by the Company for a term from 1
January 2023 to 31 December 2024. The original annual caps
under the Sharing Agreement for the year ended 31 December
2023 and the year ending 31 December 2024 were RMB2.5
million and RMB2.5 million, respectively. As the highest
applicable percentage ratio of annual caps of transaction
contemplated under the Sharing Agreement was less than 5%
and the total consideration is less than HKD3 million, the
transaction contemplated under the Sharing Agreement was
fully exempted under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules. On 26
April 2024, the Board resolved to revise the annual cap for the
year ending 31 December 2024 under the Sharing Agreement
from RMB2.5 million to RMB70.0 million (the “Revised
Proposed Annual Cap”). As the highest applicable percentage
ratio (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Revised Proposed
Annual Cap under the Sharing Agreement is more than 0.1%
but less than 5%, the transaction contemplated under the
Sharing Agreement is subject to the reporting, announcement
and annual review requirements but exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 26
April 2024 for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYS|
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Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 23
April 2024 for details.

Save as disclosed above, there have been no other significant
events subsequent to the Reporting Period and up to the date
of this Annual Report.

VII. RISK FACTORS AND RISK MANAGEMENT VII.

Risks that may have material effects on the operation of the

Group are as follows:

1.  Therisk of products failing to pass Consistency
Evaluation

According to the Opinions of the Office of the State
Council on the Commencement of Consistency Evaluation
on the Quality and Healing Effect of Generic Drugs (Guo
Ban Fa [2016] No. 8) ({BI#%Fe it A EERAMN PR (7 B B2 E
EMER—BMFENER) (B3 [2016]85%) ) and
the Announcement on the Implementation of Matters in
Relation to the Opinions of the Office of the State Council
on the Commencement of Consistency Evaluation on the
Quality and Healing Effect of Generic Drugs issued by the
China Food and Drug Administration dated 26 May 2016
(2016 No. 106)(KBAR & B (B H5he it A BB RA R B R 07 3
BEEBNBEY—PUFENER) AREFENAE)(Z
T —/NFE10658%)), for generic drugs which have been
approved for market launch prior to the implementation
of the new registration category of chemical drugs, if the
approval was not carried out according to the principle
of consistency in quality and curative effect as the
ariginal researched pharmaceuticals, such generic drugs
are subject to Consistency Evaluation and are required to
have consistent quality and curative effect as the original
researched pharmaceuticals. For the generic drugs which
are not able to pass the Consistency Evaluation within
the prescribed period, no further registration will be

approved.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The risk of the decline in drug prices

With continuous progress in the centralized procurement
of drugs, deepening of reforms in the medical insurance
system and the promulgation of other relevant policies
and regulations, a declining trend in drug prices will
appear. National centralized procurement of
pharmaceuticals has been standardized and put in place
on a regular basis. If the enterprise fails in a bid, it tends
to lose the market for a long time. Thus, enterprises is
unable to ignore centralized procurement.

Pursuant to the National Reimbursement Drug List for
Basic Medical Insurance, Work-Related Injury Insurance
and Maternity Insurance (2023) (the “Reimbursement
Drug List”) KBEIREARBEFERE - THRERANESRR
% 0 B $% (2023 4F))) issued by the National Healthcare
Security Administration and the Ministry of Human
Resources and Saocial Security, which has been officially
implemented on 7 December 2023, 126 types of drugs
are added in such new version of the national Medical
Reimbursement Drug List. With the normalization of
adjustment to Medical Reimbursement Drug List and the
institutionalization of national negotiation on innovative
drugs, the market size of China’s innovative drugs will be
steadily expanding.

In respect of the Consistency Evaluation, the Group
acquired a total of thirty-three Generic Drugs from
Sunshine Lake Pharma, which were all approved by a
foreign country for domestic declaration. The Group’s
core product Kewei capsules and Benzbromarone tablets
have been the first drug varieties to pass the Consistency
Evaluation.

As for the risk of decreasing drug price, there is less
competition for the Group’s core product, Kewei, and the
cost of distribution is under control. Meanwhile, the
Group is able to achieve self-sufficiency and reduce

production costs for the production of Kewei’s APIs.
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VIIl. FUTURE OUTLOOK

Looking forward, as the development direction of China’s
pharmaceutical industry is gradually shifting from generic
drugs to innovation drugs, drug innovation has become the
core competitiveness which supports the future development
of enterprises. In order to capture opportunities in the fierce
competition, pharmaceutical companies need to make
continuous efforts in various aspects including product R&D,
technical process improvement, production and supply chain
management and sales management, while striving to grasp
the initiative of industry competition and forming good
sustainable advantages by grasping the market demand and
trend of the pharmaceutical industry and consolidating and
expanding the corresponding strategic target markets more
effectively. The Company will continually increase its
investment in development and accelerate the transformation
of drug development into clinical applications in the
therapeutic areas of anti-infective, endocrine and metabolic
diseases. In addition, the Company will continue to strengthen
its product R&D and innovation capabilities, constantly
introduce new products and enrich the existing product
portfolio to enhance the market competitiveness of its

products.

The Company will also continue to optimize its scientific and
sustainable marketing strategy, strengthen academic
promotion and drug promotion activities, further promote its
core products in graded hospitals and primary medical
markets, and strive to create a highly recognized business
image and well-respected reputation in the domestic market,
in order to lay a solid foundation for new products to be
rapidly launched in the market in the future.
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DIRECTORS

As at the date of this Annual Report, the information of the Directors

is as follows:

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

55 BEEMERE

5=

Date of commencement of
the term of the current

EIEABH/N

BEAFRBAY E=NEHWT

Name Date of appointment session of the Board Position

% BEEAH AEESRANLNZA  BA

Mr. TANG Xinfa 4 May 2015 4 June 2021 Chairman and non-executive Director
iyt —RFRAMA “E--FXAMA ESRRIFNTES

Mr. JIANG Juncai 4 May 2015 4 June 2021 Executive Director

B EE —RFRAMA %X ANA HITER

Mr. WANG Danjin 27 February 2006 4 June 2021 Executive Director

EREEE —ETRFE-A=-1+H —FNA0mA BITES

Mr. CHEN Hao 8 September 2023 N/A Executive Director

BESLE —E-=FAANRE TER WTES

Mr. LI Shuang 8 June 2018 4 June 2021 Executive Director

FREE —N\FRANR T —%XAWNA HITESR

Mr. TANG Jianxin 4 May 2015 4 June 2021 Independent non-executive Director
ErEkE —RERAMA —E--FXAMA BUFRITES

Ms. XIANG Ling 5 June 2020 4 June 2021 Independent non-executive Director
&L+ —E-TFARA —E--FXAM0AH BAUFRITES

Mr. LI Xuechen 25 September 2020 4 June 2021 Independent non-executive Director
FERELE “ZTZTFANAZTAEB  ZEZ-F,AWA BUFRTES
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
55 BEEKaAEEAREN

Mr. TANG Xinfa (E#73), aged 54, is the Chairman and a non-
executive Director. He joined the Company in May 2015 and has
served as a non-executive Director since then. He is a member of the

Audit Committee.

Mr. Tang has extensive working experience in the following
campanies or entities:

BEHBELE 5458 REFERIFWTE
F- MR -T-RAFRAAMALRRAF - It
BEHEIFATET B -HAEZZ

BEgXkE -

FEEEETI AR ERBEFLEENTIE
K

Period Name of Company/Entity Position Principal Function

15 NE/BERER B TER#®

Since January 2022 Guangzhou Yangzhiguang Executive director and manager Corporate management and
Trading Co., Ltd.* decision-making

20215 BEMNGzAEHAERANT WITEZREE NAEBERE

Since September 2019 Yidu Tang Junyi Health Industry ~ Executive director and general Corporate management and
Development Co., Ltd. manager decision-making

H2019%9A%% EREAERFEXER WITEZHREKE NAEBERE
BRRF

Since September 2019 Yidu Tang Juntao Pharmaceutical  Executive director and general Corporate management and
Technology Co., Ltd. manager decision-making

H2019F9A%% HBERBRENBERRA  WTEERELE RAIEEERE

Since September 2019 Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County  Legal representative and Corporate management and
Taidong Pharmaceutical executive director decision-making
Co., Ltd.

H2019%9A%% RERBABRRREE EERRARRITER NAEBERE
BRRF

Since April 2019 Guangdong HEC Technology Vice chairman, executive director Corporate management and
Holding Co., Ltd. decision-making

H2019F4 AZ5 BRRGERBERRS BEER HTES RAIEEERE
ARAT

Since August 2018 Dongguan Dong Yang Guang Director and manager Corporate management and
Gaoneng Medical Equipment decision-making
Co., Ltd.

H2018F8AZES RERBARERERE EERERE RAIEEERE

BRAHE
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Period Name of Company/Entity Position Principal Function

5 DR/ ERER B TERRE

Since January 2017 Dongguan HEC TaiGen Legal representative, chairman of Corporate management and
Biopharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. the board of directors and director decision-making

B2017F18%E% RERB AR RBEHME EERRA EFR EF NRERERE

Since December 2016

B2016F 12825

Since November 2015

B2015F11A%%5

Since June 2015

B201566 A%

Since December 2014

B2014F12 %%

Since March 2011

B2011%53R%%

Since October 2010

B2010F10AZE%

AREMERF

Linzhi HEC Pharmaceutical
Research Co., Ltd.
MERGHEEREFRAA

Shenzhen HEC Industrial
Development Co., Ltd.
AITRGHREXERBRAA
Dongguan HEC Industrial
Development Co., Ltd.
REMRGAEXEREBRAA
Yichang HEC Research Co., Ltd.
HERGKERERRAA
HEC Pharm Co., Ltd.
HERGREXERHBR LA
Dongguan HEC Medicine
Development and

Research Co., Ltd.
RERGAEMHEERAF

Legal representative and director

EERRARES

Director and general manager

EERERLE

Chairman of the board of directors

EER

Legal representative, executive

director and general manager

EERRA  BTESRELE

Director

B

Legal representative, chairman of

the board of directors and manager

EERRA  EZRRLE

Corporate Management and
decision-making
RAIEEERE

Corporate management and
decision-making
RAIEERRE

Corporate management and
decision-making
RAIEEERE

Corporate management and
decision-making

RAIEERRE

Corporate management and
decision-making

RAEERARR

Corporate management and
decision-making

RRIEEERR
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Period Name of Company/Entity Position Principal Function
£ AR/ EBEH Bfr TEB
Since September 2008 Guangdong Southern China Director Corporate management and
Advanced Pharmaceutical decision-making
Co., Ltd
H2008F9 A %5 EREHMELIBARLA =% RAIEEERE
Since September 2005 Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd. ~ Director Corporate management and
decision-making
H20056F9 A %5 ERRGREXRNBERAR EF RAIEEERE
Since December 2004 Dongguan HEC Industrial Legal representative, chairman of Corporate management and
Development Co., Ltd. the board of directors and manager decision-making
H2004F12AZ% RETRGREXRER EERRA  EERRLE RAIEEERE
ARAA
From September 2002to  Shenzhen HEC Industrial Chief of the office Corporate management and
September 2005 Development Co., Ltd. decision-making
H200269R% RITREAEFER WAZERE RREBERR
2005%9A 1N

Mr. Tang received a master’s degree in literary aesthetics from the
Department of Chinese of Xiamen University (JEF9X&) in September
2002.

Mr. JIANG Juncai (319 7), aged 42, is an executive Director and the
general manager of the Company. He joined the Company in May
2015 and has served as an executive Director since then. He is a

member of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee.

BAAR-TE-F A ABEEPIAST
pES & TEET A R

BETRE 425 RATEFERARTA
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AR -BEREERTESE B A
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Mr. Jiang served as a director of Yidu HEC Industrial Development
Co., Ltd. (BEBT G E ¥ ZRAMR A A]) from March 2012 to May
2015. Prior to that, Mr. Jiang was a director of Yichang Shancheng
POKEBL B EEBRAF]) from
March 2012 to July 2015, and successively served as a researcher at

Cordyceps Sinensis Co., Ltd. (E&

the biochemistry division, a researcher and deputy head of the
traditional Chinese medicine division and the deputy head of the
zoological and botanical division of Sunshine Lake Pharma from July
2006 to May 2012.

Mr. Jiang graduated with a master’s degree in science from
Shenyang Pharmaceutical University (&% 225} X 2) in June 2006.

Mr. WANG Danjin (£ /$32), aged 54, is an executive Director and a
deputy general manager of the Company. He joined the Company in
February 2006, and has served as an executive Director since then.

Mr. Wang has also served as a supervisor of HEC Pharm from
December 2010 to July 2015, and a director of Yichang HEC
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (E & RIG X E & B R A 7)) from April
2006 to January 2018. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Wang was
the head of production department of Jilin Tonghua Dongri
Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Co., Ltd. (E & BILE B EERHBBR
‘A &]) from March 2002 to January 2006, and a technologist at
Liaoning Dandong Pharmaceutical Factory (3% 2 4 f 5 % % iy )
from November 1991 to February 2002.

Mr. Wang graduated with a bachelor’s degree from Shenyang
Pharmaceutical University (V&[5 2%} X2 ) through correspondence
courses in January 2008. He is recognised as a licensed pharmacist
by Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the
People’s Republic of China (formerly known as Ministry of Personnel
of the People’s Republic of China), and was recognised as a
pharmacist-in-charge by Bureau of Human Resources and Social
Security of Dandong (formerly known as Bureau of Personnel of
Dandong (fFE M A% /E) in October 2001.
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Mr. CHEN Hao (BR %), aged 49, is currently the general manager of
the sales platform of the Company. Since joining the Company in
November 2009, he has served as the regional manager and the
sales general manager of the Company. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Chen Hao joined Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd.
in July 1994, and served as the vice president of HEC Research
Institute from January 2007 to October 2009.

Mr. Chen Hao graduated from Hangzhou University in July 1994.

Mr. LI Shuang (Z3g), aged 43, is an executive Director and the
deputy general manager of the Company. He joined the Company in
August 2005 and worked as a member of the insulin research team.
He has served as the deputy general manager of the Company since
May 2015 and served as an executive Director since June 2018.

Mr. Li has also served as the deputy head of the Company’s insulin
factory since October 2013 and the head of active pharmaceutical
ingredient department of that factory since February 2006. Mr. Li
was the head of purification department of the Company’s insulin
factory from December 2008 to September 2013.

Mr. Li graduated with a bachelor’s degree in engineering majoring in
bioengineering from China Three Gorge University (Z I K £) in
June 2004 and obtained a master of business administration degree
majoring in EMBA from Wuhan University in June 2023 .
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Mr. TANG Jianxin (B #T), aged 59, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in May 2015. He is the chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Remuneration and Evaluation

Committee.

Mr. Tang is currently an independent director of Wuhan Ligong
Guangke CO. Ltd. (E\)Z I T B 5 B BR A 7]) (Shenzhen Stock
Exchange ( “SZSE”) stock number: 300557) (since July 2019), an
independent director of Wuhan Department Store Group (& % &
f&% 7 B BR A &) (SZSE Stock number: 000501) (since July 2020), and
an independent director of Hubei Feilihua Quartz Glass Co., Ltd. (J#
b IERE L LI AT D B R 2 7)) (SZSE stock number: 300395)
(since August 2021).
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Moreover, Mr. Tang was an independent director of Zhejiang Reclaim
Construction Group Co., Ltd. (I TE B EEZREBRNHBER A R])
(SZSE stock number: 002586) from December 2019 to November
2021, an independent director of Sino Great Wall Co., Ltd. (48 &35
R tn B BR A 7)) (SZSE stock number: 000018) from December 2015
to December 2018, an independent director of Zhongbai Holdings
Group Co., Ltd. (A B = i% £ B % 19 B R 2 7)) (SZSE stock code:
000759) from December 2011 to December 2017, an independent
director of Shenzhen Huapengfei Modern Logistics Co., Ltd. (R
FERETRIE AR YRR AR A A (SZSE stock code: 300350) from
August 2010 to August 2016, an independent director of Wuhan
Sanzhen Industry Holding Co., Ltd. (BUE =SB E RSB BR A F))
(SSE stock code: 600168) from June 2009 to June 2015 and an
independent director of Easyhome New Retail Group Corporation
Limited (FAZRFEEEBE D BR A F]) (formerly known as
Wuhan Zhongnan Commercial (Group) Co., Ltd. (#2 FF i £ B i H
ABRAA])) (SZSE stock code: 000785) from May 2008 to May 2014.
Prior to that, Mr. Tang served as an independent director of Wuhan
Accelink Technologies Co., Ltd. (BUZX AR DB R A A]) (SZSE
stock code: 002281) from September 2006 to September 2009 and
an independent director of Hubei Chutian Expressway Co., Ltd (1t
BRESEQNERMD AR A A (SSE stock code: 600035) from April
2002 to April 2008. Mr. Tang has been a professor of the Accounting
Department of Economics and Management School of Wuhan
University since 2004 and a doctoral tutor at Wuhan University (&
2 K 2) since 2006. He served as the dean of Accounting
Department of Economics and Management School in the same
university from 2005 to 2015. He worked for the postdoctoral
research center of the accounting department of Renmin University
of China (FF B AR KX 2) from 2000 to 2002.

Mr. Tang received his bachelor’s degree from the Economics
Department of Wuhan University in June 1985, and then obtained a
master’s degree in economics and a doctoral degree in economics
from Wuhan University in September 1988 and January 1999
respectively. Mr. Tang was granted independent auditor
qualifications by the National Audit Office of the People’s Republic of
China in December 1992, and Certified Public Valuer gualification by
the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Valuers in December 1996.
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Ms. XIANG Ling (@ %), aged 41, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 5 June 2020. She is the chairman of the
Remuneration and Evaluation Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee.

Ms. Xiang graduated from the Law School of Hunan Normal
University (7453 Bl &0 K 255 26 ) in 2003 with a bachelor’s degree
in law. She further obtained a master’s degree in Laws (International
Economic Law) from the Law School of Sun Yat-sen University (4 1L
A £ in 2006 and a doctoral degree of Judicial Science (Theory of
Law) CEEE + X218 :5)Z241) from the Law School of Sun Yat-
sen University (7 LK 28) in 2013.

Since July 2006, Ms. Xiang has been teaching at the School of Law of
Guangdong University of Finance. Her research mainly covers
contract law, company law, intellectual property law and
international economic law. Currently, she takes lead of 2
provincial-level research topics, and has participated as a main
participant in the projects of National Social Science Foundation (B
R+ B A S TE B), the projects of Humanities and Social Sciences
Research Foundation of the Ministry of Education (25 &8 A X4t &l
E ¢ I8 B) and the projects of several provincial-level research
topics. She has published more than ten papers in core journals such
as Political Science and Law (EUA 81X 72)), Intellectual Property
(F0 3% ZE #E)), Academics in China ({217 5)), Social Sciences in
Guangdong ((ER A& FRIE)), Journal of Hunan University (G R A
E2E23R ) and Presentday Law Science ({FF A E2)).

Ms. Xiang participated and successfully graduated in the 97th
Independent Director Training (5 97 HA%8 32 & E 55 7)) held by the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange in September 2018 and was eligible to be

incumbent as an independent director of a listed company.
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Ms. Xiang is currently an executive director (% 7% 3 %) of the
Intellectual Property Committee (17 E 2 =) of the Guangdong
Province Law Society (BR & A2 9), a director (3 =) of the
Financial Law Research Committee (£ Bt A 2 X €) of the
Guangdong Province Law Saciety, a director of the International Law
Research Committee (BIBX A2 &) of the Guangdong Province
Law Society, a director of the Economic Law Research Committee
(#7575 298 &) of the Guangdong Province Law Society, a
director of the Guangzhou Law Society, Tianhe District (&M i &7
[@ /% 2 &), a director of the fifth council of The Association of
Reglstered Tax Agents of Guangdong Province (/&R % 7t it £ 7% 67 #
2F AEEEE), a consultant on the area of marine rights and
interests (/& ¥ & 23 75 0 E X ) of the South China Sea Branch of
State Oceanic Administration, a legal consultant of Guangdong
Xuping Jewelry Co., Ltd. (BERBF & &1 H R 2 7)) and a part-time
lawyer of the Legal Aid Center of Guangdong University of Finance
(EFESREREZZEBDS L), and serves as the dean of
Intellectual Property Department of the School of Law of Guangdong
University of Finance.

Moreover, Mr. Xiang was an independent director of Guangdong
Zhongnan Iron & Steel Co., Ltd. (BEER T @& (7D AR 2 7))
(formerly known as SGIS Songshan Co., Ltd. (& R 2 A L %5 A

2 A])) (SZSE stock number: 000717) from June 2019 to October
2022.

Mr. LI Xuechen (Z2E ), aged 46, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 25 September 2020.

Mr. Li graduated from the College of Chemistry of the Nankai
University (B8 7 KX 2) with a bachelor’s degree of Chemistry in
1999. He further obtained a master’s degree of Chemistry from the
Science Faculty of University of Alberta in 2003 and a doctoral
degree of Chemistry and Chemical Biology from the Division of
Science of Harvard University in 2006.

From 2007 to 2009, Mr. Li worked for a post-doctoral research at
the Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, USA, responsible for
research on chemistry and pharmacy. Mr. Li has been teaching in the
Faculty of Science of the University of Hong Kong, his research area
principally involves chemical biology and medicinal chemistry since
July 2008.
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Mr. Li has been a member of The Hong Kong Young Academy of
Sciences since January 2020. In 2017, Mr. Li was awarded a
Croucher Senior Research Fellowship by the Croucher Foundation. In
2018, Mr. Li received the Outstanding Researcher Award from the
University of Hong Kong.

SUPERVISORS

As at the date of this Annual Report, the information of the

Supervisors is as follows:

BT _TF AR FEREEETEES
FRBhRREL -R_FE—LF FREE
EEESER TREEANTE MR -
RIB—N\F FELERBEERBR T4
th B 5% B2 AR 55 o

£EE
BEAFHREM BENERMT -

Start of term of office

upon expiration of

the term of the current

session of the Board

Name Date of appointment of Supervisors Position
rEEESEPERZA
nH EZREEH EEEHERR B
Mr. TANG Jinlong 6 June 2019 4 June 2021 Chairman of the Board of
Supervisors
FEaELE —ZE-NFRARA T —FRAMEA EEgTE
Mr. WANG Shengchao 21 July 2017 4 June 2021 Employee representative supervisor
THBEE —E—+HF+A+—H ZE-—F,AM@A BIKKES
Mr. LUO Zhonghua 16 June 2017 4 June 2021 Supervisor

BEESRLE —T—+FXA+RB ZTZ
Mr. WANG Shengchao (E i), aged 41, is an employee
representative Supervisor and the chief of the quality division of the
Company. He joined the Company in May 2012 as a quality controller
of the quality division, and served as the vice director of quality
assurance of the quality division of the Company since April 2015.
Mr. Wang held the position of the gquality assurance director of the
quality division of the Company from May 2016 to June 2017, and
served as the deputy chief of the quality division of the Company
from July 2017 to June 2019 and served as the chief of the quality
division of the Company since July 20189.
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Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Wang worked as a researcher of
new traditional Chinese medicines in Hebei Yiling Pharmaceutical
Group (AldbLAssEE 22 E) from July 2008 to March 2010, a
pharmaceutical analysis researcher in Pharmaron (Beijing) New
Medicines Technology Co., Ltd. (BEBE(LAK (AL R)FTEER T B IR A R))
from April 2010 to May 2011, and an inspection engineer and
inspection supervisor of the quality department in Lepu (Beijing)
Medical Equipment Co., Ltd. (& (L) BES[MAH AR A 7)) from
June 2011 to May 2012.

Mr. Wang graduated with a master’s degree in science from
Shenyang Pharmaceutical University (&[5 225} X2 in July 2008.

Mr. LUO Zhonghua (% £.%), aged 40, is currently the shareholder
representative Supervisor of the Company. He joined Dongguan HEC
Medicine Development and Research Co., Ltd. (BRZE5B5 ¢ A 3
APBRAF]) (a subsidiary of Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co.,
Ltd. OFRIITHERZ L EZEZEE AR A A)), the controlling shareholder
of the Company), since June 2005 to engage in the research and
development of APIs. He successively served as the head of the
generic drug APl synthesis department and deputy head of the
generic drug division in Dongguan HEC Medicine Development and
Research. He has been the legal representative and general manager
of YiChang HEC Pharmaceutical Manufacturing, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company since February 2018, and is responsible
for the preparation of the production base of biochemical APIs.

Mr. Luo graduated with a bachelor’s degree in pharmaceutical
engineering from the Central South University in June 2005, a
master’s degree in pharmacy from Sun Yat-sen University in 2015
and a doctoral degree in biology pharmaceuticals from South China
University of Technology (327832 T A Z2) in August 2020.
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Mr. TANG Jinlong (£ #8), aged 55, he was appointed as a Supervisor
of the Company on 6 June 2019 and has been a chairman of the Board
of Supervisors since then. He joined the Company in July 2001 as
deputy head (&I&6+) of the development department of the Company
and served as the chairman of the Board of Supervisors since 6 June
2019. He was the head of development department of the Company
from June 2003 to July 2004 and chief engineer of the Company
from August 2004 to January 2008. Mr. Tang was the deputy general
manager of Yidu HEC Biochemical Manufacturing Co., Ltd. (E#05R 5
JHEALBIEEEBR A F]) from March 2006 to December 2010 and the
factory manager of Hecheng factory (&% BE &) from January
2008 to December 2010. Since June 2015, Mr. Tang is the director of
HEC Pharm. Since February 2018, Mr. Tang is the chairman and legal
representative of YiChang HEC Biochemical API Co., Ltd. (EE&RE X
2 EE2ERAA) and the director of YiChang HEC
Pharmaceutical Manufacturing. Mr. Tang is the standing committee
member of 6th, 7th and 8th Yidu City Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (E#H R & Z).

Mr. Tang has obtained a bachelor’s degree in chemistry and
pharmacy ({L 28228+ Ef7) in Wuhan Institute of Technology (&
ET2AE) in June 1990.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT EREEAER
During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this Annual Report, RFEBHARBEEAFIHREH  SHERE
the information of Senior Management is as follows: ABWERINT

Date of joining Date of
Name the Group appointment Position Responsibility
#E MAFEE B EZEAH Bz BE
Mr. JIANG Juncai 4 May 2015 4 May 2015 General manager Overall day-to-day management
BOT £4% ZZ-hERAMA ZEZ-hFhHANA LS EENARER
Mr. WANG Danjin 27 February 2006 4 May 2015 Deputy general manager Operational management
FrRESE ZEERFAZt++H ZE-AFRANA Bl# e EEER
Mr. LI Shuang 7 August 2005 4 May 2015 Deputy general manager Operational management
FREE —ZThEN\ALA —Z-hFhANMA Bl EEERE
Mr. ZHANG Qiang 23 February 2018 25 February 2019 Chief financial officer ~ Financial management
SRR S AE ZT-\fZAZ+=H ZT-NEF-A=1+HA MBLEE HisER
Mr. PENG Qiyun 1 July 2016 15 October 2018 Secretary of the Board ~ Day-to-day operation of the Board
PHERSE —T-R"¥tHA-H “T-)\5TA+REE EZgUE EXgNHERLE

For the biography of Mr. JIANG Juncai (394, Mr. WANG Danjin (£
FH#) and Mr. LI Shuang (), please refer to “Directors” in this
section.

Mr. ZHANG Qiang (3R 3&), aged 48, is the chief financial officer of the
Company. Mr. Zhang joined the Company in February 2018 and was
appointed as the chief financial officer of the Company on 25
February 2019 and is responsible for the financial management of
the Company.

Mr. Zhang has been the head of finance department of the Company
since February 2018. Mr. Zhang has 21 years of experience in
auditing, accounting and financial management. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. Zhang acted as an assistant auditor of Yichang
Changjiang Accounting Firm* (B8 R/IE:HAIEFT) from March
1999 to September 2001. He acted as the financial auditor of
Yichang County Military Audit Bureau* (EEMEEREFTR) from
October 2001 to May 2005 and served as the head of the finance
department of HEC Pharm from May 2005 to February 2018.
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Mr. Zhang graduated from Wuhan University of Hydraulic and
Electrical Engineering (FUZ/KFE /1K) with a college degree in
financial accounting in June 1997. Mr. Zhang is an intermediate

accountant and a PRC certified public accountant.

Mr. PENG Qiyun (23 E), aged 34, is the secretary of the Board. He
joined the Company in July 2016, and has served as the assistant to
secretary of the Board since then, and served as the secretary of the
Board since October 2018.

Mr. Peng graduated from Qingdao University with a bachelor of
science degree in mathematics and applied mathematics in June
2013, and obtained a master’s degree in finance from Guangdong
Finance College in June 2017.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. PENG Qiyun (2B E)

For the biography of Mr. Peng Qiyun (323 ), please refer to “Senior

Management” in this section.
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Mr. WONG Wai Chiu (Z&#8)

Mr. WONG Wai Chiu is an associate director of SWCS Corporate
Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Wong has extensive
experience in compliance and company secretarial work for listed
companies. Mr. Wong is a fellow of the Hong Kang Chartered
Governance Institute, a fellow of the Chartered Governance Institute
in the United Kingdom, a member of CPA Australia, a member of the
Hong Kong Trustee Association and a Certified Trust Practitioner.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors hereby presents the Annual Report and the
audited financial statements of the Group (the “Financial
Statements”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
Shareholders.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors currently consists of eight Directors,
comprising four executive Directors, one non-executive Director and
three independent non-executive Directors. The incumbent Directors
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and as at the date of this
Annual Report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. JIANG Juncai

Mr. WANG Danjin

Mr. CHEN Hao (appointed on 8 September 2023)
Mr. LI Shuang

Mr. CHEN Yangui (resigned on 8 September 2023)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. TANG Xinfa (Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. TANG Jianxin

Ms. XIANG Ling

Mr. LI Xuechen

Mr. CHEN Yangui resigned as an executive Director due to his decision
to devote more time to his other business commitments.

DIRECTOR APPOINTED DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

Mr. CHEN Hao, who was appointed as an executive Director during
the Reporting Period, has obtained the legal advice under Rule 3.09D
of the Listing Rules on 11 September 2023 and has confirmed that
he understood his obligations as a Director of the Company.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Company is a PRC pharmaceutical manufacturing company that
focuses on the development, manufacturing and sale of
pharmaceutical products in the therapeutic areas of anti-infection,
endocrine and metabolic diseases. For further information of the
principal business of the Company, please refer to the section
“Business Review” of this Annual Report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

As of 31 December 2023, the total share capital of the Company was
RMB879,967,700, divided into 879,967,700 shares of RMB1.00
each. Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year 2023 are set out in Note 27 to the Financial
Statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

DEBENTURES IN ISSUE

The Company did not have any debentures in issue for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Proceeds from H Share
Convertible Bonds” on pages 123 to 127 of this Annual Report, the
Company did not enter into any equity-linked agreement, nor did
any equity-linked agreement exist during the year ended 31
December 2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has purchased appropriate liahility insurance for its
Directors, Supervisors and senior management. The permitted

indemnity provisions are set out in such liability insurance.

Save as disclosed above, no permitted indemnity provision was
made by the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 and no
permitted indemnity provision was in force as at the date of this

Annual Report.
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PLEDGING OF SHARES BY THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

On 22 April 2022, the Company was informed by Sunshine Lake
Pharma, the controlling shareholder, that it has pledged
226,200,000 Domestic Shares in the issued share capital of the
Company held by it in favour of a third-party lender as security for a
loan provided by the third-party lender to Sunshine Lake Pharma.

On 14 October 2022, the Company was informed by HEC (Hong Kang)
that it has pledged the 226,200,000 H shares in the issued share
capital of the Company held by it in favour of an independent third-
party lender for a loan provided by the independent third-party
lender to Sunshine Lake Pharma.

LOAN AGREEMENTS OR FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE OF
THE COMPANY

The Company did not provide any financial assistance nor guarantee
to its affiliated companies for the year ended 31 December 2023,
which gives rise to a disclosure under Rule 13.16 of the Listing Rules.
The Company did not enter into any loan agreement with covenants
relating to specific performance of its Controlling Shareholder nor
breach the terms of any loan agreements for the year ended 31
December 2023.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not hold any significant
investment.

SHARE SCHEMES

The Company did not adopt any share schemes.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS AND TAX RELIEF OR
EXEMPTION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and the laws of the PRC, the
Company is not subject to any pre-emptive rights requiring it to
propose new issues to its existing shareholders in proportion to their
sharehaoldings. In addition, the Company is not aware of any tax
relief or exemption available to any existing Shareholder by reason
of his/her holding of the securities of the Company.
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RESULTS

The audited results of operations of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on
page 185. The financial condition of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position on pages 186 to 187. The
consolidated cash flow of the Company and its subsidiaries for the
year ended 31 December 2023 is set out in the Consolidated Cash
Flow Statement on pages 189 to 190.

Discussion and analysis about the operating performance and
significant elements affecting the results of operations and financial
condition of the Company during the year are set out in Management

Discussion and Analysis of this Annual Report on pages 17 to 72.
BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are provided
on pages 20 to 29 and page 72 of this Annual Report, respectively.
Description of possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may
be facing can be found on pages 70 to 71 of this Annual Report. No
particulars of important events affecting the Group that have
occurred since the end of the financial year. An analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance
indicators is provided on pages 29 to 35 of this Annual Report.

In addition, further information of the Company’s environmental
policies, performance and initiatives can be found in the section
heading “Environmental Policies and Performance” of this Report of
the Board of Directors. The Company’s compliance with relevant
laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Company are provided in the section heading “Compliance with Laws
and Regulations” of this Report of the Board of Directors. An account
of the Company’s relationships with its employees, customers and
suppliers are disclosed in the section heading “Relationship with
Stakeholders” of this Report of the Board of Directors.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend the payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (for the year ended 31
December 2022: Nil).

As at the date of this Annual Report, there was no arrangement
under which a Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any
dividends.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS AND RECORD
DATE

In order to ascertain the Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the AGM of the Company for the year of 2023 to be held on
Friday, 7 June 2024, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Tuesday, 4 June 2024 to Friday, 7 June 2024 (both days

inclusive), during which no transfer of shares will be registered.

In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all
unregistered H shareholders of the Company shall lodge transfer
documents together with the relevant share certificates with the
Company’s H Share Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration before
4:30 p.m. on Monday, 3 June 2024. The record date for the
entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM is Tuesday, 4 June 2024.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Company and its subsidiaries during the year of 2023 are set out in
Note 10 to the Financial Statement.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the
year 2023 are set out in Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity, of which details of reserves available for distribution to
equity Shareholders are set out in Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity. The Company’s reserves available for distribution
to equity shareholders as at 31 December 2023 represents the
retained profits of approximately RMB4,440.63 million.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group made external donations of
approximately RMB1 million (excluding personal donations of

employees).
BANK BORROWINGS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank borrowings and other borrowings of the Company
and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 22

to the Financial Statements.

INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors, Supervisors and senior
management of the Company are set out on pages 73 to 88 of this

Annual Report.
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SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS

The Company has entered into service contracts with the Directors.
The principal particulars of these service contracts are (1) Save and
except for the service contract of Mr. CHEN Hao, each of the
contracts is for a term of three years commencing on the date of
approval of their appointment at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 4 June 2021 until the expiry of the third session of
the Board; (2) the service contract of Mr. CHEN Hao came into effect
on 8 September 2023 and will be effective until the expiration of the
third session of the Board; and (3) each of the contracts is subject to
termination in accordance with their respective terms. The service
contracts may be renewed under the Articles of Assaociation and
applicable rules.

The Company has entered into contracts with the Supervisors in
respect of, among others, compliance with relevant laws and
regulations, the Articles of Association and provisions of arbitration.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Supervisors has
entered into a contract of service with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statuary compensation.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The remuneration of each executive Director are determined
pursuant to the decisions of the Shareholders’ general meeting, and
with reference to the duty, responsibility and performance of the
executive Directors, results of the Group and other factors which
may be considered as relevant and appropriate. The non-executive
Directors do not receive remuneration from the Company. The
remuneration of independent non-executive Directors are
determined with reference to their duties and responsibilities within
the Company, the Company’s remuneration policy and the prevailing
market conditions.
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Details of the emoluments of the Directors and Supervisors in 2023

are set out in Note 7 to the Financial Statements. None of the

Directors or Supervisors waived any emoluments during the year

ended 31 December 2023. During the Reporting Period, no

emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director, any Supervisor

or any of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or

upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Details of the emoluments of each senior management of the

Company (excluding Directors who are also senior management) in

2023 are set out below:

Contributions
to defined

EZRESFN_T_=FMeNFEIR
HHEBEME7 BE_T_=F+_H
=t RALEFE BMEEFHAEENEL
B - N B - AR B & m T
EX EFIEAAUERSFMALIAN
T E - ERRSIEFMARSE N
AREBE 2 B BB (E

EXRRABREEAR (TEERKAS
REBABNER)R _T_=FMen
AIEEIT

Salaries, contribution
allowances retirement Equity settled
and benefits benefit Discretionary share-based
in kind schemes bonuses payments 2023 Total
LARE 25
Fe o 2l THRUEIEK #EN —B-=H
REWMEF BAGEHER BETRA R 7 & 5 st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TT ARETT AR®TRT ARETR
Mr. Zhang Qiang Chief financial officer 268.84 17.66 193.88 202.83 480.39
RogE 4 B e
Mr. Peng Qiyun Secretary of the Board
and joint company
secretary 209.00 15.84 145.47 - 370.31
THERE EEeNERBELR
wWE
Total 477.84 33.50 339.35 202.83 850.70
@it
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

At the end of the year of 2023 or at any time during the year, there
were no transactions, arrangement or contracts of significance
subsisting in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party, directly or indirectly, and in
which any Director or Supervisor (or an entity connected with any
Director or Supervisor) had a material interest.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company, its holding
company, any of its subsidiaries nor fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or

any other body corporate.
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year of 2023, none of the Directors or their associates had
any competing interests in any business that constitutes or may
constitute direct or indirect competition with the Company’s

businesses.

UPDATE OF DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS
INFORMATION

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, there has been no other
change in the information of each Director and supervisor that is
required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules since
the Company’s latest published interim report until the date of this

Annual Report.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, to the knowledge of the Directors, the
following Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the Company
had interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including those taken or
deemed as their interests and short position in accordance with
such provisions of the SFQ), or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register kept by the
Company referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to
the Maodel Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:

EEX ESRERSTHRARHRE
R4 - HEROREEETE
BENERERKXE

RZZE-=F+-A=+—H $EEM
o TIEE BEERARFARSTERA
BEARRREEMEREE (EERE
7 M I E R OIS XV ED) My - HEBE D
HERETHEABREES MG GRIE
XVEBSR 7 K 5 80 BB A& AN A B) BB S AT
MED AR (BRAEREBEREZ MBEK
BINZERERR IR B EE RN
KR RAREE S KB RPIF 352
FREABBIGRPIFT AR ARRFENERL
MAMERRR  HARBRESTRIA
SARRNE ME R FTH L ROAR

Number of
Shares/  Approximate  Approximate
underlying  percentage of  percentage of
Shares held relevant class total issued

(shares) of share capital  share capital

BER®B,/ HBEEIREX BRITREEH
Name Types of Shares Capacity HEROHE BHAEI2E NHELEIHK
o] R 13 %8 5l i237) (i) (%) (%)
Directors £
TANG Xinfa H Shares Beneficial owner 130,400 (L) 0.019% (L) 0.015% (L)
EEE H & EREBA
LI Shuang H Shares Beneficial owner 66,800 (L) 0.010% (L) 0.007% (L)
FR H& EREBA
WANG Danjin H Shares Beneficial owner 67,200 (L) 0.010% (L) 0.007% (L)
Tz H i EREBA
JIANG Juncai H Shares Beneficial owner 66,800 (L) 0.010% (L) 0.007% (L)
B9 H & EREBA
LI Xuechen H Shares Beneficial owner 4,000 (L) 0.00061% (L)  0.00045% (L)
FEEp H& EREBA
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Number of
Shares/  Approximate  Approximate
underlying  percentage of percentage of
Shares held relevant class total issued

(shares) of share capital  share capital

BER®K/ HBRERRE CRITRALHE
Name Types of Shares Capacity HEROHEE BHAEIE HNHENEIHK
o B 47 %8 Al 54 (&) (%) (%)
Supervisors B %
WANG Shengchao H Shares Beneficial owner 32,000 (L) 0.004% (L) 0.003% (L)
THH H % ExnEEA
LUQ Zhonghua H Shares Beneficial owner 66,800 (L) 0.010% (L) 0.007% (L)
mE H % ExnBEEA
(L) — Long position L) — a8

The calculation is based on the total number of 879,967,700 shares in issue of the
Company as at 31 December 2023, comprising 226,200,000 Domestic Shares and
653,767,700 H Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, to the knowledge
of the Directors, none of the Directors, Supervisors or chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including those
taken or deemed as their interest and/or short position in
accordance with such provisions of the SF0), or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
kept by the Company referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

HETBREARRR-_S-_=F+-_A=1+—BH®HE
BT 4 2879,967,700 MBH - BIF
226,200,000 ik W& A% & 653,767,700 A& H AR ©
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN

SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, to the knowledge of the Directors, the
persons (other than the Directors, Supervisors or chief executive of
the Company) who have an interest or short position in the Shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO and as recorded in the register required to be kept by the

Company under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

FERRARGHEDS
RZE-_=F+_HA=+—H BMEZF

M TIHAL(BEF EFHARTAED
TTHA BERSN RA R BB s BE A D
FHEEARBES B RDIEXVEE 2
REIDEAARBHEENERDIOXE -
KL SR AR IE & 55 I B B {5 71 6 336 1578

THRERARRNERMAOERIIXER

Number of
Number of underlying
Shares/ sharesheld  Approximate  Approximate
underlying underequity  percentageof  percentage of
Shares held derivatives  relevant class total issued
(shares) (shares) of share capital  share capital
BRARAT &
BER®B/ IARE MHEEIREX ERTREAER
Name of Shareholders Types of Shares  Capacity HERGHE HERGHEE WHELEIL WHELEI N
BREEE R 43 5 Rl 51 (&) (&) (%) (%)
Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd.* Domestic Shares  Beneficial owner 226,200,000 (L) - 100% (L) 25.70% (L)
(BREGREXRHBERRT,
previously known as
BREGREXBRAF)
ERRGAEXRHERDA W& R ERAA
(AIBRERRGAEEXERAR)Y H Shares Interest in 226,200,000 (L) - 34.59% (L) 25.70% (L)
Hi% controlled
carporation
R EEER
HEC (Hong Kong) Sales Co., Limited®* H Shares Beneficial owner 226,200,000 (L) - 34.59% (L) 25.70% (L)
EERGRHERRDA 2 HAR ERBBA
Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Domestic Shares  Interest in 226,200,000 (L) - 100% (L) 25.70% (L)
Co., Ltd. *2 NE R controlled
R MEGLEZRRERAA R corporation
REREERER
H Shares Interest in 248,015,200 (L) - 37.93% (L) 28.18% (L)
HA% controlled
corporation
REREERER
Shaoguan Xinyuneng Industrial Domestic Shares  Interest in 226,200,000 (L) - 100% (L) 25.70% (L)
Investment Company Limited 2 REK controlled
BBMBREEREABRLA? corporation
REREERER
H Shares Interest in 248,015,200 (L) - 37.93% (L) 28.18% (L)
HA% controlled
corporation
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Types of Shares
R13 &R

Capacity
54

Number of
Shares/
underlying
Shares held
(shares)

ARG/
HERHEE
(®)

Number of
underlying
shares held
under equity
derivatives

(shares)

URA {4
IARE
HBERHHE

(B

Approximate
percentage of
relevant class

of share capital

REERRA
HBNEIL
(%)

Approximate
percentage of
total issued
share capital

BRTRAAH
HENEI
(%)

Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County
Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd.?

AREREREBRETEEERAR?

Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Xinjing
Technology Development Ca., Ltd.?

HRERE BRI ERABRAF?

Ms. GUO Meilan®
PigER LS

Mr. ZHANG Yushual®
RERLALS

Ms. HUA Xiaoyi”
£E-%t

(L) — Long position

(S) — Short position

Domestic Shares

NER

H Shares
H%

Domestic Shares

NER

H Shares
H%

Domestic Shares

NER

H Shares
H%

Domestic Shares

NER

H Shares
H%

Domestic Shares

NER

H Shares
Hif

Interest in
controlled
corporation

R EE RS

Interest in
controlled
corporation

R EE RS

Interest in
controlled
corporation

R EE RS

Interest in
controlled
corporation

R EE RS

Interest in
controlled
corporation

R EE RS

Interest in
controlled
corporation

R EE RS

Interest in
controlled
corporation

R EE RS

Interest in
controlled
corporation

R EE RS

Interest in
controlled
corporation

R EE RS

Interest in
controlled
corporation

R EE RS

226,200,000 (L)

248,015,200 (L)

226,200,000 (L)

248,015,200 (L)

226,200,000 (L)

248,015,200 (L)

226,200,000 (L)

248,015,200 (L)

226,200,000 (L)

248,015,200 (L)

®

©
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100% (L)

37.93% (L)

100% (L)

37.93% (L)

100% (L)

37.93% (L)

100% (L)

37.93% (L)

100% (L)

37.93% (L)

25.70% (L)

28.18% (L)

25.70% (L)

28.18% (L)

25.70% (L)

28.18% (L)

25.70% (L)

28.18% (L)

25.70% (L)

28.18% (L)
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The calculation is based on the total number of 879,967,700 shares
in issue of the Company as at 31 December 2023, comprising
226,200,000 Domestic Shares and 653,767,700 H Shares.

Notes:

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Mr. TANG Xinfa is a director of Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd..

The shareholding information of the Shareholders as at 31 December 2023 are
based on the information recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 352 of the SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd. directly
owned 24.13% equity interest in Guangdong HEC Technology Holding Co., Ltd.
and Guangdong HEC Technology Holding Co., Ltd. (which directly held 21,815,200
H Shares) was a controlled corporation of Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development
Co., Ltd.; and Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd. indirectly owned
14.38% equity interest in Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd.* (&R R[5 )¢ 54 0%
5 7 MR A 7], previously known as & 3 B [5 ¢ 22 % 5 R A @) and HEC (Hong
Kong) Sales Co., Limited (which directly held 226,200,000 H Shares) is wholly-
owned by Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd.* (&3 35 )¢ B2 (5 B R A &,
previously known as & 3 5[5 % 22 % B R 2 7]) (a controlled corporation of
Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd.). Therefore, Shenzhen HEC
Industrial Development Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Guangdong HEC Technology Holding Co., Ltd. and HEC (Hong Kong) Sales Co.,
Limited (248,015,200 H Shares in total).

Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd. owned
42.34% equity interest in Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd. and
58.00% equity interest in Shaoguan Xinyuneng Industrial Investment Company
Limited, which owned 27.00% equity interest in Shenzhen HEC Industrial
Development Co., Ltd., therefore Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Yuneng
Electric Industrial Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested in the Shares which are
interested by Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd..

Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Xinjing Technology Development Co., Ltd. owned
30.66% equity interest in Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd. and
42.00% equity interest in Shaoguan Xinyuneng Industrial Investment Company
Limited, which owned 27.00% equity interest in Shenzhen HEC Industrial
Development Co., Ltd., therefore Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Xinjing
Technology Development Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested in the Shares which
are interested by Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd..

FEDIREBRAARR-ZZEZ=F+=H
=+ — B/ EITIRM 4%81879,967,700
% 18 )+ 2 3% 226,200,000 f% A & f% &
653,767,700 B H A& o

i}

2y

BHBEEERRITREAEEERARAA
MEF -

BRER-Z-ZF+-_A=+—BHHERER
THIRE AR AR R EH R E 156125 352168
FHERELMATCERNER -

RZZE-_=F+_-_A=+—8 FITEREX
BEHRERAFEEZHEERES L RHRE
RE A% 15 B BR A R 24.13% A% Az - M ERE
BB EEREOBRAR (HEEESA
21,815,200 HiR) AFEIITREE K EEEE
BRARMZELAE  URFITREREE
BRAERAAEERBERRGLEERNE
RARI(AIBABERRGXEXBR DA
14.38% A HERS - TER BB EERN AR
AR (AIBABERRGAEEARAT - AF
NHRSHEEERARARMNIELE) 2
EMEEBRGHAHEARAR (HEERA
226,200,000 & HAR) - Ht - RN T RIGHE
¥ERARAFER AN ERRSG X BHRIZER
B BRARIRBERGLIEEARAREA
H 1D (& $£248,015,200 i H %) FRiE A HERE -

WREGEAGEEETELARATRAR
NTRBEHEEERBMR A AL42.34% R A #
EREARATEREERERBR AR (i
BFRYIMEBE K EEERESR AR 27.00% 8
ANHEER) 58.00% AR A HE = - B UL FLRE K A8
BEEETEEBRAFAEE AR RITRRS
AREEHRBBRABEFORD P EEEL -

IRERB ARG T ANEERARARERR
B S  E 33 E AR 2 7]30.66% % AN 4
wREARATEEEERERR AR (A
ARITRGHAEEERAR DA 27.00%K
AHEE) 42.00% R A M= - EULIURE R 808
FHRREREBRAFREANRYTRS
KEXBRBBRARNFEEORND R EEEL -



REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

3. Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd.* (& 8 8 [5 ¢ 52 2 j5 15 A R A 7, previously
known as EE R 5 % AR 2 ) pledged 226,200,000 Domestic Shares to
a third-party lender as collateral for the loan provided to it by the third-party
lender.

4, HEC (Hong Kong) Sales Co., Limited pledged 226,200,000 H Shares to a third-
party lender as collateral for the loan provided to Sunshine Lake Pharma by the
third-party lender.

5. As at 31 December 2023, Ms. Guo Meilan (“Ms. Guo”) owned 74.63% equity
interest in Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Xinjing Technology Development Co.,
Ltd., therefore Ms. Guo is deemed to be interested in the Shares which are
interested by Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Xinjing Technology Development
Co., Ltd..

As at 31 December 2023, Ms. Guo owned 72.11% equity interest in Ruyuan Yao
Autonomous County Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd., therefore Ms. Guo is
deemed to be interested in the Shares which are interested by Ruyuan Yao
Autonomous County Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd..

6. As at 31 December 2023, Mr. ZHANG Yushuai owned 27.59% equity interest in
Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd., therefore
Mr. ZHANG Yushuai is deemed to be interested in the Shares which are interested
by Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd..

7. Ms. Hua Xiaoyi is the spouse of Mr. Zhang Yushuai and, therefore, is deemed to
be interested in the Shares which are interested by Mr. Zhang Yushuai under the
SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors
were not aware of any interests or short positions owned by any
persons (other than the Directors, Supervisors or chief executive of
the Company) in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company
which are required to be disclosed to the Company pursuant to
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which are required to be
recarded in the register of the Company required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO.
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EREWE

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of all or
any substantial part of our business was entered into by the
Company or existed in 2023.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has conducted certain non-exempt connected

transactions during the year of 2023.

Pursuant to Rule 8(1) of Appendix D2 of the Listing Rules, the issuers
are required to disclose details of connected transactions that are
not exempted from the annual reporting requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in accordance with Rule 14A.71.
Details of the non-exempt connected transaction of the Company
entered into during the year ended 31 December 2023 is as follows:

On 23 December 2022, the Company (as the transferor), Shenzhen
HEC Industrial (as the transferee) and Sunshine Lake Pharma (being
the target company) entered into an equity transfer agreement,
pursuant to which the Company agreed to transfer and Shenzhen
HEC Industrial agreed to acquire the capital contribution in the
amount of RMB27,720,405 (representing 9.9134% of equity interest)
of Sunshine Lake Pharma held by the Company at a consideration of
RMB2,312,319,650.
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The Disposal aims to address the cross-shareholding formed
between Sunshine Lake Pharma and the Company for clarity of
equity interest of both parties, thus to facilitate the business
operation and development of both parties in the future. The
Company proposes to use the proceeds from the disposal of the
Target Equity for replenishment of working capital of the Company,
thereby further improving the profitability of the Company.

Sunshine Lake Pharma is entitled to control the exercise of
approximately 51.41% of the voting rights of the Company and is
therefore a controlling Shareholder and a connected person of the
Company. Shenzhen HEC Industrial is the holding company of
Sunshine Lake Pharma. Therefore, as an associate of Sunshine Lake
Pharma, Shenzhen HEC Industrial constitutes a connected person of
the Company by virtue of being the holding company of the
controlling Shareholder of the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions between the
Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial constitute connected
transactions of the Company.

Since the highest applicable percentage ratio (as defined in the
Listing Rules) in respect of the Equity Transfer Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder exceeds 25% but is lower
than 75%, the Equity Transfer Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder constitute a major transaction of the
Company and is subject to the reporting, announcement and
Independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter 14
of the Listing Rules. The abovementioned transactions were
approved by the Independent Shareholders at the 2023 first
extraordinary general meeting convened and held on 28 March
2023.

All conditions precedents under the Equity Transfer Agreement have
been fulfilled on 27 June 2023, the Company has received the
Consideration under the Equity Transfer Agreement in full and the
completion has taken place on 27 June 2023. Upon the completion,
the Company ceased to hold any interest in Sunshine Lake Pharma.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 23
December 2022, 28 March 2023 and 27 June 2023 and the circular
of the Company dated 10 March 2023 for details.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

The Group has conducted certain non-exempt continuing connected

FREERS

AEEBR_Z_=FRETTETHHAR

transactions during the year of 2023: REBERS :
Actual
Annual caps transaction
for 2023  amountin 2023
ZEIZHE RIEZZHEH
FELR BBREXZEH
Continuing connected transactions Connected persons RMB’000 RMB’000
REFREXS BEAL AREET T ARETT
1 Leasing and Other Services Framework Agreement  Shenzhen HEC Industrial 22,383 20,944
MEREMRBERTZ ARG HE X
2 APIs and Pharmaceutical Products Sales Framework Shenzhen HEC Industrial 30,819 14,203
Agreement
RE BN #m i EER RS ARG HE X
3 Energy Purchase Framework Agreement Shenzhen HEC Industrial 51,340 51,339
AR BIER B Z RYNRGHERE
4 APIs Purchase Agreement Shenzhen HEC Industrial 58,946 46,575
REI B R 75 AYIRFGHE X
5 Packaging and Production Materials Purchase Shenzhen HEC Industrial 48,600 46,019
Framework Agreement
B REEMRIRBERG 2 ARG HE X
6 Equipment Purchase and Civil Construction Shenzhen HEC Industrial 27,050 22,573
Framework Agreement
REBENLEBIERGZ ARG HE X
7 Entrusted Processing Framework Agreement Shenzhen HEC Industrial 105,806 96,397
ZEEMMTIER W2 RYNRGHEXE
8 Equipment Sales Framework Agreement Shenzhen HEC Industrial 30,497 -
RIBHEERGZ RINRGHEE
9 Entrusted Production and Inspection Services Shenzhen HEC Industrial 105,230 60,790
Framework Agreement
LA E R BRI IER G Z RINRGHE
10 Drug R&D Pipeline Cooperation Project Sunshine Lake Pharma 175,000 80,201
Framework Agreement
EREERAEEBERGS BRRG L EEE
11 Sharing Agreement Sunshine Lake Pharma 2,000 23,036
7K BRRG G
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Leasing and Other Services Framework Agreement

On 10 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the Leasing and Other Services
Framework Agreement, pursuant to which Shenzhen HEC
Industrial will provide leasing of office buildings, warehouse,
inspection and testing services, conference accommaodation
and other services to the Company during the three years
ended/ending 31 December 2025. The proposed annual caps
under the Leasing and Other Services Framework Agreement
for the three years ended/ending 31 December 2025 are
RMB12,383,300, RMB12,999,500 and RMB13,003,300,
respectively.

In light of the recovering market sentiment in 2023, the Group
has initiated more academic conferences and marketing events
in order to capture the market opportunities. Accordingly, the
expenses in rental for venue for hosting the relevant academic
conferences and marketing events increased. After taking into
consideration the marketing plan and conference schedule of
the Group in the fourth quarter of 2023, on 30 October 2023,
the Board proposed an upward adjustment of RMB10,000,000
for the annual cap under the Leasing and QOther Services
Framework Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023.
Hence, the revised annual cap under the Leasing and Other
Services Framework Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2023 was RMB22,383,300.
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APIs and Pharmaceutical Products Sales Framework
Agreement

On 10 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the APIs and Pharmaceutical Products
Sales Framework Agreement, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to sell APIs such as Esomeprazole Magnesium,
Oseltamivir Phosphate, Olanzapine, Entacapone and
Febuxostat to Shenzhen HEC Industrial during the three years
ended/ending 31 December 2025. The proposed annual caps
under the APIs and Pharmaceutical Products Sales Framework
Agreement for each of three years ended/ending 31 December
2025 are RMB18,000,000, RMB20,000,000 and RMB22,000,000,

respectively.

After taking into consideration the production needs of the
Group, on 30 October 2023, the Board proposed an upward
adjustment of RMB12,818,500 for the annual cap under the
APIs and Pharmaceutical Products Sales Framework Agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Hence, the revised
annual cap under the APIs and Pharmaceutical Products Sales
Framework Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023
was RMB30,818,500.

Energy Purchase Framework Agreement

On 27 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the Energy Purchase Framework
Agreement, pursuant to which the Company agreed to
purchase electricity and steam power required for its
production from Shenzhen HEC Industrial during the three
years ended/ending 31 December 2025. The proposed annual
caps under the Energy Purchase Framework Agreement for
each of the three years ended/ending 31 December 2025 are
RMB50,400,000, RMB56,750,000 and RMB56,750,000,
respectively.
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It was expected that the Group’s demand for energy would be
higher in the fourth quarter of 2023 in light of the historical
energy consumption pattern with higher demand for electricity
in winter, and the fact that the insulin factory of the Group has
commenced production. Accordingly, to satisfy the Group’s
energy demand for the year ended 31 December 2023, on 30
October 2023, the Board proposed an upward adjustment of
RMB940,000 for the annual cap under the Energy Purchase
Framework Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023.
Hence, the revised annual cap under the Energy Purchase
Framework Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023
was RMB51,340,000.

APIs Purchase Agreement

On 27 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the APIs Purchase Agreement, pursuant
to which the Company agreed to purchase certain APIs such as
Aripiprazole, Rivaroxaban, Escitalopram Oxalate,
Clarithromycin from Shenzhen HEC Industrial during the three
years ended/ending 31 December 2025. The proposed annual
caps under the APIs Purchase Agreement for each of the three
years ended/ending 31 December 2025 are RMB38,946,300,

RMB53,786,800 and RMB75,442,100, respectively.

In order to satisfy the Group’s production needs for the fourth
quarter of 2023, on 30 October 2023, the Board proposed an
upward adjustment of RMB18,411,800 for the annual cap
under the APIs Purchase Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2023. Hence, the revised annual cap under the APIs
Purchase Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023
was RMB57,358,100.
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In order to satisfy the Group’s growing production needs and
expected future expansion in the output level of the Group, on
7 November 2023, the Board further proposed an upward
adjustment of RMB20,000,000 for the annual caps under the
APls Purchase Agreement for the years ended/ending 31
December 2023, 2024 and 2025, respectively. Hence, the
revised annual caps under the APIs Purchase Agreement for
the years ended/ending 31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025
are RMB58,946,300, RMB73,786,800 and RMBS5,442,100,

respectively.

Packaging and Production Materials Purchase Framework
Agreement

On 27 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the Packaging and Production Materials
Purchase Framework Agreement, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to purchase packaging materials for
packaging and production of the drugs manufactured by the
Group from Shenzhen HEC Industrial during the three years
ended/ending 31 December 2025. The proposed annual caps
under the Packaging and Production Materials Purchase
Framework Agreement for each of the three years ended/
ending 31 December 2025 are RMB40,600,000,
RMB40,600,000 and RMB40,600,000, respectively.

In order to satisfy the Group’s production needs for the fourth
quarter of 2023, on 30 October 2023, the Board proposed an
upward adjustment of RMB3,380,000 for the annual cap under
the Packaging and Production Materials Purchase Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023. Hence, the
revised annual cap under the Packaging and Production
Materials Purchase Framework Agreement for the year ended
31 December 2023 was RMB43,980,000.

(5

BREMAEERIZEENEET K
RAEBEFBEAMRRESKE
R-ZE-_=F+—HtRH EFg
ﬁfigﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ%%%‘éz

= ZENFERZ-ZZT-R
¢+:ﬂ:+fatigmigi
R oRBHMmMERABAREK
20,000,0007C ° ¥ bt + R B} B2 3R AR
WEBE_ZT_=F  _ZT_NF
FP—E-_RF+_A=+—HBIEHF
EMKETFELRSINABARE
58,946,300 7T * A X ¥ 73,786,800
TR AR 95,442,1007T °

B REEMRIRBER TGS

RZEBE_=ZF_A=-++tH &R
AIELRINRG N B EI L BEM R E

EMBRBERBHE Bl AR
ARERBE-_Z-_RAF+=A
=t —BUE=EFEHERFRIIER

BAEEREBEMBUBERE
EAEEEENESD B M&EF
MEBRBERBERETEHZE

:£¢+:ﬁ:+f5¢:m¢g
EFENEEFELRANABARE
40,600,000 + A R # 40,600,000
T AR ™ 40,600,000 7T ©

BENEAEER T _=FFNZE
V%EF%K'%:%:E¢+H
=TH EFEggZeMREEM
HREBEEERHZHEZE_T=_=F

+TZA=T—ALFENFE LR
mtﬁﬁvdiw3%0w0ﬁoﬁ

BMEEEMBREBESLDZ
%i_gz—¢+:ﬂ:+f5¢
FERNKEITFELRAARE
43,980,000 7T °



(6)

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

With reference to the growing production capacity and
expected future expansion of output level of the Group, in
order to satisfy the Group’s production needs, on 7 November
2023, the Board further proposed an upward adjustment of
RMB8,000,000 for the annual caps under the Packaging and
Production Materials Purchase Framework Agreement for the
years ended/ending 31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025.
Hence, the revised annual caps under the Packaging and
Production Materials Purchase Framework Agreement for the
years ended/ending 31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025 are
RMB48,600,000, RMB48,600,000 and RMB48,600,000,

respectively.

Equipment Purchase and Civil Construction Framework
Agreement

On 27 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the Equipment Purchase and Civil
Construction Framewaork Agreement, pursuant to which the
Company agreed to purchase certain equipment and civil
construction services from Shenzhen HEC Industrial during the
three years ended/ending 31 December 2025. The proposed
annual caps under the Equipment Purchase and Civil
Construction Framework Agreement for each of the three
years ended/ending 31 December 2025 are RMB27,050,000,
RMB7,900,000 and RMB7,900,000, respectively.
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Entrusted Processing Framework Agreement

On 27 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the Entrusted Processing Framework
Agreement, pursuant to which the Company agreed to
purchase processing services for its certain pharmaceutical
products, including Olmesartan Tablets, Moxifloxacin Tablets,
Clarithromycin Tablets, Aripiprazole Tablets, Levofloxacin
Tablets, Rivaroxaban Tablets, Duloxetine Enteric-coated
Capsules, Escitalopram Oxalate Tablets, Xadiafil Tablets,
Aripiprazole Orally Disintegrating Tablets, Entacapone Tablets,
Rongliflozin and other APIs from Shenzhen HEC Industrial
during the three years ended/ending 31 December 2025. The
proposed annual caps under the Entrusted Processing
Framework Agreement for each of the three years ended/
ending 31 December 2025 are RMBS94,805,500,
RMB108,832,000 and RMB139,468,200, respectively.

In order to satisfy the need of Processing Services to meet high
market demand of certain pharmaceutical products, on 7
November 2023, the Board proposed an upward adjustment of
RMB11,000,000 for the annual cap under the Entrusted
Processing Framework Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2023. Hence, the revised annual cap under the
Entrusted Processing Framework Agreement for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was RMB105,805,500.

Equipment Sales Framework Agreement

On 27 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the Equipment Sales Framework
Agreement, pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell
specific pharmaceutical production and inspection equipment
(including Glatter fluidized bed), quality inspection equipment
and other equipment to Shenzhen HEC Industrial. The proposed
annual cap under the Equipment Sales Framework Agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2023 was RMB30,496,500.

)

(8

EEE N THELR 58

RZE-_=ZF_A=-++H &R
AR NG BRI EZFEMT
ERGZE B ARFRERE
AT -_RAF+_A=+—HBI1t=
EFESHEmARIEG L EERE
AETER(RERESERR  EF
WER CRNBERR - FMIRWF
TRRDVER FEKDME - ER
ATEARE BRYAAKEHS
Ao ANIER PSR A AR
B-RMR R FEEERRE
R B BE N TR - ZEMT
ERBHFETIHE_Z-_RF+=
A=+ BLE=ZAFEZSFNEH
FE LR 25 A AR 94,805,500
7T~ AR #108,832,0007T B A RH#E
139,468,200 T °

BEMMIREE KRS T 5
MHEmEBEER RZTZ=F
+—AtR EBEgEHEZAMNT
ERpEEE—_T=_=F+=A
=+—BLEFENFELRA LA
;AR #11,000,0007C ° #E Ut - &
ANIEREHEREE T =4
T A=+ HALFENEERF
g FR A A R# 105,805,500 7T °

RBHEELR R

RZE-_=ZF_A=++H AR
AR R EEITUREBHE
ERWHZE Bt ARRRAERR
INRGEHEXHERTESHEER
BOARE (RERNERLR) &
ERAEFTERE - RBHEESER
BEBEATHRE-_ZT_=%+=-A4
=T—HLEFENEZFELRA
AR # 30,496,500 7T °



(9

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Entrusted Production and Inspection Services Framework
Agreement

On 27 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the Entrusted Production and
Inspection Services Framework Agreement, pursuant to which
the Company agreed to provide production and inspection
services to Shenzhen HEC Industrial during the three years
ended/ending 31 December 2025. The scope of the entrusted
production and inspection services includes provision of
production, inspection and testing services to Dong An Tai,
Dong An Qiang, Dong An Rui, Dong Tong Shen, other generic
drugs, other new drugs, insulin degludec/insulin aspart, insulin
degludec/liraglutide injection and intermediates of generic
drugs. The proposed annual caps under the Entrusted
Production and Inspection Services Framework Agreement for
each of the three years ended/ending 31 December 2025 are
RMB105,230,000, RMB68,992,000 and RMB49,250,000,
respectively.

As at the date of entering into the agreements mentioned
under items (1) to (9) above, Sunshine Lake Pharma is entitled
to control the exercise of approximately 51.41% of voting
rights in the Company, and is therefore a controlling
Shareholder and a connected person of the Company.
Shenzhen HEC Industrial is the holding company of the
Sunshine Lake Pharma. Therefore, as an associate of Sunshine
Lake Pharma, Shenzhen HEC Industrial constitutes a connected
person of the Company by virtue of being the holding company
of the controlling Shareholder of the Company pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Therefore, such transactions
between the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial
constituted connected transactions of the Company.
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(10) Drug R&D Pipeline Cooperation Project Framework Agreement  (10) SRR ELRSIEEEHERGE

114

On 29 November 2023, the Company and Sunshine Lake
Pharma entered into a Drug R&D Pipeline Cooperation Project
Framework Agreement in relation to the proposed cooperation
between the Company and Sunshine Lake Pharma on the R&D
and commercialization of the undergoing and future R&D
pipeline cooperation projects of Sunshine Lake Pharma in the
PRC (the “Framework Agreement”). Pursuant to the
Framework Agreement, the Company and Sunshine Lake
Pharma agreed to cooperate in a series of drug R&D projects to
jointly carry out the R&D of (i) 17 innovative drugs and (ii)
small molecule generic drug (“small molecule generic drug”)
pipeline projects (tentatively 20 drugs) (the “R&D pipeline
cooperation projects”) in China. Sunshine Lake Pharma will
formulate the R&D plan and be solely responsible for the R&D
of the R&D pipeline cooperation projects. The Company will
provide financial support solely for the clinical stage R&D
expenses incurred by Sunshine Lake Pharma in the R&D
pipeline cooperation projects (the “R&D pipeline cooperation
expenses”). Pursuant to the Framework Agreement, the
Company will provide maximum investment amount of R&D
pipeline cooperation expenses for (i) innovative drugs of
RMB150,000,000, RMB400,000,000, RMB400,000,000 and
RMB250,000,000; and (ii) small molecule generic drugs of
RMB25,000,000, RMB40,000,000, RMB40,000,000 and
RMB10,000,000, for each of the period from the effective date
to 31 December 2023, the two years ending 31 December
2024 and 2025, and the period from 1 January 2026 to the
expiry date of the term of the Framewaork Agreement.

As at the date of entering into the Framework Agreement,
Sunshine Lake Pharma has the right to control the exercise of
approximately 51.41% of the voting rights in the Company, and
is therefore a controlling Shareholder and a connected person
of the Company. Therefore, the above transactions between
the Company and Sunshine Lake Pharma constituted
connected transactions of the Company.
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(11) Sharing Agreement

On 26 December 2022, the Company and Sunshine Lake
Pharma entered into the sharing agreement (the “Sharing
Agreement”), pursuant to which Sunshine Lake Pharma agreed
to distribute to the Company its revenues or profits generated
from the sale of designated pharmaceutical products within
the PRC as authorised by the Company for a term from 1
January 2023 to 31 December 2024. The original annual caps
under the Sharing Agreement for the year ended 31 December
2023 and the year ending 31 December 2024 were RMB2.5
million and RMB2.5 million, respectively. As the highest
applicable percentage ratio of annual caps of transaction
contemplated under the Sharing Agreement was less than 5%
and the total consideration is less than HKD3 million, the
transaction contemplated under the Sharing Agreement was
fully exempted under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules. On 26
April 2024, the Board resolved to revise the annual cap for the
year ending 31 December 2024 under the Sharing Agreement
from RMB2.5 million to RMB70.0 million (the “Revised
Proposed Annual Cap”). As the highest applicable percentage
ratio (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Revised Proposed
Annual Cap under the Sharing Agreement is more than 0.1%
but less than 5%, the transaction contemplated under the
Sharing Agreement is subject to the reporting, announcement
and annual review requirements but exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 26
April 2024 for details.
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EESHE

Review by and Confirmation of Independent Non-executive
Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions, and confirmed that such
transactions were:

(i)  carried out in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(i) made on normal or better commercial terms (as defined in the
Listing Rules); and

(iliy  carried out according to the terms in the relevant transaction
agreements, which are fair and reasonable, and in the interests
of the Shareholders as a whole.

External auditor’s report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (revised),
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his qualified
letter containing his findings and conclusions to the board of the
directors in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group on page 106 to 115 of this Annual Report in
accordance with Listing Rule 14A.56. The auditor concluded that,
except for the Sharing Agreement which were not approved by the
board of the directors and the transactions under it for which the
annual caps were not disclosed:

(@) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the continuing connected transactions have not
been approved by the Company’s board of directors;

(b)  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes
them to believe that the transactions were not, in all material
respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;
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(c) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing such transactions; and

(d)  with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing
connected transactions, nothing has come to their attention
that causes them to believe that the continuing connected
transactions have exceeded the relevant annual cap.

Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out in
Note 30 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. Apart from the
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions as
disclosed in this Annual Report, none of the related party
transactions constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
which are subject to announcement or independent shareholders’
approval requirements. The Company has complied with disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
respect of the connected transactions and the continuing connected
transactions as set out in this Annual Report.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The Company had entered into a non-competition agreement on 6
December 2015 with HEC Pharm, Linzhi HEC Pharmaceutical
Investment Co., Ltd. (M2 R[5 ¥ B %15 & B R A 7)), Dongguan
HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd. (R=M R L EEEEBR
‘A &]), Shenzhen HEC Industrial, Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County
Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd. (FLREMR B A G EEETE X
A BR 2 Al), Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Xinjing Technology
Development Co., Ltd. (FLIREKR B A% R B E R EGR A7),
Mr. ZHANG Zhongneng (5&# #2) and Ms. GUO Meilan (ZB#& ).

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
compliance of the Non-competition Agreement and had confirmed
that Mr. Zhang Yushuai, the Then Controlling Shareholders and their
subsidiaries have not been in breach of the Non-competition
Undertaking during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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AMENDMENT TO NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT

As the Company and Sunshine Lake Pharma (which was a controlled
subsidiary of the Controlling Shareholders of the Company then by
the time entering into the 2021 Non-Competition Agreement (as
defined below)) will make mare specific arrangements in relation to
the business cooperation, the relevant contents of the 2015 Non-
Competition Agreement will no longer be applicable to Sunshine
Lake Pharma. Therefore, the Controlling Shareholders of the
Company proposed to amend the 2015 Non-Competition Agreement
to stipulate that the relevant contents of the 2015 Non-Competition
Agreement will no longer be applicable to Sunshine Lake Pharma. On
19 March 2021, the Company (i) entered into the 2021 Non-
Competition Agreement with HEC Pharm, Yichang HEC
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* (EE R @B EEF R A R)) (formerly
known as Linzhi HEC Pharmaceutical Investment Co., Ltd.* (#E &
b5t B8 & B BR A 7)), Dongguan HEC Industrial Development Co.,
Ltd.*x (REM RSB A EEZEREBR A F), Shenzhen HEC Industrial,
Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd.*
(FUR¥EEBRBEEEFEZEBMRAA]), Ruyuan Yao Autonomous
County Xinjing Technology Development Co., Ltd.* (FLJR¥E 1% B4 &
FEREZERE AR A E]), Ms. Guo Meilan (3846 ) and Mr. Zhang
Yushuai (3R & fb) (the “2021 Non-Competition Agreement”),
pursuant to which, the provisions involving Sunshine Lake Pharma
(as a controlled subsidiary of the controlling shareholders of the
Company) were excluded from the 2021 Non-Competition
Agreement. Other terms of the 2021 Non-Competition Agreement
remain the same as the terms of the 2015 Non-Competition
Agreement; (ii) entered into the Sunshine Lake Pharma Non-
Competition Agreement with Sunshine Lake Pharma (the “Sunshine
Lake Pharma Non-Competition Agreement”), pursuant to which, the
Company and Sunshine Lake Pharma (a) undertook and procured
their respective subsidiaries to undertake certain scope of non-
competition and commitments with the counterparty and its
subsidiaries; and (b) agreed to cooperate in sales of pharmaceutical
products within the PRC; and (iii) entered into the Gift Agreement on
Equity Interests with Shenzhen HEC Industrial (the “Gift Agreement
on Equity Interests”, together with the 2021 Non-Competition
Agreement and the Sunshine Lake Pharma Non-Competition
Agreement, collectively the “Revised Non-Competition
Agreements”), pursuant to which, the controlling shareholders of
the Company intended to transfer 10% of the equity of Sunshine
Lake Pharma to compensate the Company through themselves or a
third party designated by them.
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On 25 June 2021, the then shareholders of the Company (other than
Guangdong HEC) approved the Revised Non-Competition Agreements
at the 2021 first extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

On 10 August 2021, the Company received a notice from Shenzhen
HEC Industrial that it has designated its controlling subsidiary,
Yichang HEC Research Co., Ltd.* (B & RF5 ¢ B2 B R A 7)) (being
the direct controlling shareholder of Sunshine Lake Pharma), to
transfer 10% of the equity of Sunshine Lake Pharma to the Company.
As at the date of this Annual Report, Sunshine Lake Pharma has
completed the relevant registration procedures in respect of the
aforesaid change in shareholding interests with the market
regulation department.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 19 March 2021, 25 June 2021 and 10 August 2021 and the
circular of the Company dated 28 May 2021. On 25 June 2021, the
shareholders of the Company (other than Guangdong HEC) approved
the Revised Non-Competition Agreements at the 2021 first
extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

On 10 August 2021, the Company received a notice from Shenzhen
HEC Industrial that it has designated its controlling subsidiary,
Yichang HEC Research Co., Ltd.* (B & RF5 ¢ ZW 2B R A a)) (being
the direct controlling sharehalder of Sunshine Lake Pharma), to
transfer 10% of the equity of Sunshine Lake Pharma to the Company.
As at the date of this Annual Report, Sunshine Lake Pharma has
completed the relevant registration procedures in respect of the
aforesaid change in shareholding interests with the market
regulation department.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 19 March 2021, 25 June 2021 and 10 August 2021 and the
circular of the Company dated 28 May 2021.
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NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 26 April

2024 in relation to the Sharing Agreement entered into between the

Company and Sunshine Lake Pharma on 26 December 2022.

Sunshine Lake Pharma has complied with the notification procedures

under the Sunshine Lake Pharma Non-Competition Agreement in

respect of the sale of the pharmaceutical products designated

under the Sharing Agreement. The Independent Board Committee

agreed the sale of the pharmaceutical products designated under

the Sharing Agreement to be conducted by Sunshine Lake Pharma

after assessing and considering amongst other things, the following

reasons:

0)

(iD)

@iii)

The centralized tender business generally has low bid winning
price and thus lower profits. Due to limited sales resources of
the Company which are usually allocated to business with
higher profits, the Company is less engaged in the centralized
tender business. Sunshine Lake Pharma agrees to allocate a
portion of its revenue or all profits (whichever is higher) to the
Company, and therefore it is in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole to allow Sunshine Lake Pharma to
engage in the centralized tender business;

Based on the estimate of the Company’s production capacity
and considering that Sunshine Lake Pharma agrees to allocate
a portion of its revenue or all profits (whichever is higher) to
the Company under the Sharing Agreement, the transaction
under the Sharing Agreement enable the Company to benefit
from the sharing arrangement when the production capacity
of the Company is relatively saturated. Thus, it is in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole to allow Sunshine
Lake Pharma to engage in the sales of the designated

pharmaceutical products under the Sharing Agreement; and

Potential revenues and earnings from the sale of the
designated pharmaceutical products and whether the
designated pharmaceutical products fall within the Company’s
focused field of treatment.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
compliance of Sunshine Lake Pharma Non-competition Agreement
and had confirmed that Sunshine Lake Pharma has not been in
breach of the terms of Sunshine Lake Pharma Non-competition
Agreement during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 26 April 2024
for details.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total amount of
procurement from the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted
for 29.88% of the total amount of procurement of the year. Among
the five largest suppliers for the year of 2023, Sunshine Lake
Pharma, Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Shaoguan HEC
Packaging and Printing Co., Ltd. and Yichang HEC Power Plant are
subsidiaries of Shenzhen HEC Industrial; the single largest supplier
was Sunshine Lake Pharma and our purchase from that company
accounted for 15.37% of the total purchase amount during the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total amount of sales to
the five largest customers of the Group accounted for 26.24% of the
total revenue of sales of the year. The sales to the largest customers
accounted for 13.12% of the total revenue of sales of the year.

Save as disclosed above, during the year of 2023, to the knowledge
of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close associates, or
Shareholders of the Company (which, to the knowledge of the
Directors, owned more than 5% of the number of issued Shares of
the Company) had interests in the five largest suppliers or customers
of the Company.
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CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, at no time during the year of
2023 had the Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into any
contract of significance with the Controlling Shareholder or any of
its subsidiaries, nor had any contract of significance been entered
into for the services provided by the Controlling Shareholder or any

of its subsidiaries to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Please refer to the Note 5(b) to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for detailed information on the retirement and employee

benefits scheme.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

As a company listed on the Stock Exchange, the Company always
strives to maintain a high level of corporate governance and had
complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code as set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Compliance with the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide

The Company is committed to contributing to the sustainability of
the environment and maintaining a high standard of corporate social
governance essential for creating a framewark for motivating staff,
and contributes to the community in which we conduct our
businesses and creating a sustainable return to the Group. The
Company has complied with the provisions of the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix C2 of
the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company will upload the ESG Report as at 31 December 2023 to
the Stock Exchange and the Company website concurrently with this

annual report.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
a public float of no less than 25% of the issued shares during this
year and up to the latest practicable date prior to the date of issue
of this Annual Report, which was in line with the requirement under
the Listing Rules.

Proceeds from H Share Convertible Bonds

On 14 August 2018, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement the (“Subscription Agreement”) with certain entities
ultimately controlled by Blackstone Inc. (formerly known as The
Blackstone Group L.P.) (the “Blackstone Fund SPVs”), pursuant to
which, the Blackstone Fund SPVs have conditionally agreed to
subscribe for, and the Company has conditionally agreed to issue,
the H share convertible bonds with an aggregate principal amount of
US$400,000,000 (the “H Share Convertible Bonds”).

The H Share Convertible Bonds, which bear interest at the rate of
3.0% per annum and may be converted into 82,631,578 conversion
shares at the initial conversion price of HK$38 per share (assuming
full conversion of the H Share Convertible Bonds), representing
approximately 18.41% of the existing issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this Annual Report and approximately
15.55% of the total issued share capital as enlarged by the issue of
the conversion shares.

The proceeds from the issue of the H Share Convertible Bonds are
intended to be used for the purposes of the acquisition of drugs and
other pharmaceutical products (including APIs), capital expenditure
on production facilities, expansion of sales and distribution networks
and other purposes subject to the prior written consent of the
subscriber.
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The issue of H Share Convertible Bonds represents an excellent
opportunity for the Company to embrace market opportunities and
enhance its market positions in the pharmaceutical industry. At the
same time, the Group plans to tap this opportunity to introduce
Blackstone Inc. (formerly known as The Blackstone Group L.P.) and
its affiliated companies as a long-term strategic investor to help the
Company carry out drug acquisitions, advance its development
strategy, operation and management, strengthen international
cooperation, and improve corporate governance and investor
relations.

All the conditions precedent for the issue and subscription of the H
Share Convertible Bonds under the Subscription Agreement have
been fulfilled and that completion took place on 20 February 2019.

On 20 February 2019, the Company issued a tranche of 1,600 H
Share Convertible Bonds with an aggregate principal amount of
USD400,000,000. Each has a face value of USD250,000. The
Company has received the net proceeds from the issue of the H
Share Convertible Bands, after deduction of expenses payable in
connection with the issue of the H Share Convertible Bonds, of
approximately USD396.44 million, with net proceeds from each of
the H Share Convertible Bonds amounting to approximately
usD247,778.

On 5 June 2020, the conversion price of the H Share Convertible
Bonds has been adjusted from HK$38 per conversion share to HK$19
per conversion share as the Shareholders have approved the bonus
issue of shares at the 2019 annual general meeting. Based on the
total outstanding principal amount of the H Share Convertible Bonds
of USD400,000,000, the maximum number of shares that will be
issued upon conversion of all the outstanding bonds at the adjusted
canversion price is 165,263,156 shares.
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The conversion price was further adjusted to HK$14 per H Share
according to the adjusted net profit of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

Proceeds from the H Share Convertible Bonds had been used up fully
utilized during 2020.

During the Reporting Period, the Company implemented various
safeguard measures for repayment in accordance with the
Subscription Agreement. The Company fully paid interest to
Blackstone Fund SPVs on time, and there was no interest payment
default. The willingness to repay the debt was normal, which fully
protected the legitimate interests of Blackstone Fund SPVs.

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the instrument dated 20
February 2019 in respect of the Bonds (the “Bond Instrument” and
such terms and conditions, being the “Conditions”), the Company
may at any time and from time to time purchase the Bonds at any
price in the open market or otherwise. In accordance with the
Conditions, on 8 September 2022, the Company entered into a bond
purchase agreement with holders of the Bonds (the “Sellers”),
pursuant to which the Company agreed to purchase certain Bonds (i)
in the aggregate principal amount of US$35,337,821 from the Sellers
at the total purchase price of US$127,317,844, or (ii) in the
aggregate principal amount of US$110,675,641 from the Sellers at
the total purchase price of US$147,906,079. The total purchase
price was determined with reference to the calculation formula in
respect of Early Redemption Amount under the Bond Instrument.
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The Company entered into a bond purchase agreement the Sellers
on 13 January 2023, pursuant to which the Company agreed to
purchase certain Bonds (1) in the aggregate principal amount of
US$28,911,534 from the Sellers at the total purchase price of
US$40,000,000 on or before 31 January 2023 (the “First Tranche of
Repurchased Bonds”) ; and (2) in the aggregate principal amount of
US$43,118,778 from the Sellers at the total purchase price of
US$60,000,000 on or before 28 February 2023 (the “Second Tranche
of Repurchased Bonds”). The total purchase price was determined
after arm’s length negotiation between the Company and the
Sellers.

On 27 February 2023, the Company further entered into a
supplemental agreement with the Sellers in respect of the Second
Tranche of Repurchased Bonds (the “Supplemental Agreement”),
under which the Company and the Sellers agreed to revise the date
of repurchase of part of the Second Tranche of Repurchased Bonds.
Pursuant to the Supplemental Agreement, the Company agreed to
complete the repurchase of the Second Tranche of Repurchased
Bonds on or before 15 March 2023. The total purchase price for the
Second Tranche of Repurchased Bonds remained unchanged at
US$60,000,000.

0On 9 March 2023, the Company entered into a third bond purchase
agreement with the Sellers, pursuant to which the Company agreed
to purchase certain Bonds (i) in the aggregate principal amount of
US$38,547,623 from the Sellers at the total purchase price of
US$54,075,477 on or before 3 April 2023; and (ii) in the aggregate
principal amount of US$194,161,057 from the Sellers at the total
purchase price of US$278,191,332 on or before 30 June 2023 (the
“Partial Repurchase of Bonds”). The total purchase price for the
Partial Repurchase of Bonds was determined after arm’s length
negotiation between the Company and the Sellers.
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On 30 June 2023, the Company and the Sellers further entered into
a supplemental agreement to the third bond purchase agreement
(the “Further Supplemental Agreement”) in respect of the Second
Tranche of Repurchased Bonds under the Third Partial Repurchase of
Bonds, pursuant to which both parties agreed to change the
aggregate purchase price of the Second Tranche of Repurchased
Bonds from US$278,191,332 to US$263,191,332, and to complete
the repurchase of the Second Tranche of Repurchased Bonds on or
before 5 July 2023.

On 5 July 2023, the Company completed the repurchase under the
Further Supplemental Agreement. Upon completion, the principal of
the bonds has been fully repurchased, and the Sellers no longer has
any interests in the bonds and/or any rights arising therefrom.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 14 August
2018, 15 October 2018, 20 February 2019, 16 June 2020, 8
September 2022, 13 January 2023, 27 February 2023, S March
2023, 30 June 2023 and 5 July 2023 and the circular of the
Company dated 11 September 2018 for details.

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company was not
engaged in any litigation or arbitration of material importance and
no litigation or claim of material importance is known to the
Directors to be pending or threatened against the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee includes two independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr. TANG Jianxin and Ms. XIANG Ling and one non-
executive director, namely Mr. TANG Xinfa. With professional
qualification and experience in finance, Mr. TANG Jianxin was
appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to make independent
recommendations on the effectiveness of our financial reporting
procedures, internal control and risk management systems and
maintaining good relationship with external auditors of the Group,
so as to assist the Board, supervise the audit process and perform
other responsibilities and related duties assigned by the Board. The
Audit Committee will meet with the external auditors of the
Company and in-house auditors, and review their plans, internal
audit procedures, their results of audits and review of the risk
management and internal supervision system.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s 2023 annual results
announcement, the Annual Report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 prepared in
accordance with the IFRSs.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Company is committed to promoting the sustainable
development of the environment and the society. In recognition of
the potential climate impact due to manufacturing of
pharmaceutical products, the Company strives to enhance the
environmental performance of its pharmaceutical products
manufacturing and development through eco-friendly operational
measures as well as supporting a number of external charters with
regard to energy efficiency and carbon reduction. In addition, during
the Reporting Period, the Group had continually increased
investment in R&D, upgrading its technology, improved production
process, focused on the establishment of drug quality system,
extended the life cycle of pharmaceutical products and lowered the
cost in order to offer safe, efficient, affordable pharmaceutical
products and services. The Group constantly strengthened
environment protection, optimized the production process and
improved the utilization rate of the production facilities for the
purposes of energy saving, emission reduction and environment
protection. The Group emphasized harmonious development with
nature to protect the sustainable development of the environment.
The Group also impraved clean production as well as environmental
protection construction, and proactively supported environmental

protection and charitable matters in the community.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance with such
requirements could lead to the termination of operating licences.
The Group has been allocating system and staff resources to ensure
ongoing compliance with rules and regulations and to maintain
cordial working relationships with regulators effectively through
effective communications. During the year of 2023, the Group has
complied, to the best of our knowledge, with all relevant rules and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company, including
but not limited to the Company Law of the PRC, the Securities Law
of the PRC, the Code of Corporate Governance for Listed Companies,
the Listing Rules, Drug Administration Law of the PRC, the Measures
for the Administration of Drug Registration and the Good
Manufacture Practice of Drugs.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognizes that our employees, customers and
business associates are keys to our sustainable journey. We strive to
achieve corporate sustainability through engaging our employees,
providing quality services for our customers, collaborating with

business partners and supporting our community.

The Company places significant emphasis on human capital. The
Company provides a fair workplace, promoting non-discrimination
and diversity to our staff, together with competitive remuneration
and benefits, as well as a range of opportunities for career
advancement based on employees’ merits and performance. The
Company administers its employee health and safety management
system and ensures the adoption of the principles across the Group.
The Company provides regular trainings for staff to keep them
abreast of the latest developments in the market and industry, in
the form of both internal trainings and trainings provided by experts

from external organizations.

To enhance customer satisfaction and promote a customer-ariented
culture within the Company, we take ‘Customer First’ as one of our
core values. We value the feedback from customers through daily
communication, regular inspections and etc. We have also
established the mechanism about customer service, support and
complaints. When dealing with a customer complaint, we treat it as
an opportunity to improve our relationship with the customer,
addressing the concern in a timely manner and in accordance with

international standards.
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We believe that our suppliers are equally important in driving quality
delivery of our products. We proactively collaborate with our
business associates (including suppliers and contractors) to deliver
quality sustainable products and services. We have included certain
requirements in our standard tender documents. These
requirements include regulatory compliance, labour practices, anti-
corruption and other business ethics. We assure the performance of
our suppliers through supplier approval process and by conducting
factory audits and site visits and spot checks on the delivered goods

at site during the contractual periods.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 have been audited by KPMG who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the AGM.
A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as the Company’s
auditors will be proposed for the Shareholders’ approval at the AGM.
The Company did not change the auditor in the preceding three

years.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Summary of results of operation and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 4 in this
Annual Report.

On behalf of the Board

YiChang HEC ChangJiang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
TANG Xinfa

Chairman

Hubei, the PRC

28 March 2024
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In 2023, all members of the Board of Supervisors complied with the
requirement of the Company Law of the PRC, the Articles of
Assaciation, as well as relevant regulations to diligently and honestly
perform their duties. They independently exercised their power
under the law to ensure the standard operation of the Company and
protect the interests of the Company and the investors. The Board
of Supervisors supervised the Company’s operation plans, use of
proceeds from financing activities, connected transactions,
production and operation activities of the Company, financial
position and performance of duty of the Directors and senior
management of the Company as well as the operation of
subsidiaries, and facilitated the compliant operation and healthy
development of the Company. The report of main works of the Board
of Supervisors for this year is set forth below:

1. BASIC ASSESSMENT OF THE COMPANY’S
OPERATION AND MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES AND
PERFORMANCE IN 2023

In 2023, the Board of Supervisors strictly complied with the
requirements of the Company Law of the PRC, the Articles of
Association, the Rules of the Procedures of the Board of
Supervisars as well as relevant laws and regulations to
honestly perform its supervise duties in pragmatically
protecting the interests and rights of the Company and the
many minority Shareholders.

After having attended each of the meetings of the Board of
Directors and the general meetings in 2023, the Board of
Supervisors is of the opinion that the Board of Directors has
earnestly implemented resolutions of the general meetings
and faithfully performed fiduciary duties, it has not conducted
any acts which would damage the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders. Each resolution of the Board of Directors
has been in compliance with the requirements of the Company
Law of the PRC and other laws and regulations as well as the
Articles of Association. The Board of Supervisors supervised
the production and operation activities of the Company during
its session period. It considers that the management members
of Company earnestly implemented every resolution of the
Board with due diligence and conducted no acts of violation in
the course of business.
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DETAILS OF MEETINGS OF BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS

During the Reporting Period, the Board of Supervisors held two
meetings in aggregate:

(1) 0On 24 March 2023, the first meeting of 2022 of Board of
Supervisors was convened and approved the resolutions
in relation to Work Report of Board of Supervisors for
2022, and 2022 Final Accounts Report of the Company.

(2)  0n 31 August 2022, the second meeting of 2022 of Board
of Supervisors was convened and approved the
resolution in relation to the interim results
announcement for the six months ended 30 June 2023,
interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2023,
and The Proposal Regarding the 2023 Interim Dividend
Distribution Plan.

THE SUPERVISORY OPINION FROM THE BOARD
OF SUPERVISORS ON RELATED MATTERS OF THE
COMPANY IN 2023

(1) Financial Conditions of the Company

The Board of Supervisors conducted inspection with
regard to the financial conditions of the Company’s own
segment and its subsidiaries after having taken into
account the actual situation of the Company in ways of
hearing reports from financial department and regular
auditing and other methods, thus strengthening the
supervision over the Company’s financial affairs. The
Board of Supervisors is of the view that the Company and
each of its subsidiaries have established their own
independent financial departments with separate
financial books and have conducted auditing
independently, and that they have complied with
Accounting Law of the PRC as well as relevant financial
regulations and rules. In 2023, the financial management
of the Company and each of its subsidiaries was carried
out on a standard basis and the accounting statements
gave a true and accurate picture of the actual situation
of the Company and each of its subsidiaries.

EFEEWE

(—) ZEZ=F=A=+WmA " 4
M-S —FFE - REEEY
FOCRERBBTUTEER:
(KRB —EBE-_—HEEEw
TERE) (ARA T ==
FEVBRERSE) -

(=) 2N NA=+—8" &
M-S —FE_AREETY
HCRERBBETUTEER:
(BEZZ-_=F~A=1+H
IEAREAZHHEZENE)
(BEz-—ZE-=A=+H
IERNEAZFHHE) - (BR
- =FRHRESESER

SEEIR

= EESYAQNFE-=

FERREENEERR

(=) ERAFBMR

EERHEAARAEREBR
BB ISR TS AP E e - 1T
EHEAE S BEARFR
BB~ P A R B IS BT
TRE BT HARRRMH
THENEBE -ZFERR X
RNA RN B R R REBULHE
BA IS EEPT - BB L A% AR
BUZE BT (hEgE)
MEBYBRESNE - —F
TZFNARBREWE AT
MBEERSE @ HRRE
B ERHMRRT ARARE
MEBARNERIER -

FERE 2023 / EERG AR TIEERMNER AR

133



134

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
EEEHE

(2) Details of Connected Transactions

During the Reporting Period, the ordinary connected
transactions between the Company and its connected
persons have all been considered and approved on the
meetings of the Board of Directors or general meetings (if
applicable) of the Company. The connected transactions
were carried out in accordance with contracts or
agreements in arm’s length with no damages to the
interests of the Company.

4. COMPREHENSIVE OPINION FROM BOARD OF I
SUPERVISORS ON THE COMPANY’S SITUATION IN
2023

(1) During the Reporting Period, members of the Board of
Supervisors earnestly performed duties and supervised
the Board of Director’s performance of duties and its
implementations of the Company’s decision procedures
by attending meetings of the Board of Directors. The
Board of Supervisors is of the view that each resolution
and decision procedure has been arrived by the Board of
Directors in due compliance of the requirements of the
Company Law of the PRC, the Articles of Association and
the Rules of the Procedures of the Meetings of the Board
of Directors and are legal and effective.

(2) During the Reporting Period, the senior management
members of the Company fulfilled their duties in
accordance with the Articles of Association and relevant
laws and regulations of China. With aims to protect the
interests of the Company and its Shareholders, they
earnestly implemented the resolutions of the general
meetings of the Company, fulfilled obligations of
fiduciary and due diligence so as to facilitate the
Company to carry out a standard operation, democratic
decision, management science, clear target and
continuing innovation, having achieved favorable
economic benefits without acts of violation.

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

(3) The Board of Supervisors has earnestly reviewed the
financial reports for 2023 and other relevant
information. It considers that such reports give an
objective view of the Company’s financial conditions and
operating results. The operating results of the Company
for 2023 are true and accurate and the control over cost
is effective.

(4) Opinion Regarding the Company’s Self-Appraisal on its
Internal Control: The Company has, taking into account
of the Company’s actual situation, established and
developed an internal control system that covers all
areas of the Company according to the relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules, Company Law of the
PRC and Articles of Association. Such system has ensured
that the Company’s operating activities are in a normal
and ordinary course and has safeguarded the security
and integrity of the Company’s assets. The institutional
framework of the internal control of the Company is
complete and the internal auditing department and
personnel allocation are in place, which has ensured that
the implementation of and supervision over key activities
under the Company’s internal control are sufficient and
effective. In 2023, no circumstances under which the
Company would violate the Guidelines for Internal
Control of Listed Companies and the internal control
system of the Company occurred. The Board of
Supervisors considers that the Company’s self-appraisal
on its internal control gives a comprehensive and true
picture of the actual situation of the internal control of
the Company.

Chairman of the Board of Supervisors
TANG Jinlong
Hubei, the PRC

28 March 2024
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The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report.

The Group strive to maintain high standards of corporate governance
to enhance Shareholders’ value and safeguard Shareholders’
interests. The Company’s corporate governance principles emphasize
the importance of a quality Board, effective internal controls and
accountability to Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company had complied with all the code provisions of the
corporate governance code as set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company will review its corporate governance practices regularly
to ensure its compliance with the corporate governance code.

Corporate Culture and Mission

Since our incorporation, the Company has adopted an insightful
approach, comprehensive strategies and long-term planning in
developing its business. It is also dedicated to fostering high-quality
and sustainable growth within the biopharmaceutical sector and
contributing to the prosperity of the local economy.

The Company will consistently embrace the principles of innovation
and progress while establishing a new pattern of development. By
fostering cohesion among our employees, we will forge ahead with
determination. Guided by the mission of “producing quality medicine
for the public and fulfilling the century-long legacy of Pharm HEC”,
we will leverage our business strengths and further refine our
business framewaork in order to strive for new accomplishments as
we pursue the century-long legacy of Pharm HEC.

We believe that under the leadership of the Board and the efforts of
all employees, through formulating comprehensive development
strategies, implementing strict management systems and actively
enhancing innovation and R&D, Pharm HEC will become a first-class
benchmark pharmaceutical enterprise and an influential national
pharmaceutical brand in the PRC.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its code regarding Directors’ and Supervisors’
dealings in the Company’s securities.

The Company has made specific enquiry to all of the Directors and
Supervisors and all of the Directors and Supervisors have confirmed
that they have complied with the Model Code for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s strategic
development, and determining the objectives, business strategies
and policies of the Group. The Board also monitaors and controls
operating and financial performance in pursuit of the Group’s
strategic objectives.

On 4 June 2021, the resolution in respect of the re-election of the
third session of the Board of Directors was considered and approved
at the annual general meeting of the Company. With the approval at
the annual general meeting, Mr. JIANG Juncai, Mr. WANG Danjin, Mr.
CHEN Yangui and Mr. LI Shuang were re-elected as the executive
Directors of the third session of the Board of Directars, Mr. TANG
Xinfa and Mr. Eddy HUANG were re-elected as the non-executive
Directors of the third session of the Board of Directors, and Mr. TANG
Jianxin, Mr. ZHAO Dayao, Ms. XIANG Ling and Mr. LI Xuechen were re-
elected as the independent non-executive Directors of the third
session of the Board of Directors. The Directors of the third session
of the Board of Directors will serve for a term of three years. On 30
September 2022, the Company has received the written resignations
tendered by Mr. Eddy HUANG, a non-executive Director, and Mr. ZHAQ
Dayao, an independent non-executive Director, with effect from 30
September 2022. On 14 August 2023, the Company received a
resignation letter tendered by Mr. CHEN Yangui, an executive
Director; his resignation was effective from 8 September 2023. The
Board of Directors currently consists of eight Directors, comprising
four executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors. The incumbent Directors
during the year ended 31 December 2022 and as at the date of this
Annual Report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. JIANG Juncai

Mr. WANG Danjin

Mr. CHEN Hao (appointed on 8 September 2023)
Mr. LI Shuang

Mr. CHEN Yangui (resigned on 8 September 2023)
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Non-executive Directors
Mr. TANG Xinfa (Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. TANG Jianxin

Ms. XIANG Ling

Mr. LI Xuechen

The Directors have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other.

The biographies of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Profiles of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” of this
Annual Report.

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company. The principal particulars of these service contracts are: (a)
save and except for the service contract of Mr. CHEN Hao, each of
the contracts is for a term of three years commencing from 4 June
2021 (being the date of their election or appointments approved by
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 4 June 2021)
until the expiration of the third session of the Board; (b) the service
contract of Mr. CHEN Hao came into effect on 8 September 2023 and
will be effective until the expiration of the third session of the Board;
and (c) each of the contracts is subject to termination in accordance
with their respective terms. The service contracts may be renewed
in accordance with the Articles of Association and the applicable
rules.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board at all times complied
with the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Director pursuant to the factors set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines as set out in the
Listing Rules.
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BOARD DIVERSITY

The Company recognises the importance of board diversity to the
Company’s management and operation, which shall promote the
Company’s governance level and decision-making ability as a key
factor for the realization of the Company’s strategic goals and long-
term development. When selecting members of the Board, the
Company has fully considered diverse factors, including but not
limited to gender, age, position, educational background,
professional background and other factors. While the ultimate
decision on all Board appointments would be based on the
professional qualifications of the Director candidates, relevant
experience in the Company’s business and their potential
contributions to the Board, considerable weight would be given to
ensuring a diverse Board with balanced composition.

Measurable objectives

For the purpose of implementation of the Company’s policy on board
diversity, the Company adopted the following measurable objectives:

(i) Independence: The Board should include a balanced
composition of executive and non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) so that there
is a strong element of independence in the Board. The
independent non-executive Directors shall be of sufficient
caliber and stature for their views to carry weight.

(i) Skills and experience: The Board possesses a balance of skills
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company. The Directors have a mix of finance, academic and
management backgrounds that taken together provide the
Company with considerable experience in a range of activities.

(iii) Gender equality: The Board consists of at least a female
director.

In addition to the above objectives, in order to comply with the
Listing Rules, the Company’s policy on board diversity includes the
following objectives:

1. at least one third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

2. at least three of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors; and

3. at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.
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An analysis of the Board’s current composition based on the
measurable objectives is set out below:

Gender

14 5l

Number of Individuals
N

Age
Fik

Number of Individuals

A

Position

B4z
Number of Individuals
AE

Educational background
ﬁ E =1 E

Number of Individuals

A

Professional background
BXER
Number of Individuals

A

The Board is committed to improving greater gender diversity and will
increase the proportion of female Directors. The Nomination Committee  2K$2
and the Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of the

AT

REBEFAGERGEHESSRBARNDOMN

Male Female
g z
7 1
40-50 Above 50
40-50 5% 505% A £
5 3
Executive Non-executive Independent
Director Director non-executive Director
BTES FHITES VYHBTES
4 1 3
Doctor Master Bachelor
Bt Bt B2+
3 3 2
Science Law Economics Arts
HE EE rREmE X2
5 1 1

Company’s policy on board diversity on an annual basis.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee
and the Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Company’s policy on board diversity, and considered that it has
achieved the measurable objectives set out in the Company’s policy
on board diversity and that the compaosition of the Board was & EBIZ

balanced and diversified.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Articles of Association states the functions and powers of the
Board, including:

. To convene the general meetings, submit relevant matters to
the general meetings for passing, and report on its work to the
Shareholders;

. To implement the resolution of the general meeting;

. To decide on the business plans and investment schemes of
the Company;

. To formulate the Company’s proposed annual financial budget
and final accounts;

. To formulate the Company’s profit distribution plan and plan
for making up for losses;

. To formulate proposals for the increase or reduction of the
Company’s registered capital, and plans for the issue of
corporate bonds or other securities and the listing plan;

. To draw up plans for material assets acquisition or disposal,
purchase of the Company’s Shares, or merger, demerger,
dissolution or change of the form of the Company;

. To decide on the establishment of the Company’s internal
management organization;
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To appoint or remove the Company’s general manager and
secretary of the Board; to appoint or remove other senior
management officers pursuant to the general manager’s
nominations, and to determine the abovementioned matters
relating to the remuneration, incentives and punishments of
the senior management officers;

To formulate the Company’s basic management system;

To formulate proposals for any amendment to the Articles of
Association;

To decide on the matters such as merger, division,
reorganization or dissolution of the Company’s wholly-owned
subsidiaries and subsidiaries;

To change the use of the placement to the extent beyond the
decision of the general meeting as required by laws and
regulations;

To decide on the establishment of special committees under
the Board and to appoint or remove its person-in-charge;

To propose at the general meetings a resolution in respect of
candidates for independent Directors and replacement of
independent Directors;

To propose at the general meetings for the appointment,
renewal or removal of accountants’ firm conducting auditing

for the Company;

To hear the work report and inspect the work of the general
manager;

To manage information disclosure of the Company;

To formulate the equity incentive plan;
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. Save as otherwise required to be decided by the general
meetings under laws and regulations and the Articles of
Association, the Board exercises its power to make decisions
on external investments (including capital increase and equity
transfer of the invested enterprises), financing, risk
management and trust management, external guarantees,
etc.;

. To decide on other major affairs of the Company, save for
matters to be resolved at the general meetings as required by
the Company Law of the PRC and the Articles of Association;

. To exercise other functions and powers as granted by the
Articles of Association or the general meetings of the Company;
and

. To conduct other matters as required by PRC laws and
regulations.

In addition, the Board performs corporate governance function,
including:

. To establish and review the Company’s corporate governance
policies and codes;

. To review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Company’s Directors,
Supervisors and senior management;

. To review and monitor the Company’s policies and codes in
connection with compliance with laws and regulatory
requirements;

o To establish, review and monitor the codes of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees;

. To review the Company’s compliance with the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices and the disclosures made in
the Corporate Governance Report.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and codes; the training and
continuous professional development of the Directars, Supervisors
and senior management of the Company and the policies and codes
in connection with compliance with laws and regulatory
requirements. Also, the Board reviewed the Company’s compliance
with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices and the
disclosures made in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Group’s management team, which possesses extensive operating
experience and industry knowledge, has been delegated by the
Board with the authority and responsibility for the day-to-day
management of the Group. During the year, the Board considered
and approved the annual budget and its performance under
management supervision together with the business reports from
the management. The Board also reviewed and approved the annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2022, the interim results for
the six months ended 30 June 2023 and other critical business
operations. The Board also assessed the internal control and the
financial matters of the Group.

In order to ensure independent views and input are available to the
Board, the Company has formulated certain mechanisms, including
but not limited to formulating updated Articles of Association, terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee and director nomination
policy from time to time, which cover the Company’s nomination
and appointment process of the Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors), election procedures and criteria, connected
Directors’ abstention from voting and the right of independent non-
executive Directors to propose independent opinions on the Board
resolutions. The independent non-executive Directors shall notify
the Board in writing of any changes in the Company’s circumstances
that may affect their independence as independent non-executive
Directors as soon as practicable. In addition, the Directors are free to
engage external independent professional advisors to seek
independent professional opinions as they think fit at the expense of
the Company. Directors are also free to invite any staff members to
attend meetings or engage with them directly for information as
they think fit.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
above mechanism and confirmed that these mechanisms were
effective. The Board believes that it can effectively ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board.
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In addition, this Corporate Governance Report has been reviewed by
the Board in discharge of its corporate governance function.

OPERATION OF THE BOARD

Meetings of the Board of Directors should be held at least four times
every year. Such meetings shall be convened by the Chairman.

In case of any of the followings, the Chairman should convene an
interim meeting of the Board of Directors within 10 days:

. When proposed by Shareholders representing one tenth of
voting rights or more;

. When proposed by one third of Directors or more;

. When the Chairman deems it necessary;

. When proposed by two or more independent Directors;

. When proposed by the Board of Supervisors; or

. When the general manager proposes the convening of the
interim meetings of the Board of Directors.

To convene a regular or interim meeting of the Board of Directors, a
written notice shall be sent to all Directors and Supervisors 14 days
prior to the date of a regular meeting or 3 days prior to an interim
meeting. By written consent of all Directors present at the meeting,
the above time limit may not be observed. The office or other
department designated by the Board of Directors is responsible for
serving the written meeting notice to all Directors and Supervisors
by direct service, fax, e-mail or other means. If an interim meeting of
the Board of Directors needs to be held quickly due to urgent
circumstances, a meeting notice may be given at any time by
telephone or other oral methods, provided that the convener makes
an explanation thereof at the meeting.
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Meetings of the Board of Directors may be held only if more than
one half of the Directors are present. Each Director shall have one
vote. Unless specified otherwise in the laws, administrative
regulations or the Articles of Association, resolutions of the Board
must be passed by more than half of all the Directors.

The Directors shall not vote the resolution on the approval of
contract, arrangement or other suggestions that they or their
associates maintain interests inside (which shall not be included in
the quorum of the relevant meetings). Even though such Directors
claim to vote, the votes will not be counted, unless otherwise
specified in laws, administrative regulations, relevant regulatory
regulations or rules.

In 2023, the Board held ten meetings and the attendance records of
Directors at the Board meetings were as follows:

EFeQRRERBFEMESTLENA
BIT -BREFE ERRE-EF2F
HORZE - BROAE - 1TH K?ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ“ﬂ%%ﬂ Z
BREI  BAREREFNBFHE

EETERLERTREEMBRAGE
HeMam B A2 R Z a0 E

RERETRR (BIEHAEHEEEN
57&%)\%() BB EEEWMERR T

AEEMBRREHBER TBER A
B 5B R P SR R 5 B FRE BIBR S ©

R-ZZB-_=F BEFQCEITTREH "
EEhFEFeeR RBTHENT

Meeting attended/
Number of Board meetings convened
during his/her tenure of office

Name of Directors: BEpE: HESE NEABHEZTEERNH
Mr. TANG Xinfa R E 10/10
Mr. JIANG Juncai B A ks 10/10
Mr. WANG Danjin FrEEAE 10/10
Mr. CHEN Hao® PR SE A O 3/3
Mr. CHEN Yangui® PREEAELE A 7/7
Mr. LI Shuang PR 10/10
Mr. TANG Jianxin EEHEE 10/10
Ms. XIANG Ling MR+ 10/10
Mr. LI Xuechen ZEB N4 10/10

Notes:

@] Mr. CHEN Hao was appointed as an Executive Director with effect from 8
September 2023.

) Mr. CHEN Yangui resigned as an executive Director with effect from 8 September
2023.
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NOMINATION, APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTOR

The Company has formulated a formal and transparent procedure
for the appointment of new Directors to the Board. Nomination of
new Director is first considered by the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee and then
recommended to the Board for consideration. All newly nominated
Directors are subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
general meetings of the Company. Removal of members of the Board
is also subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the Company’s
general meetings.

DIRECTOR’S TRAINING

The Directors are continually updated on the statutory and
regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities. Continuing briefing and
professional development for Directors will be arranged by the
Company where necessary. Individual Directors also participate in
the courses relating to the roles, functions and duties of a listed
company director or further enhancement of their professional
development by way of attending training courses or via online aids
or reading relevant materials.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. This is to ensure that they could make contribution to the
Board based on their possessing of comprehensive professional
attainment. In 2023, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development and provided to the Company a record of
training they received.

FERE 2023 / BEE

/\J_L\ Vi /\-A—\

E/IZI#ED

EEZRE ZERER

ARBICHEEFEETMAESTSHFTLE
ARABERENEF -NEFNREALH
REAZEENFMEEZZEEERE B
MEESHEBNGFER - IAMERNE
BRAKBRNARBBIRAG LHE - 88
REEENBTMAZKRRRARRBIRA
gLt -

EE57

EERBENMRERMEENEETNEN
REBRBENEHER UBTEHEFR
B ARARNEFERSLHERESH
BERMEERR -ANEZETHFERR
EHRREENAG - B B EMNRE
HASIE IR T A BB L&Y
S EAEENE - S ERAEERER -

ARFSBESF2HBENTEHER
RN EHRER MBS Lﬂﬁﬁf&
FHEABEEBRERENIRTRESS
FLER -R-T =% 28EFFHC
SHEBBENEERR YCERAQERH
HEW R IFIRCER

REXRTEERNDERAF]

147



148

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
PEERRE

The list below summaries the training received by the Directors for
the year ended 31 December 2023:

ATHINEERHE_ZT_=F+_H
=t BLEFEDEINEI:

Attending seminar, conference and
workshop related to director’s duties/
reading materials like newspaper,
journals and updates relevant
to corporate governance

HEREEBSHBENHE -

ﬁ%&;j’nm =
MEER  fl R -

Name of Directors BEENR HERCEERBBEHRER

Mr. TANG Xinfa B LE v

Mr. JIANG Juncai B Ak v/

Mr. WANG Danjin FrEEA 4

Mr. CHEN Hao® PR s S A @ v/

Mr. CHEN Yangui® PREEAEL A 4

Mr. LI Shuang FREE v

Mr. TANG Jianxin BRI v

Ms. XIANG Ling mEZ+t v/

Mr. LI Xuechen TERBLAE v

Notes: MI5E -

@] Mr. CHEN Hao was appointed as an Executive Director with effect from 8
September 2023.

(@] Mr. CHEN Yangui resigned as an executive Director with effect from 8 September
2023.
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CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND GENERAL MANAGER

The roles and duties of the chairman of the Board and the general
manager of the Company are separate and held by different persons
and have been clearly defined in the Articles of Association. Mr. TANG
Xinfa and Mr. JIANG Juncai act as the Chairman and the general
manager of the Company respectively.

Mr. TANG Xinfa, the Chairman and a non-executive Director, is
entitled to exercise the following functions and powers:

. To preside over Shareholder’s general meetings, to convene
and preside over meetings of the Board of Directors;

. To procure and inspect the implementation of the resolutions
of the Board of Directors;

. To sign the share certificates, corporate bonds and other
negotiable securities issued by the Company;

. To sign important documents of the Board of Directors and
other documents to be signed by the legal representative of
the Company, and to exercise the functions and powers of the
legal representative;

. To organize and establish various systems and harmonize the
operation of the Board of Directors;

. To hear the regular or non-regular work reports of the senior
management officers of the Company, and give guidance on
the implementation of the resolutions of the Board of
Directors;

. To nominate the list of the secretary candidates of the Board
of Directors; and

. Other functions and powers conferred by the laws, regulations
or the Articles of Association, and the Board of Directors.
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Mr. JIANG Juncai, an executive Director and general manager of the
Company, is responsible to the Board of Directors and exercise the
following functions and powers:

. To be in charge of the production, operation and management
of the Company, and report to the Board of Directors;

. To organize and implement the resolutions of the Board of
Directors, annual business plans and investment schemes of
the Company;

. To prepare the annual financial budget plan, and final account
plan of the Company, and make recommendations to the
Board of Directors;

. To prepare the basic management system and plan for
establishment of the Company’s internal management
organization;

. To formulate specific rules of the Company;

. To request the Board of Directors to engage or dismiss other
senior management officers; and

. To engage or dismiss the responsible managers except those
who shall be engaged or dismissed by the Board of Directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has delegated certain responsibilities to various
committees. The Company has established three Board committees,
being the Nomination Committee, Remuneration and Evaluation
Committee and Audit Committee.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.
Currently, the Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. LI Xuechen (an independent non-executive Directar), Mr.
TANG Jianxin (an independent non-executive Director) and Ms. XIANG
Ling (an independent non-executive Director), among whom Mr. LI
Xuechen serves as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
composition of the Board, assess the independence of independent
non-executive Directors and make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and removal of Directars.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered by the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board:

. Character and integrity.

. Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
board diversity policy of the Company that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy.

. Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board.

. Whether the candidate would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules for an independent non-executive Director.

. Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity.
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. Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of
the Company.

. Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy to achieve the
diversity of members of the Board and maintain an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board that are relevant to
the Company’s business growth. The Company recognizes and
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in maintaining
the Company’s competitive advantage. The Company believes that
greater diversity of Directors is good for corporate governance and is
committed: (i) to attract and retain candidate(s) for Board with a
comhbination of competencies from the widest possible pool of
available talent; (i) to maintain a Board with diversity perspectives
at all levels, in particular, those are aligning with the Company’s
strategy and objectives; (iii) to assess regularly the diversity profile
of the Board and the progress on achieving diversity objectives, if
any; (iv) to ensure that the selection and nomination of Directors
positions are appropriately structured so that a diverse range of
candidates can be considered by the Company; and (v) to ensure
that changes to the Board’s composition can be managed without
undue disruption.

The board diversity policy will be reviewed periodically by the
Nomination Committee and the Board to ensure it remains relevant
to the Company’s needs and reflects both regulatory requirements
and good corporate governance practices.

The Nomination Committee reviews annually the structure, size and
composition of the Board and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy. In reviewing and assessing the Board
composition and the nomination of directors (as applicable), Board
diversity has to be considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications and skills, knowledge and industry and
regional experience.
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The Nomination Committee discusses and where necessary, agrees
on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board
and make recommendation to the Board. When determining such
measurable objectives, the Nomination Committee considers a
number of aspects, including but not limited to, the diversity of the
Board composition in aspects of gender, age, position, academic
background and professional background etc. The Nomination
Committee reviews the measurable objectives on a regular basis.

The Nomination Committee adopts the following procedures for
appointment/re-election of director:

(@) Appointment of New Director

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship.

(i)  If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate (where
applicable).

(iii)  The Nomination Committee should then recommend to
the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, as applicable.

(iv)  For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for
election as a Director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.
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Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should make recommendation to the Shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of Director at the general meeting.

(b) Re-election of Director at General Meeting

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring Director and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring Director
continues to meet the criteria as set out above.

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
then make recommendation to the Shareholders in
respect of the proposed re-election of Director at the
general meeting.

The Nomination Committee adopted the following conditions on the
nomination of Director candidates:

The Director should be elected or replaced by general meetings of
the Company. When a general meeting is held by the Company, the
Board, the Board of Supervisors or Shareholders who individually or
in aggregate holding more than 3% of the Shares may propose
resolutions to the convener of the general meeting in relation to the
election of Directors.

A candidate of Director must comply with the relevant qualification
set out in the Company Law of the PRC, the Articles of Association
and other applicable laws and regulations. The Board should have a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.
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The Nomination Committee adopts the following procedures on the
nomination of Director candidates:

Each Director candidate should be individually proposed. The
intention to nominate a candidate as Director and the written notice
of such candidate regarding his willingness to accept the nomination
shall be given to the Company no later than seven days prior to the
date scheduled for such general meeting.

When the general meeting proposes to discuss the election of
Director, the details of the candidate of Director should be fully
disclosed in the notice of general meeting, which shall at least
include the following:

(1) Personal information including but not limited to education
background, work experience and other appointments;

(2)  Whether there is any connected relationship between him/her
and the Company or the Controlling Shareholders and de facto
controller of the Company;

(3) The number of shares of the Company held by him/her; and

(4) Whether subject to punishment by China Securities Regulatory
Commission and other relevant securities regulatory
authorities and sanctions by the stock exchange.

Where an appointment of Director comes into effect upon the
approval at the general meeting, an announcement must be
published in accordance with the relevant Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee is entitled to propose its nomination of
Director candidates to the Board according to the Articles of
Association, the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
and other applicable laws and regulations.
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In 2023, the Nomination Committee held two meetings and has
reviewed the structure, combination and balance (including
expertise, knowledge and experience (including board diversity)) of
the Board, assessed the independence of independent non-executive
Directors. The attendance records of Directors at the Nomination
Committee meeting were as follows:

RZTZ=%F" h%§E$E$ﬁWME
RWCRNESTEMNERE A5 HEEN (2
FERBE - AR (@%%?Q‘?
t) A ZBUFRTEETNE L&
FHFREEZE SR NEMTHENT

Meeting attended/Number of
Nomination Committee convened

during his/her tenure of office

HESE
Name of Directors BEXS RERNBHERZEESEEXY
Mr. LI Xuechen TEREAE 2/2
Mr. TANG Jianxin EEIEE 2/2
Ms. XIANG Ling mZE#+ 2/2

In 2023, the Nomination Committee reviewed the composition of the
Board in accordance with the requirements as stipulated in the
Corporate Governance Code and concluded that the Board comprised
members with diversified backgrounds and skills which ensured
balance and safeguarded the interests of Sharehaolders as well as
the public.

R-ZF-=F RRAZBEREEXER
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WHERFE 7 B & A RRBIRR R ARA
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Remuneration and Evaluation Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration and Evaluation
Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule
3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code as set
out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration and
Evaluation Committee consists of three members, namely Ms. XIANG
Ling (an independent non-executive Director), Mr. JIANG Juncai (an
executive Director) and Mr. TANG Jianxin (an independent non-
executive Director), among whom Ms. XIANG Ling serves as the
chairman of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee
are to advise on and formulate the remuneration and evaluation
policy in respect of Directors, senior management and other
managing members of the Group and make recommendations to the
Board.

In 2023, the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee held two
meetings, at which the policy and structure for all Directors’ and
senior management’s remuneration and the review of the
remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior
management were discussed. The attendance record of Directors at
the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee meeting was as
follows:

NV

TEERWmE

FREREES

ARBCRE EHARRNE 3.25FA K £
A8 I 8% C1 A 8 b 3 BDA 5T RIUAK AL Hr B
HEZZEG YHTEEEBERE -
FEERZE M=K EMAK  B1@
B CBIFITES) B EE (3
TEE) MEZMALE B IFNTES)
HpmzathEFMEEZZ8emME
FE o

FHEEZZEENIZRE ANAKHE
B SRERABREMEEKEEZ
Ko bl E B RF A SR - WM EF SR

& >l

BEHT BN R R 8 (R ET AR
AMTESRSREEENTWNESR) -
ESHRFMEZEZZES SR NHNRD
gRUNE

Meeting attended/

Number of Remuneration and
Evaluation Committee convened
during his/her tenure of office

HESE

RER BB F R

Name of Directors EENSA EREEEEEBNEY
Mr. JIANG Juncai B A ks 2/2
Mr. TANG Jianxin BRI AE 2/2
Ms. XIANG Ling M+ 2/2
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In 2023, the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee assessed the
performance of executive Directors, reviewed the remuneration
policy, considered and approved the proposed 2023 Director’s fees
for the executive Directors and made recommendation to the Board
on the Directors’ fees for the non-executive Directors.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure
for formulating policies on remuneration of senior management of
the Group. Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 7 to the
Financial Statements.

Remuneration paid to the senior management (excluding the
Directors) by bands for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out
below:

Remuneration bands (RMB)
FTHER(ARH)

R-ZB_=F HFMEERZE G
%ﬂﬁ%%ﬁ’]%‘%ﬁ IR F N BOR %E%

HE—F_—FUTESNEFTALER
URAESGEZIFNTESNEFTHD -

EEREREBABSNHH

ARBEHHTAEESREEABNT
M REL EX R ABRENEF - #E
TECCHFA A=+ HULEFERESR
RO R BB B A AR FET -

TREJBE-_T_=F+_-_A=1+—H
LHEEZERBEN XN TRRAEEAR (T
BIREF) M

Number of individuals

AE

Nil to 1,000,000
TE1HE

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules
and the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules. The Audit Committee currently consists of three
members, namely Mr. TANG Jianxin (an independent non-executive
Director), Ms. XIANG Ling (an independent non-executive Director)
and Mr. TANG Xinfa (a non-executive Director), among whom Mr.
TANG Jianxin serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to oversee the
financial reporting system and internal control procedures of the
Company, review the financial information of the Company and
consider issues relating to the external auditors and their
appointment.

EREES

RATERE ETHRBNE 321 EA R EH
5 AP 8% CLFT 81 1 2 B 08 <F B AK 37 B/ A%
ZEg UHTHEMBESEE BZZE
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The work performed by the Audit Committee in 2023 included review
of the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022, interim results of the Group for the six months ended 30 June
2023 and listen to the report of risk management and internal
control system of the Company by Internal Audit and Risk
Department. The Audit Committee also reviewed the adequacy and
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system
and making recommendation to the Board for improvement of
internal control, credit control and risk management.

In 2023, the Audit Committee held two meetings and the attendance
records of Directors at the Audit meeting were as follows:
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ﬂﬁ“ﬁ&ﬁ%%ﬁ%bmgﬁiﬁ&-
ARG E N BEE - FEEH KRR
BMEESRLES -

RIT_=F BEXLZEGERITMAE
wOEEHFEZZE S SR RNHBOEE
U

Meeting attended/

Number of Audit Committee convened
during his/her tenure of office

HEEE
Directors EENSR RERNBHEZZESSRRE
Mr. TANG Jianxin BRI AE 2/2
Mr. TANG Xinfa =R it 2/2
Ms. XIANG Ling M+ 2/2

The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed the auditor’s
remuneration for 2023, the annual results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and recommended the Board to re-
appoint KPMG as the Company’s auditor for the year of 2023.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The Directors consider that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in business for the foreseeable
future and are not aware of material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management of the Company has provided to the Board such
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board to
carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s Consolidated
Financial Statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

It is the responsibility of the Board of Directors to ensure that the
Company maintains sound and effective internal controls to
safeguard the Shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets at
all times. We have adopted a series of internal control policies,
procedures and programmes designed to achieve effective and
efficient operations, reliable financial reporting and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. Highlights of our internal control
system include the following:
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Internal Audit. We put in place the internal audit charter that
clearly states the objectives, organisation, functions and
responsibilities, working scope and procedures of our internal
audit functions. We established an internal audit department
that is responsible for internal auditing and execution of
antibribery measures in accordance with the internal audit
charter. The internal audit department reports to our senior
management and the Audit Committee.

Risk Management. The Company has set up procedures in
respect of risk management to meet internal control targets.
The Company, on the basis of the target setting, identifies the
risks in the process of internal control through daily and
regular assessment procedures and methods, classifies the
risks and prepares the Company’s risk list, continually
conducts risk analysis, tracks the constantly changing business
environment and business activities and carries out dynamic
assessments. As the responsible unit of risk monitoring, each
department of the Company establishes a risk monitoring
index system to conduct daily risk monitoring of the unit,
especially the key indicators of major risks. For the identified
risks, each department of the Company will formulate plans
and measures to response risks. Each department is
responsible for the implement of the risk corresponding plans.
The department of internal control management manitors the
results of the risk corresponding measures, forms risk
response evaluation reports. In addition, the department of
internal control management regularly summarizes, analyses
and evaluates the risk response situation of the Company as a
whole, compiles a report on the implementation of the
Company’s risk response and reports to the general manager’s
office.
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Internal Control Defects and Self-Appraisal. The Company
adopts qualitative and quantitative methods to establish
standards for defect identification. The Company’s internal
auditing department undertakes the responsibility to track and
review the implementation of the defects rectification found in
the supervision and evaluation, as well as the implementation
of the management recommendations and internal control
inspection rectification recommendations made by the
external auditors. The Company’s auditing department is
entitled to supervise and direct the rectification scheme, verify
the effectiveness and appropriateness of the control
measures, make recommendations for improvement and
requests relevant departments to make necessary
adjustments to the rectification measures to ensure the
realization of risk control targets. The management of the
Company authorizes relevant departments to investigate and
analyze the internal control defects identified during the
supervision process by the external regulatory and internal
and external auditors and carry out corresponding rectification
measures and reviews the implementation of each such
measure. The Company’s self-appraisal is a form of realization
of internal supervision and a process of comprehensive
evaluation on the effectiveness of internal control and
issuance of self-appraisal reparts on a regular basis.

Listing Rules Compliance. We have adopted various policies to
ensure compliance with the Listing Rules, including but not
limited to aspects related to corporate governance, connected
transactions, discloseable transactions, inside information and
securities transactions by the Directors. We have designated
staff to monitor our compliance with Listing Rules and other
applicable laws and regulations who have the power to
investigate relevant incidents if any and communicate with the
related authorities or advisers.
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. Code of Conduct. Our code of conduct explicitly communicates
to each employee our values, acceptable criteria for decision-
making and our ground rules for behaviour. Our code of
conduct also includes whistle-blowing policies to encourage
all employees to speak up against any sub-standard behaviour.
We also established an anti-money laundering management
group and a related working group that are respaonsible for
monitoring and supervising the implementation of our code of
conduct and our anti-money laundering policies.

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the
Group to ensure that major risks that may impact on the Company’s
performance are appropriately identified and managed to provide
reasonable, though not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminating the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives. These measures are
regularly reviewed and updated.

The Board, on the basis of the target setting, identifies the risks in
the process of internal control through daily and regular assessment
procedures and methods, classifies the risks and prepares the
Company’s risk list.
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The Company understands its obligations under the SFO and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information
should be announced immediately after such information comes to
our attention and/or it is the subject of a decision unless it falls
within any of the “Safe Harbours” as provided in the SFO. Meanwhile,
the Company has set up an inside information management system,
the insider internal reporting obligations, reporting procedures and
liability of disclosure of information of the personnel concerned has
been clearly stated, and the Company shall arrange self-examination
in a timely manner in accordance with the provisions of the relevant
regulatory authorities. The real-time monitoring performed by the
Company may involve the inside information, and should organize
intermediary agencies to determine whether the information
belongs to an inside information and practical, if it has fulfilled the
disclosure requirements, will soon organize the disclosure and will
strictly control the scope of the monitoring before the disclosure,
the volatility of share price will be monitored until the disclosure of
inside information is completed; if the disclosure requirements are
not satisfied, the Company will also maintain strict confidentiality.

The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems are to safeguard assets, to ensure proper maintenance of
accounting records and provide reliable financial reporting, and to
ensure compliance with relevant legislation and regulations.

The Company reviews the internal control and risk management
systems twice a year. During the Reporting Period, the Board has
reviewed the internal control and risk management systems and
confirmed its effectiveness and adequacy.

The Company’s internal audit function is performed by the Internal
Audit and Risk Department. It is responsible for conducting
independent reviews of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control and risk management systems. It also
assesses the risks inherent in particular business or functional
areas, including fraud or corruption, and conducts reviews or audits
to provide reasonable, though not absolute, assurance that
adequate governance and controls are in place to address such risks.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Statements
is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 172 to
184.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration paid/
payable to the Company’s external auditor, KPMG, is set out below:

/\_\LI/_/‘\—/'\—\
= ilf& =

B &

RATINE B AT B B E b & B ISR &
EEREMRFETHEPIERFELINE
184 B [ B X & AP RS A -

TREJIBE_T_=F+_A=1+—H
IEFE - XS TR R RSB EAD
EFEERT R ST FBN -

Amount

RMB’000
&8

AR®TR

Annual audit services FEEZRY
Non-audit services IEEZ IR

1,950
867

Total fees &R

2,817

The non-audit services were review service for interim results.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company held an annual general R ¥k H&Wﬂ $ ARZZEZ=FA=
meeting of 2022, H Shareholders class meeting and Domestic HE®{IT T _Z-—_FREFAF KL HRE
Shareholders class meeting on 2 June 2023. The 2023 first Hxﬁ*ﬁ?juj("\&ﬁﬂﬁﬂxﬂxﬁiﬁ%”j( o JR
extraordinary general meeting was held on 28 March 2023,the 2023 Z—ZE-_=®#=AF -+ /\H&#T 7T ==

second extraordinary general meeting was held on 8 September &5 —//\Ennﬁfﬂxﬁﬁ/\ NZEZ=FAN
2023 and the 2023 third extraordinary general meetingwas heldon A NB®8IT 7T T - =ZF 5 XBREKE
27 December 2023. The attendance records of the Directors at the KA&E/\_ E_=F T AT+ HET
general meetings were as follows: TZEZ=FE= N BRERERG -EF
HRERRERGHERLEENT

Meeting attended/
Number of general meetings convened
during his/her tenure of office

HEER
Name of Directors BEEASR RERABHABRRERAREXE
Mr. TANG Xinfa R E 4/4
Mr. JIANG Juncai B AkE 4/4
Mr. WANG Danjin FrEEA 4/4
Mr. CHEN Hao® PR &S SE A © 2/2
Mr. CHEN Yangui® PREEAESLE A 2/2
Mr. TANG Jianxin EEHEE 4/4
Mr. LI Shuang XS 4/4
Ms. XIANG Ling MR+ 4/4
Mr. LI Xuechen e 4/4

Notes: B 5 -

(1)  Mr. CHEN Hao was appointed as an Executive Director with effect from 8 (1) [AEAEZFARTES B-_T_=FA
September 2023. ANBRAER -

) Mr. CHEN Yangui resigned as an executive Director with effect from 8 September  (2) R EEERARNTES BZSZ=FNA
2023. NBRER -

166 YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investar understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of
transparency and timely disclosure of corparate information, which
will enable the Shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions. The general meetings of the Company provide
a platform for face-to-face communication between the Board and
the Shareholders.

Shareholder rights

Right to propose to convene extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Shareholders request for
the convening of the extraordinary general meeting or meeting of
class Shareholders shall follow the procedure below:

Shareholders individually or jointly holding a total of 10% or more of
the shares carrying the right to vote at the meeting sought to be
held may sign one or more written requests of identical form and
substance requesting the Board to convene an shareholders’
extraordinary general meeting or a meeting of shareholders of
different classes and state the subject of the meeting. The Board
shall convene a Shareholders’ extraordinary general meeting or a
class meeting as soon as possible after having received the above-
mentioned written request. The shareholding referred to above shall
be calculated as of the day on which the written request is made.

If the Board fails to issue an announcement on the convening of
meeting within 30 days after receiving the above-mentioned written
request, the proposing Shareholders are entitled to submit a written
request to the Board of Supervisors on the convening of
Shareholders’ extraordinary general meeting or meeting of the class
Shareholders.
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If the Board of Supervisors fails to issue an announcement on the
convening of meeting within 30 days after receiving the above-
mentioned written request, the Shareholders individually or
collectively representing 10% or more of the Company’s voting
Shares at the proposed meeting for at least consecutive 90 days
may convene the meeting on their own within four months after the
Board of Directors receives the request. The convening procedures
shall be the same as the procedures for the convening of
Shareholders’ general meeting by the Board of Directors.

Shareholders’ right to propose resolutions at the general meeting

Shareholder(s) individually or jointly holding 3% or more of the total
vating shares of the Company shall be entitled to propose an interim
resolution and submit the same to the convener. The convener shall
issue a supplemental announcement of shareholders’ general
meeting within 2 days after the receipt of such proposal and submit
such interim resolution to the shareholders’ general meeting for
consideration and approval. The contents of an interim resolution
shall fall within the authority of the shareholders’ general meeting
and maintain topics for discussion and specific matters to be
resolved.

The Company sets out the following contact details for the
Shareholders to communicate with the Company:

86-0769-81768866
www.hec-changjiang.com
penggiyun@hec.cn

Telephone number :
Company website
E-mail address

MREFSHEWIMAERERE=1H
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YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMPANY SECRETARY

As at the date of this Annual Report, Mr. PENG Qiyun and Mr. WONG
Wai Chiu acted as joint company secretaries of the Company. For the
biography of Mr. PENG Qiyun and Mr. WONG Wai Chiu, please refer to
the section headed “Profiles of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” of this Annual Report.

Mr. WONG Wai Chiu’s primary corporate contact person at the
Company is Mr. PENG Qiyun, another joint company secretary. In
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, each of Mr. PENG
Qiyun and Mr. WONG Wai Chui has undertaken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training during the year ended 31 December
2023.

SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has established the shareholder communication policy
(the “Shareholder Communication Policy”) to ensure that
shareholders’ views and concerns are properly addressed. The Board
also regularly reviews the Shareholders Communication Policy to
ensure its effectiveness. In accordance with the Shareholder
Communication Policy, the Company has set up a “Investor
Relations” section on its website (www.hec-changjiang.com) to
ensure that the Shareholders can obtain comprehensive, identical
and easily understandable information about the Company in a
timely manner, so that the Shareholders may exercise their powers
in an informed manner, and enable the Shareholders and potential
investors to strengthen communication with the Company.

The Board welcomes views of the Shareholders and encourages
them to attend general meetings to raise any concerns they might
have with the Board or the management directly. Board members
and appropriate senior management of the Group are available at
the general meetings to answer any questions raised by the
Shareholders.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company has reviewed the
effectiveness and implementation of the Shareholder
Communication Policy. As a result of the above measures, the Board
believes that the Shareholder Communication Policy remains in force
and has been effectively implemented.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted the dividend policy on 14 December 2018, setting
out the principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply
in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net
profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

The Board adopt the policy that, in recommending the declaration of
dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves for
meeting its working capital requirements and future growth as well
as its Share value. The Company do not have any pre-determined
dividend payout ratio.

The Board is responsible for submitting recommendations in respect
of dividend payments, if any, to the Shareholders’ general meeting
for approval, subject to the Articles of the Association and all
applicable laws and regulations and the factors set out below.

The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the
Group when considering to recommend the declaration and payment
of dividends:

. Distributable profits;

o Financial condition;

. Cash flow;

. Expected future capital expenditure;

o Return to the Shareholders;

. Capital requirements;
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BERMERATER ARRKRT L
it EEERABRREBRBRDARRL
ERIBRBMT -

- N\F+ZA+TMBERHR
CEHIARBRE IR R D E
*'J%$A ) P SR A A S8 B 6 P R 0

EFEERMIBRR ERZFERKE
B ARBREREHRSHE  NEN

HESFR  RFERARERMDEE -
ARBDRBEFERHIRBLL R ©

RERARER FIAERERRTIE

X EFSRAMBREDIRNER(WAB)
RRXBRASEL -
EEeHEEERERRER  BREZE

BTHEREARENRAEE

o RAIZIEAE

 BBHOR:

. REME

o TEHRKEARFEX:

o RRER:

. EATER

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

o Finance costs;

. The external financing environment; and

. any other factors that the Directors may deem relevant.

Depending on the conditions and factors as set out above of the
Company and the Group, dividends may be recommended by the
Board for a financial year or period:

. interim dividend;

o final dividend;

. special dividend; and

. any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

Dividends shall be distributed by the Company to its Shareholders in
proportion to their respective shareholdings according to the
resolutions adopted at the Shareholders’ general meeting. The
Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or
by other means that the Board considers appropriate. Any dividend
unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall be reverted to the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

At the 2023 second extraordinary general meeting held on 8
September 2023, the Shareholders approved the adoption of the
amended Articles of Association, which came into effect on 8
September 2023. The existing Articles of Association are published
on the websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Company
respectively.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
YiChang HEC ChanglJiang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of YiChang
HEC Changliang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 185 to 328, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the
year then ended and notes comprising material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”)
together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the consolidated financial statements in the People’s
Republic of China, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

FEREEXEE %)

LON A

Refer to Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements and the 2 RI4FA BB EMN 3R E227F 229

accounting policies on page 227-229.

The Key Audit Matter
HARERER

BH)EEIRE °

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERTPNEERG R

Revenue of the Group mainly comprises sales of
pharmaceutical products to a large number of
distributors.
EEENEERATERREMZEASHBHE
BEmEBA -

The Group enters into standard sales contracts
with each distributor and sells its products in
accordance with the terms agreed in the sales
contracts.
EEFEEZXDHEBRIFRENHESHILRE
HESNNTENRRHE SR -

Once the products are delivered to the location
designated by the distributor and accepted, the
control of the goods are considered to have been
transferred to the distributor and revenue is
recognised accordingly.

BEWE X E 5 1R 18 E 6 3 B R EE R
AT EERRCER GO HE R
RBEERA -

Our audit procedures to assess the timing of revenue recognition
included the following:

P2 R RAERRHOBTIZFERE

. obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of
management’s key internal controls in relation to revenue
recognition;

s TEREFEEEEMRELEXZPARIBRDEENTIEAN
ERIR I H) R AT - MIT BT ANE ¢

. inspecting sales contracts with customers, on a sample
basis, to understand the terms of the sales transactions
including the terms of delivery and acceptance and any
sales return arrangements to assess the Group’s revenue
recognition policies with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

s REMBEREREPRINHEEAHN TEHEEWHEE
MMEREZFEHERHER  2ERITEFTENR
ENFHE BEREZEFRWAEROBER

. inspecting goods delivery notes and logistics records, on a
sample basis, to assess whether revenue transactions
recorded just before and after the financial year end date
had been recognised in the appropriate financial period on
the basis of the terms of sale as set out in the sales
contracts;

s RBMEREEREEBERYRLE  ARELHEE
EBERBAENEERARGERRBIHESHRAT
B 35 6 15 R RO B AE LEMERY B 7 SRR HA R
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continueq)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A BEN RS

FEREEXEE %)

WA TR (&)

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BRELSER EERTNEETSE
The Group’s sales contracts are standardised and inspecting underlying documentation for manual journal

do not permit sales return except for where the
products are damaged or defective.
BRERBEIHRREN - EXENTRE/LH
BEANTEXERE -

We identified the timing of revenue recognition
as a key audit matter because revenue is one of
the key performance indicators of the Group and
therefore there is an inherent risk of
manipulation of the timing of recognition of
revenue by management to meet specific targets
or expectations.

BB HEERANERSE T —A@ARE
ZEE AREXWARZ ESEBRENESR
B — FEEEERBEBRMEEWAER
B AERISE B IR BN BB AR

entries and adjustments relating to revenue raised during
the year which met specific risk-based criteria; and

s REEFAMGBERBABBLETSRHTERBREETNF
ISk M#ABXHNEN  BRFAMGEXERARBIL
FaFERRGHNFIOHELBBROFES K

. inspecting actual sales returns and credit notes recorded
after the financial year end and evaluating whether the
related adjustments to revenue had been recorded in the
appropriate financial period.

s REBEERXRAKRBERZAHERONHEHEEEH -
WAHE AR S E W ARE RO AL M SR & HAM -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables

Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 206 to 213.

The Key Audit Matter
HARERER

FEREREZEE )
B BN BRSNS ERRE

LA EHREAMN 17 X206 £ 213
BHRSFTHR -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERTPNEERG R

The carrying value of the Group’s gross trade
receivables as at 31 December 2023 totalled
RMB2,001 million, against which a loss
allowance of RMB18 million for expected credit
losses (ECLs) was recorded.
RZZE-_=ZF+-_A=+—0 BE£ENESH
EWREREABERARK2001B8 T &
HZFABRBEREEFRNERRBARY
18BHETT -

Management measured the loss allowance at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL of the trade
receivables based estimated loss rates. The
estimated loss rates take into account the ageing
of trade receivable balances, the repayment
history of the Group’s customers, current market
conditions and forward-looking information.
According to the past experience of the Group,
the loss patterns for different customers are not
significantly different. Therefore, the receivables
are not segmented when calculating the loss
allowance.
ERERBMAGEEERERANE S EKFIA
REBUHNEHEEBEN R EEHERE
WeBABRXARESRRRIBLEARDIR
i BEEBEETPHNERES - BITHRKLATE
MEH -RE ESENBELR TRAEF
WEERATEEAEZER Bt St EERE
BER - WESRRBWIRETSE -

Our audit procedures to assess the ECL allowance for trade
receivables included the following:

BAFHEZEREFARREEERBENETEFEE

. obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal
controls relating to credit control, debt collection and the
estimation of the loss allowance;

o TEHIERFERERES - EHEDKEEBERELTRE
MM T ZREERIH R - T ETHARL

. evaluating the Group’s policy for estimating the credit loss
allowance with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standard;

«  Z2ERTEFEMNRTE A
BBHEOR

BERERFEEBR

. obtaining an understanding of the key data and
assumptions of the expected credit loss model adopted by
the management, including the historical default data and
the assumptions involved in management’s estimated loss
rates;

s THEEERMNEHEEBRBEEAXIZEREERKREKR
BREELEOBRARY  BEEEBRMANEREEEE
BEANTERBERRR  ERELENBBEREEED
(R 3G E
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) BREREB&ASHE®)

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables (continued) BESRWFEENREESERE (B)
The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

REEREE EERFHNEETE

We identified the ECL allowance for trade °
receivables as a key audit matter because the
assessment of the loss allowance requires the
exercise of significant management judgement.
BHAMBRHE HRERENTEHEEEIEREG
e ERREZFEE AATHERBEEGRS
ZEREZEMNEREHE -

assessing the appropriateness of management’s estimates
of loss allowance by examining the information used by
management to derive such estimates, including testing
the accuracy of the historical default data and evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions and forward-looking
information;

BRREEREELAAGGIANER  FAHEERE
MEHEERENSEN  DREBRERLENERN LR
1 R EH LR 2 B 1E R 2 R AR E AT A M M AR 1
BRHEHBEE AR

assessing the classification of individual balances in the
trade receivable ageing report by comparing the details in
the trade receivable ageing report with the underlying
goods delivery notes and invoices, on a sample basis; and
BIBEREA - L8 5K IRERE RS FI5 8
BB R B - ST B 5 WK IR BR IS ¥R 5 BB TR AR
DEEERNE &

re-performing the calculation of the loss allowance as at
31 December 2023 based on the Group’s credit loss
allowance policies.

BiE ESENCEEEBREBHICE EFTER-Z
—=EF+TZ A=t —HREBREE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Assessment of the impairment of intangible assets

Refer to Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 213 to 216.

The Key Audit Matter
HARERER

FEREREZEE )
B B OB SRS

R A RRMTIIARE213E
216 ERYSETHR o

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERTPNEERG R

The carrying value of the Group’s intangible Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of intangible
assets totalled RMB2,566 million as at 31 assetsincluded the following:

December 2023.
RZBZ=F+-A=+—H BE£ENEF
BEREEAXRARK266BET -
Management performs annual impairment
assessment for its capitalised development costs

which were not ready for use. For other

intangible assets, the management performs

impairment assessment if there are any
indicators of potential impairment, such as the
decrease of forecasted selling price due to the
significant decrease of tendering price in the
Centralised Procurement organised by the
authorities.

EREHERARIERNE RN E LT
FEREFG -REMBLEEMNS  BEE
R EFEEAEEREDR (FIFERE
ERAMRBASBNETRENRZERARE
TREMIEE) - SMERETEEEITREN S

BPFHE B EERENETIZFEE

assessing the design and implementation of key internal
controls relating to impairment assessment in respect of
intangible assets;

ATl R R T B B R (B RT 14 AR B O = 2 AR AR I B AR AT K2
AT

involving our internal valuation specialists in assessing the
appropriateness of the impairment assessment model with
reference to the prevailing accounting standards and the
discount rate applied in the discounted cashflow forecast
by benchmarking against those of other similar companies
in the same industry;

FRFPNABEEEREBER —TENEMBBELURF]
ETLE Y2ERTEALEIMCHABESRERR
PREEMAMITIRE - FH R EFEEENEE T

challenging the key assumptions adopted by management
in the discounted cashflow forecasts by comparing future
revenue with the tendering price and procurement volume
in the Centralised Procurement or with the market price,
market capacities of the products or comparable products,
and comparing future costs of goods sold to historical
costs of comparable products of the Group and our
knowledge of the business;
FRBARRBAEERRBOREERRIREENEE
M A ELRERNTISERETSTEETHE AU
EEEEERNARKAE SEETELRERNB
ERRETHREBERMEEBRNO TR EREEE
REFBEREREBAPRANOBRERR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continueq)

Assessment of the impairment of intangible assets (continued)

The Key Audit Matter
HEELRSAE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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FEREEXEE %)

BREENRERN G (&)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EBERTNEETE

The management performs impairment

assessment by comparing the carrying value of
the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) against the
respective recaverable amount, which was the
higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use based on discounted cashflow
forecast to determine the amount of impairment
which should be recognised, if any.
ERERBENRREREVABREELSE
Z(REeEEEM])NEREESBREATRDE
BOARABERHERAEEREENRSE)
EATHBUAEITRE Tl - FBLAEE SE JE T LA T
REVHESTE(WME) -

Management is required to exercise significant
judgement in estimating the individual products’
future revenue, future costs and the discount
rate used in calculation of the recoverable
amounts. The pharmaceutical industry is
dynamic and the reception of the market to the
Group’s products involves inherent uncertainty.
IR E R A FHE R E fm B AR RS - ARRA AR
KRatE el ¢ B ER TR RS AELE
R - BETETHZEL mHE E5E
EmNEXREESREA T EERSE -

We have identified the assessment of the
impairment of intangible assets as a key audit
matter because determining the level of
impairment, if any, involves a significant degree
of management judgement in estimating the
recoverable amounts, which is inherently
uncertain and could be subject to management
bias.

BB HBEELEENREN A —ARREE
RER REARETRENKT(NE)FRER
BRAEFAIWE S ERIELNERHE  HA
BEETHEEAZLAIEXIEEERRINTE

comparing the data in discounted cash flow forecast
prepared in the prior year with the current year’s
performance and making enquiries of management as to
the reasans for any significant variations identified to
assess how accurate the prior year’s discounted cash flow
forecast was and whether there is any indication of
management bias; and

& E—EFERENEFRRENERUBBEERFE
MERBFETHR  THAREEETMNEIHNEAEZED
JRE - AFHE E—EAFEND RN R E TR 0 LERE
MARREFEEREEBRRANOTR &

performing a sensitivity analysis of the key assumptions
and considering the resulting impact on the impairment
assessment and whether there were any indicators of
management bias.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AZBEN RS

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are respansible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
respansible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have

no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting

process.
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B

EEAAARBERGHENEESEM
) BB B 75 S o5 22 Bl \e BB R B GR B 4%
BERERELREEMANMIFLEFEE
MHHmER YEREERAREREGEMH
WERALBBBATIES - AEREE
MBRRNBHEAFERRREFEREBRT
EHHERHRRAL -

ERmESEMHRERE - EFEAARN
ft BEXEFBELENED  XWERR
BIREFMANER(WER) -RIFEEH
B BEREFER HEFLEE - KR
ZINEEEAMMBERAIITHNE  BRIES
ARAARERERERNEGTE -

EXREZZESHYPRITHEE BE
BB HHRERENEL -

FERE 2023 / EERG AR TIEERMNER AR

181



182

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AZBEN RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person

for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations

or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a

going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely respansible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AZBEN RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and,
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditar’s report is Cheng Chu Fai.

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AN
N (3

| e e .
PaN
Hm

K E Ath 2 E W R

for the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Renminbi)
HEZZ=F4+-A=1T—HALFE (UAREZ7)

2023 2022
—s—-= —E=-=
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
e AR¥Tx ARET T
Revenue = 3 6,294,585 3,744,952
Cost of sales SHE KA (1,308,821) (898,878)
Gross profit EX 4,985,764 2,846,074
Other net losses Efth 18558 4 (499,800) (844,330)
Distribution costs AR (1,547,150)|  (1,216,590)
Administrative expenses THERRAY (385,702) (338,452)
Research and development costs Tt B A A (192,287) (129,614)
(Recognition)/reversals on impairment (HER),/BEOIE 5 & b FEUR
loss of trade and other receivables FIERAEEE (6,627) 3,995
Other operating expenses HE gt - (15)
Profit from operations wEHER 2,354,198 321,068
Finance costs & P AR 5(a) (227,398) (281,646)
Share of loss of an associate DB E R E EE (29) -
Profit before taxation R AT R R 5 2,126,771 39,422
Income tax T8 6 (270,945) 9,817
Profit for the year FREF 1,855,826 49,239
Profit and total comprehensive income SERUTEEHMNWERBIR
for the year attributable to: EEHREAE:
Equity shareholders of the Company AREIERRE 1,992,624 76,603
Non-controlling interests FJEVE AR M = 12 (136,798) (27,364)
Profit and total comprehensive FREFNRZEWNEHEE
income for the year 1,855,826 49,239
Earnings per share FREF 9
Basic and diluted ERREE RMB2.26 RMB0.09

The notes on pages 191 to 328 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of
the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in

Note 27(b).

F191E328 B 2 M EBRZEM B MK
— 800 o BRF PR T RN AN RQ B S
PR H B B FIE - R RE27(b) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

BMBRAR

o

at 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Renminbi)

RZZBZ=F+=-A=+—H (UAREKZ7)
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
—E—= —EooF
+=A=+—8 +=—A=1+—H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
e AR¥BTr ARE®ETT
Non-current assets IRBEE
Fixed assets [ E & B 10
— Property, plant and equipment o E R 3,398,369 3,169,613
— Right-of-use assets — [PREEE 342,055 349,152
3,740,424 3,518,765
Intangible assets BREE 11 2,565,626 2,920,646
Interests in an associate /NP 12,571 -
Financial assets measured at fair value ~ ZARBETE B A B & A
through profit or loss (“FVPL”) BalemEE 13 19,587 -
Prepayments TEF 3R IE 15 115,379 295,760
Deferred tax assets RIETIE & BE 26(b) 237,686 140,609
6,691,273 6,875,780
Current assets REEE
Inventories rEe 16 409,050 315,027
Trade and other receivables g5 M HE R GRIR 17 2,112,798 1,036,916
Prepayments T FRIE 270,809 59,433
Financial assets measured at FVPL BARBEAEEEZESHTA
BamemEE 13 18,686 290,000
Non-current assets held for sale BELEZIERDEE 14 - 2,312,320
Restricted cash ZREHE 18 1,567,300 76,781
Cash and cash equivalents RekRE&EMEER 19 1,674,413 923,543
6,053,056 5,014,020
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables E 5 R E M EARIE 21 1,755,352 1,718,222
Contract liabilities aRAaE 20 101,448 75,386
Bank loans and other borrowings IRITER R EAER 22 2,319,518 223,343
Interest-bearing borrowings ETEERK 23 - 2,906,963
Lease liabilities HEBE 359 -
Deferred income R T W = 24 8,195 8,195
Financial liabilities measured at FVPL BARBEFELEEHTA
Bamemas 13 1,139 -
Current taxation BIEATR 18 26(a) 146,209 8,672
4,332,220 4,940,781

The notes on pages 191 to 328 form part of these financial

statements.

—&kD ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ArE MR

at 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Renminbi)

R-ZBZ=F+"A=+—H (RARKZ3I)

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
—E—= —EooF
+=A=+—8 +=—A=1+—H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 7 ARETx AREF T
Netcurrentassets ~~~~~~~~~~  O&ABAERE 00 | 172083 | 73,239
Totalassets less current liabilities ~~~~ REERRBAH/ | 8412109 | 6,949,019
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bank loans and other borrowings IRITER M EMER 22 288,286 691,529
Lease liahilities HEAR 1,165 -
Deferred income R IE R % 24 187,145 187,489
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 476,596 | 879,018
Net assets BEE 7,935,513 6,070,001
Capital and reserves BEAR#EE 27
Share capital fi% 7 879,968 879,968
Reserves EE 7,055,545 5,004,916
Total equity attributable to equity AT ERBREGERER
shareholders of the Company 7,935,513 5,884,884
Non-controlling interests FERER 12 - 185,117
Total equity RS 7,935,513 6,070,001

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28

March 2024.

Tang Xinfa
& T AR
Director

EF

The notes on pages 191 to 328 form part of these financial

statements.

MERAEHEFEN _F_NEFE=A

“HN\BHERRETE -

Jiang Juncai
E=3 2k
Director

BEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN
AREPBE

/\\/T\

for the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Renminbi)

HE_T =

FH—A=1t—HLEFE RARKEZ5)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

EQUITY

RARRERREN
Non-
Share Capital Statutory Retained controlling Total
capital reserve reserve earnings Total interests equity
BA& EAfRE EERE REEF &5t FERER BREE
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WE  ARETT  ARBTT  ARETR  ARETRT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Note 27(c) Note 27(d)(i)  Note 27(d)(ii)
WEEar0)  WE20)  HER27(d))
BalanceatlJanuary2022 RM=B-=F-A-AH
] 879,968 2,610,409 328,696 1,989,208 5,808,281 212,481 6,020,762
Change inequity for2022: —B-—FHEZEH
Profit/(loss) and total ERNEF/ (BB R
comprehensive income PENEEE
for the year - - - 76,603 76,603 (27,364) 49,239
Balance at 31 December 2022 R=B==%+=§
and 1 January 2023 Zt-HR=BZZF
-B-Bi&ER 879,968 2,610,409 328,696 2,065,811 5,884,884 185,117 6,070,001
Changesinequity for2023: —B-=FHEZEH
Profit/(loss) and total ERERH/ (BB R
comprehensive income FENEEE
for the year - - - 1,992,624 1,992,624 (136,798) 1,855,826
Equity-settled share-based ~ A& EHRH 2
payments 25 - 45,136 - - 45,136 - 45,136
Acquisition of non-controlling Y28 3E 2 IR E 2
interests 12 - 12,869 - - 12,869 (48,319) (35,450)
Appropriation of statutory ~ REEAE AES
reserve - - 111,291 (111,291) - - -
Balance at 31 December 2023 R=E2==%1=§
=t-HMLe 879,968 2,668,414 439,987 3,947,144 7,935,513 - 7,935,513
The notes on pages 191 to 328 form part of these financial 2191 % 3288 Y MR Z ST B HRE

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOVV STATEMENT

/\\/ \

8K &

mE R

for the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Renminbi)
HEZZ=F4+-A=1T—HALFE (UAREZ7)

2023 2022
—E-= AR
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Mz AR¥®Tr ARETT
Operating activities REEE
Cash generated from operations WEEENES 19(b) 1,903,697 1,955,336
The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) & X fHHyFpZE A R E
Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) paid ([ E]) EREM
(TR 26(a) (230,485) (255,427)
Net cash generated from operating RETHEENESFE
activites | uemama| s
Investing activities REEH
Interest received B U F 8 60,753 6,739
Proceeds from disposal of unlisted equity % 3F_F TR AR E S AT1S 708
securities 14 2,312,320 -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets &£ g & EFTERIA 1,594,645 -
Payments for the purchase of property, BEEW%¥  HERRE
plant and equipment B~ 5038 (343,718) (570,070)
Payments for purchase of listed equity BB EMRRATE AT 508
securities 13(i) (15,200) -
Dividends received from listed equity B ETRAELERE
securities 247 -
Payment for investment in an associate &R EBE A Tﬁﬁﬁm (12,600) -
Payments for development cost 2% P R (209,938) (75,120)
Payments for the purchase of intangible ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬂ\
assets (41,422) (207,875)
(Increase)/decrease in restricted cash XRHE S (gm),m (1,490,519) 15,211
Payments for investments in financial RESREEMNHIE
assets (1,300,000) (290,000)
Proceeds received from disposal of HEME - BER
property, plant and equipment B PTSFIE - 954
Net cash generate from/(used in) REZEE(FTA)
investing activities ReFE
554,568 (1,120,161)

The notes on pages 191 to 328 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

,\\/T\ Eﬁi /ﬁiﬁ

for the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Renminbi)

BE_Z_=F1+_A=1+—HILFE (UARKZ7)
2023 2022
—g—-= —E- =
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
iz AR®TR AREBTT
Financing activities RMEEE
Praceeds from bank loans RITE RIS IR 19(c) 1,964,063 367,937
Proceeds from borrowings under sale ERMEERZ S ERTEHIE
and leaseback transactions 19(c) 200,000 150,000
Repayments of bank loans EEIRITER 19(c) (255,929) (162,275)
Payments for capital element of BERARRHEENERBH
obligations arising from sale BAER D 1 3K
and leaseback transactions 19(c) (150,000) (12,500)
Repurchase of convertible bonds & [o] A] $R B 1B 55 19(c) (3,047,989) (971,386)
Interest paid B E 19(c) (138,322) (112,743)
Payment for acquisition of WA Hig FE45E AR M 2 P AN K
non-controlling interests 12 (35,450) -
Other borrowing costs paid B E S SR AR (3,853) (38,560)
Payments of capital element and interest A E&EERIH K&
element of lease liabilities B2 P 3R I8 19(c) (419) -
Deposits paid for sale and leaseback ERARRSNENIES
transactions (9,000) (7,500)
Net cash used in financing activities =~ BMAZRBAAREFE = | | (1,476,899)|  (787,027)
Net increase/(decrease) incashandcash RERBREZEEEE
equivalents R, G ) 750,881 (207,279)
Cash and cash equivalentsat 1 January R—A—HBHNBEELR
Re%EERA 923,543 1,131,121
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes /'\EE RS EHHHTE (11) (299)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R+ —B=+—HMNRER
Re%EEAR 19(a) 1,674,413 923,543

The notes on pages 191 to 328 form part of these financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards
(“IASs”) and Interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Material accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments IFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”). Note
1(c) provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current accounting periods reflected in
these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB -

1
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BIAANRESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
for other investments in equity securities (See Note 1(g)),
derivative financial instruments of foreign currency
option contracts (See Note 1(q)) and derivative financial
instruments embedded in convertible bonds (See Note
1(p)) are measured at fair value.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
RMB, which is the functional currency of the Group. The
financial statements presented in RMB has been rounded

to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

1

BERETHE®)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
IFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in Note 2.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to
IFRSs issued by the IASB to these financial statements
for the current accounting period:

IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts and Amendment to
IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts

J Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement
2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies

. Amendments to IAS 8, Definition of Accounting
Estimates

. Amendments to IAS 12, Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

o Amendments to IAS 12, Income Taxes: International
Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB -

1

BIAANRESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of the new
and amended IFRSs are discussed below:

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2,
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments require entities to disclose material
accounting policy information and provide guidance on
applying the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosure. The Group has revisited the accounting policy
information it has been disclosing and considered it is
consistent with the amendments.

Other than the Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies, the other
developments do not have a material effect on how the
Group’s results and financial position for the current or
prior periods have been prepared or presented.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the
Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
cansolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and
any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent

that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate

share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

BIAANRESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between non-controlling interests and the equity

shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made to

goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition of a financial asset or, when
appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an

investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (See Note 1(k)(ii)) unless the
investment is classified as held to sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale) (see
Note 1(2)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the
Company has significant influence, but not control or

joint control, over the financial and operating policies.

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group classified as held for sale)
(see Note 1(2)).

They are initially recognised at cost, which includes
transaction costs. Subsequently, the consolidated
financial statements include the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income (“0CI”) of
those investees, until the date on which significant
influence ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the
carrying amount of the investment under the equity
method, together with any other long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate, after applying the ECL
model to such other long-term interests where
applicable (see Note 1(k)(i)).

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-
accounted investees are eliminated against the
investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent there is
no evidence of impairment.

FERE 2023 / BEE

(B BEHH -

BAANRESIR)

1 EAEFHE®)

(e)

BEQ

al

/NS P =N E 1 NN
HEMBRECEHEFHEEX
B 2 BB T Il ok S R I 3%
FHRERE -

FADH Fﬁﬂ’ﬁﬂjﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ
A (RFE1ER) °

WA AT RIERA (B
ZPEA) R Bk AR
B R SR A A T B

KEMzERES (TEM2mEmK
s IAGAMBRE HEE

ERFEEFELEZARLE-

%‘$EITT£H§*M"TEH‘Et
FE R R - NEE A
HHERES iﬁgﬁiﬁﬁaﬁi_
— BB EMAERRER
WERBEELERNETET
B HNFABRI g m
T OASEBENERBIRE
EEAFTEMRERmE UK
HIEMEEBIEENERTHR
tRAEEEZ (MER) EE £
BRASEREE QR AREF
BEREMEMKFEZ (RN
1K) °

/|/

\

S ARIIRE AR #ETTX
SREEZARBER B EIR
SERFERE QBN EDER
BEEE - RERERENIE
AR W ORI -
OSBEREBERERR -

*4}%

REXRTEERNDERAF]

197



198

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

()

Associates (continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in an associate is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 1(k)(ii)), unless it is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
classified as held for sale) (see Note 1(z)).

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of

(i)  the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the

acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition
date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain

purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash
generating units, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the comhination and is tested annually for
impairment (See Note 1(k)(ii)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in
the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g)

Other investments in equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in equity securities,
other than investments in subsidiaries and associates,
are set out below.

Investments in equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to
purchase/sell the investments. The investments are
initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) for
which transaction costs are recognised directly in profit
or loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines
fair value of financial instruments, see Note 28(e).

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the
Group makes an irrevocable election to designate the
investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made
if the investment meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is made, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income
remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the
investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or

loss as other income.
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BIAANRESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (See Note 1(k)(ii)):

— Plant and buildings held for own use which are
situated on leasehold land (See Note 1(j)); and

—  Other items of property, plant and equipment.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour
and the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the
site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs
(See Note 1(x)).

Construction in progress is transferred to respective
items under property, plant and equipment when it is
ready for its intended use. No depreciation is provided

against canstruction in progress.

ltems may be produced while bringing an item of
property, plant and equipment to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management. The proceeds
from selling any such items and the related costs are

recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in

profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

0]

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write-off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

—  Plant and buildings situated on leasehold land are
depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term
of lease and their estimated useful lives, being no
more than 50 years after the date of completion

—  Machinery 15 years
—  Motor vehicles 10 years
—  Office equipment and others 5-8 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is
allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life
of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed
annually.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product or
process is technically and commercially feasible and the
Group has sufficient resources and the intention to
complete development. The expenditure capitalised
includes the costs of materials, direct labour, and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Other development
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred.
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BIAANRESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

0]

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Development cost under intangible assets is transferred
to respective items under intangible assets when it is
ready for its intended use. No amortisation is provided

against development cost.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where
the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses
(See Note 1(k)(ii)). Expenditure on internally generated
goodwill and brands is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives
is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the assets’ estimated useful lives. The following
intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised
from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

— Patents 10-13 years

— Drug’s intellectual property rights 10 years

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed

annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that
the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is
reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change
in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for prospectively from the date of change and
in accordance with the policy for amortisation of
intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

®

Lease assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where
the customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not to
separate non-lease components and accounts for each
lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for
short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less and leases of low-value assets. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-
by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with
those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as
an expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate
cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest
methaod. Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or rate are not included in the measurement of
the lease liability and hence are charged to profit or loss
in the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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BIAANRESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

®

Lease assets (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable,
the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-
use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (See
Note 1(k)(ii)).

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is
accounted for separately from the right-of-use assets in
accordance with the accounting policy applicable to
investments in debt securities carried at amortised cost.
Any difference between the initial fair value and the
nominal value of the deposits is accounted for as
additional lease payments made and is included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset
has been reduced to zero.
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BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

®

Lease assets (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a
lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted for
as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification. The only exceptions are rent
concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic and met the conditions set out in
paragraph 46B of IFRS 16 Lease. In such cases, the Group
has taken advantage of the practical expedient not to
assess whether the rent concessions are lease
modifications, and recognised the change in
consideration as negative variable lease payments in
profit or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the rent concessions occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is
determined as the present value of contractual payments
that are due to be settled within twelve months after
the reporting period.

For sale and leaseback transactions, the Group considers
whether the initial transfer of the underlying asset to
the buyer-lessor is a sale. The Group applies IFRS 15 to
determine whether a sale has taken place.

(B BEHH -

BAANRESIR)

1 EAEFHE®)

®

HEEE(H)

FHESBRLELHBEES
MRELERENHERER
£2 ([HEENR]) - BRME
REBHEEARE - B2
BN EMEEARE - EXBER
T HEAERELEFTWHE
ENREEENR  EHREE
AIMTREREENAERARE
et g - E—PIINRBRITE
MASHARBENERERK
6 BIFR B 5 s 2RI 56 16 5%
HEF4BERAHEIEFNES
B e MERBERT - RNEEH
RAETRRETDETFHEHETR
RELBEEER]  WNAEHE
TH B B % BO 35 1 BX R 1 35 £ BB
BHREZHNBERIARE
AIEHEENK -

RiFEMBIORNEA - RBAHE
ERENEHEIBEE AR R
THERE T - ARIHEE
M & K RIRME

REREERXZME - A&H
EEERAEST — HBEAVS
BERHEEERTRHE - K
S E R BERM S RE LS
ISSEEHESRHE -

FERE 2023 / EERG AR TIEERMNER AR

205



206

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT FS R I ot
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(B =B HEHIN - GUARKEIIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) Lease assets (continued)

When the transfer to buyer-lessor is a sale, the Group
derecognises the underlying asset and applies the lessee
accounting model to the leaseback — the Group
measures the right-of-use asset at the retained portion
of the previous carrying amount (i.e. at cost), and

recognises only the amount of any gain or loss related to

the rights transferred to the lessor.

When the transfer to buyer-lessor is not a sale, the
Group continues to recognise the underlying asset, and
recognises a financial liability for any amount received

from the buyer-lessor.

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (ECLs) on the financial assets
measured at amortised cost (including cash and

cash equivalents, trade and other receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the
difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the

cash flows that the Group expects to receive).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments

(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over

which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This
includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECL model applies.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

0]

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Credit losses from financial instruments

(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Loss allowances for trade and other receivables
are always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s histaorical credit loss experience, current
market conditions and forward-looking
information. According to the past experience of
the Group, the loss patterns for different
customers are not significantly different.
Therefore, the receivables are not segmented when

calculating the loss allowance.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase in
credit risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is

measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments

(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date
of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs
when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising security (if
any is held); or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days
past due. The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk

has increased significantly since initial recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or

interest on their contractually due dates;
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

0]
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Credit losses from financial instruments

(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’s external or

internal credit rating (if available);

an actual or expected significant deterioration

in the operating results of the debtor; and

existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial

instruments, the assessment of a significant

increase in credit risk is performed on either an

individual basis or a collective basis. When the

assessment is performed on a collective basis, the

financial instruments are grouped based on shared

credit risk characteristics, such as past due status

and credit risk ratings.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments

(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss. The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account, except for investments in debt securities
that are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which
the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair

value reserve (recycling).

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
Note 1(w)(ii) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less
loss allowance) of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B HEHIN - GUARKEIIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

(continued)
Basis of calculation of interest income (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial
asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset have

occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal

payments;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will
enter into bankruptcy or other financial

rearganisation; or
— significant changes in the technological,

market, economic or legal environment that

have an adverse effect on the debtor.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

0]

(ii)

Credit losses from financial instruments

(continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written-off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the asset becomes 365
days past due or when the Group determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written-off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in

which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

—  Property, plant and equipment;

—  Right-of-use assets;

— Intangible assets;
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Impairment of other non-current assets

(continued)

—  Goodwill;

— Interests in an associate;

—  Prepayments; and

— Investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. In addition, for
goodwill and intangible assets that are not yet
available for use, the recoverable amount is
estimated annually whether or not there is any

indication of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets

(continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit). A portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset (for example, head office
building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if the allocation can be daone
on a reasonable and consistent basis, or to
the smallest group of cash-generating units
if otherwise.
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BIAANRESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets

(continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of unites) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value
in use (if measurable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favorable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

o

Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with 1AS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect
of the first six months of the financial year. At the
end of the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year
(See Note 1(k)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period
in respect of goodwill are not reversed in a
subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss,
or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had
the impairment been assessed only at the end of
the financial year to which the interim period
relates.

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, in the process of production
for such sale or in the form of materials or supplies to be
consumed in the production process or in the rendering
of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the

inventories to their present location and condition.
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BIAANRESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

o

(m)

Inventories (continued)

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in

which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the

period in which the reversal occurs.

A right to recover returned goods is recognised for the
right to recover products from customers sold with a
right of return. It is measured in accordance with the

policy set out in Note 1(w)(i).

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (See Note 1(w)). A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised (See Note 1(n)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a
significant financing component and other receivables
are initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs. All receivables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method and

including allowance for credit losses (See Note 1(k)(i)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair
value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice
amounts.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds that can be converted into ordinary
shares at the option of the holder, where a fixed number
of shares are issued for a fixed amount of cash or other
financial assets, are accounted for as compound financial
instruments, i.e. they contain both a liability component

and an equity component.
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BIAANRESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p)

Convertible bonds (continued)

At initial recognition the derivative component of the
convertible bonds is measured at fair value and
presented as part of derivative financial instruments.
Any excess of proceeds over the amount initially
recognised as the derivative component is recognised as
the host liability component. Transaction costs that
relate to the issue of the convertible note are allocated
to the host liability and derivative companents in
proportion to the allocation of proceeds. The portion of
the transaction costs relating to the host liability
component is recognised initially as part of the liability.
The portion relating to the derivative component is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The derivative component is subsequently remeasured at
fair value. The host liability component is subsequently
carried at amortised cost. Interest expense recognised in
profit or loss on the host liability component is
calculated using the effective interest method.

If the bonds are converted, the shares issued are
measured at fair value and any difference between the
fair value of shares issued and the carrying amounts of
the derivative and liability compaonents are recognised in
profit or loss. If the bonds are redeemed, any difference
between the amount paid and the carrying amounts of
both components is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q)

(r)

(s)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair
value. At the end of each reporting period the fair value
is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair

value is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortised cost unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at invoice amounts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand depaosits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECLs in accordance with the policy set out in the Note

1(k)().
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1

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

®)

Employee benefits

0]

(i)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions

to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

Annual contributions to retirement benefit
schemes operated by the government in the PRC
are recognised in the profit or loss as and when
incurred, except to the extent that they are
included in the cost of inventories not yet

recognised as an expense.

Share-based payments

The controlling shareholder of the Group operates
an equity-settled share-based compensation plans,
under which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments
of the controlling sharehaolder of the Group.

1

EpN e ¢ )
© EEEF
() EHESEAREEM

(i)

R AR B89 R

e FERAL BHFF
R~ 17 E B FOR KA
EIRAE /O E 3k = R Fd:y
AT B B 1R AR R
AR & B A BT © fi
M RHEE
BEKXK MZFER)D
REBREIER -

B2 488
A

A 7P B IR Y P B A R
KENFIEHNEFE
RO RELEBREBR
PR EE R ARRK

BRLSAXNEEXAE
ABRSD
B 12 32 £
75 B 4% B R K B PA
amAEE RN N F
Bat &) - Rig%ET S - B

BRASEREHRS
1 7 AN 5% 18 42 AR P SR A
m THMRE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t) Employee benefits (continued)

(ii)

Share-based payments (continued)

The fair value of share-based payments awards
granted to employees is recognized as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in capital
reserves within equity. The fair value is measured
at grant date with reference to the price per share
in the latest equity financing transaction or fair
value valuation technigues, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the share-based
payments awards were granted. Where the
employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the shares,
the total estimated fair value of share-based
payments awards is spread over the vesting period,
taking into account the praobability that the shares
will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of shares
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognized
in prior periods is charged/credited to the profit or
loss for the period of the review with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserves.
On vesting date, the amount recognized as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of
shares that vest (with a corresponding adjustment

to the capital reserve).
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BIAANRESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(®)

(u)

Employee benefits (continued)

(ili) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when it recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the period comprises current tax and
deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other

camprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and
any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in
respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflects any
uncertainty related to income taxes. It is measured using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising
from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain

criteria are met.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=EHEAIN - BUAAREIIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1 EAXETBE®

(u)

Income tax (continued) (u)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognised for:

—  temporary differences on the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a
business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences;

—  temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries and associates to the extent that the
Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that
they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

—  taxable temporary differences arising on the initial

recognition of goodwill.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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BIAANRESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u)

(v)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which they can be used.
Future taxable profits are determined based on the
reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the
amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient
to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future
taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing
temporary differences, are considered, based on the
business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group.
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised;
such reductions are reversed when the probability of

future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of
the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

(w)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probahility of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probahility
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party,
a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The
amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods, the provision of services or
the use by others of the Group’s assets under leases in

the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions
and recognises revenue on a gross basis, including the
sale of goods that are sourced externally. In determining
whether the Group acts as a principal or as an agent, it
considers whether it obtains control of the products
before they are transferred to the customers. Control
refers to the Group’s ability to direct the use of and
obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from
the products.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BIAANRESITR)

(BB -

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w) Revenue and other income (continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

0]

Revenue from contracts with customers:

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties such
as value added tax or other sales taxes.

€)

(b)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised once the products
delivered to the location designated by the
distributor and accepted as the control of the
goods are considered to have been
transferred to the distributor. Payment terms
and conditions vary by customers and are
based on the billing schedule established in
the contracts or purchase orders with
customers, but the Group generally provides
credit terms to customers within six months
upon customer acceptance. The Group takes
advantage of the practical expedient in
paragraph 63 of IFRS 15 and does not adjust
the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component as the period
of financing is 12 months or less.

License fee

Distributors are required to pay license fees
for their right to access to the Group’s
patents. The license fees is recognised as
revenue when the related sales occur.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 s B

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w) Revenue and other income (continued)

(ii) Revenue from other sources and other income

(a

(b)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied
to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. grass carrying amount
net of loss allowance) of the asset (See Note

1))

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
statements of financial position initially
when there is reasonable assurance that they
will be received and that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as income
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the
same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group
for the cost of an asset are recognised
initially as deferred income and amortised to
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
useful life of the asset by way of recognised
in other income.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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BIAANRESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(x)

(v)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get
ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part
of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are

expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the
asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are

interrupted or complete.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in

profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is the date on
which the Group initially recognises such non-monetary
assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates

ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

1

BERETHE®)

(x)

(v)

BERE

NEZEBE HgltEX
REE (REELERBEER
RREEFHAMEREREREE)
BRNEERAN  9EXER
BEME MK - B &K
AR A HIRA S

HEERNEGENIEERAE
EEECELMX  BEKAK
BRLERFEEEZED AT AE
Pk AT $HE R AR P S B ) T 4F
BETE  HREAE-TE
BEReRENEERARER
BRIHEBANBAE DT
e IE S AR - (BB AR AR
SEEFIFLENL -

HEBRE

FANINER RIS AHA
RSN FE R E - AN &L
BENEBEERAE BME
HIR DM IMNERE RIBE - [B
REENBETHER -

BELRANINE T ENIFE
BEENAE BXZAHA
fEySMEE R ]E - X 5 A 1
RASBENSHAEEIEEE
BESRENAR -ZAAE
BIIRASNEFHERFEEERE
ENAE HIAEAREEA
HIN e INERE R E -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(2)

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as
held for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying
amount will be recovered through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use and the asset (or
disposal group) is available for sale in its present
candition. A dispasal group is a group of assets to be
disposed of together as a group in a single transaction,
and liabilities directly associated with those assets that
will be transferred in the transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
loss of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale
when the above criteria for classification as held for sale
are met, regardless of whether the Group will retain a

non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of the non-current assets (and all
individual assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is
brought up-to-date in accordance with the accounting
policies before the classification. Then, on initial
classification as held for sale and until disposal, the non-
current assets (except for certain assets as explained
below), or disposal groups, are recognised at the lower
of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
The principal exceptions to this measurement policy so
far as the financial statements of the Group and the
Company are concerned are deferred tax assets, assets
arising from employee benefits, financial assets (other
than investments in subsidiaries and associates) and
investment properties. These assets, even if held for
sale, would continue to be measured in accordance with
the Group’s other accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B HEHIN - GUARKEIIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1

(z) Non-current assets held for sale (continued)

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for
sale, and on subsequent remeasurement while held for
sale, are recognised in profit or loss. As long as a non-
current asset is classified as held for sale, or is included
in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale, the
non-current asset is not depreciated or amortised.

(aa) Related parties
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 s B

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEEAIN - HUAREDITR)
1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1 EAEFHE®)
(aa) Related parties (continued) (aa) EAEER (45)
(h)  (continued) by (&)
(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same (i) MREEHER—
third party. E=HHEERNT o
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity (ivy XEREF-FE
and the other entity is an associate of the BOWeEL RS
third entity. —ERBAEZE=
FEBREE QT o
(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan (v) ZEREEMTEMH
for the benefit of employees of either the &R T A & E ok
Group or an entity related to the Group. AEEEBHABNE
BHEENBEE
FIETEl -
(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled (i) ZEBX@IEBEFH
by a person identified in (a). B A £ sk
FEES] o
(viiy A person identified in (a)(i) has significant (viD) 7£ @)(i) I8 7 FT % B
influence over the entity or is a member of MALTHZERS
the key management personnel of the entity ERTET  H&
(or of a parent of the entity). AL RZERE (£
EREBNYNR])
MEZEEHEAEN
KE
(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of (vii) ZEBHEMBSE

which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.

FERE 2023 / BEE

EWERKE AT
) 7 & [ =X A &2 [
SRARREEEE
2 AB R

AALHETREKE REHR

o %S

:i:‘JZ

=

I]

REHBEHETEZBA

AZBANTEFENTE

REXRTEERNDERAF]

233



234
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B HEHIN - GUARKEIIR)

1

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(ab) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

The chief operating decision maker of the Group assesses
the performance and allocates the resources of the
Group as a whole, as all of the Group’s activities are
considered to be primarily dependent on the
performance on sales of pharmaceutical products.
Therefore, management considers there to be only one
operating segment under the requirements of IFRS 8,
Operating Segments. In this regard, no segment
information is presented for the year end 31 December
2023.

No geographic information is shown as the Group’s
operating profit is derived from activities of manufacture

and sale of pharmaceutical products in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The key sources of estimation uncertainty and critical

accounting judgments in applying the Group’s accounting

policies are described below.

(@) Impairments

0)

In considering the impairment losses that may be
required for certain property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, goodwill, right-of-use assets and
prepayments, recaverable amount of these assets
needs to be determined. The recoverable amount is
the greater of the net selling price and the value in
use. It is difficult to precisely estimate selling price
because quoted market prices for these assets may
not be readily available. In determining the value in
use, expected cash flows generated by the asset
are discounted to their present value, which
requires significant judgment relating to items such
as level of revenue and amount of operating costs.
The Group uses all readily available information in
determining an amount that is reasonable
approximation of recoverable amount, including
estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of items such as
revenue and operating costs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B HEHIN - GUARKEIIR)

2
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ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(a)

(b)

Impairments (continued)

(i) The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade
receivables by assessing the ECLs. This requires the
use of estimates and judgements. ECLs are based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, and an assessment of both the current
and forecast general economic conditions at the
end of reporting period. Where the estimation is
different from the original estimate, such
difference will affect the carrying amounts of trade
receivables and thus the impairment loss in the
period in which such estimate is changed. The
Group keeps assessing the expected credit loss of
trade receivables during their expected lives.

Development costs

Development costs are capitalised in accordance with
the accounting policy for research and development
(“R&D”) costs in Note 1(i) to the financial statements.
Critical judgement by the Group’s management is applied
when deciding whether the recognition requirements for
development costs have been met. This is necessary as
the economic success of any product development is
uncertain and may be subject to future technical
problems at the time of recognition. Judgements are
based on the best information available at the end of the
reporting period. In addition, all internal activities related
to the R&D of new products is continuously monitored by

the Group management.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

REVENUE

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and

sales of pharmaceuticals.

Disaggregation of revenue

Revenue represents the sales value of goods supplied to
customers and the license fee. Revenue is after deduction of
any trade discounts. The amount of each significant category

of revenue is as follows:

(BRSEERI  HAARBIIR)

AEENETEXBEREREENBE

EREDH

EEBEHELAEPNE R RETA
EMNHEEE EXBENBREM
BHWM - SEBEEEHINS
BT

2023 2022
—==-= —F-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT ARBTT
Revenue from contracts with FE PR B PR B S R 5 ZE Rl 3B 15 57
customers within the scope of IFRS 15 FERMNRBEFEF SN ZWA
Sales of anti-viral drugs HEMRSEY 5,580,477 3,116,059
Sales of endocrine and metabolic drugs  $8& R W MR ZEY 164,174 113,497
Sales of cardiovascular drugs HE O ME BEY) 184,117 150,114
Sales of anti-infectives drugs SHE PR R EEY) 106,919 87,190
Sales of other medical products and SHEHmey Rarn &
license fee 258,898 278,092
6,294,585 3,744,952

The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes three
customers (2022: three) with whom transactions have
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31
December 2023, including sales to entities which are known to
the Group to be under common control with single customer.
Revenue from these customers amounted to approximately
RMB3,533,998,000 (2022: RMB1,915,486,000). Details of
concentrations of credit risk arising from these customers are
set out in Note 28(a).

TEENERPRZ T BEZZT
=+ A=t+—HIFE &
=2 (- F : ZR)XR5HE
HBAEEEXEBINNES (B
AEEBMEHREZEFSZHLRIES
ZEBHEE) - RERERPWEE
B4 A AR ¥ 3,533,998,0007T (=
T4 : AR®1,915,486,000
) cEEZSEEFPEEMNEHREE
E R B R A I FE28() ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEERAN - HUAREIITR)
4 OTHER NET LOSSES 4 HiERFHE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5 ARBTR ARBTR
Impairment loss on intangible assets #E & & 5 (B &5 18 11 (485,393) (212,943)
Impairment loss on goodwill FEREEE - (75,836)
Government grants BT B
— Unconditional subsidies — mIRMHE 8,778 8,525
— Conditional subsidies — B &) 24 8,195 8,195
Interest income B WA 57,775 6,739
Net loss on disposal of fixed assets & EE & &E 2 FEE (526) (820)
Fair value change on derivative BAAERELFNHTE
financial instruments embedded in =~ @@ T EMN QAR EEES)
convertible bonds 23(iii) (79,796) (859,569)
Fair value change on investmentin =~ RAZBHFZEN AR EE
equity securities # 13(),14 4,387 522,699
Fair value change on foreign currency MNEHIREA B A v BE
option contracts bE 13(iii) 17,547 -
Investment income from a trust BRI ERTEIMIRE WA
investment scheme 13(ii) 4,645 -
Net foreign exchange loss & B8 %58 0) (34,407) (241,432)
Others H A (1,005) 172
(499,800) (844,330)
Note: B3
0} The amounts mainly represent foreign exchange loss arising from the 0} ZeRETERERENR-_ZT-_=FR=-F

ZoFEURTRHEME SRR (AT
23) RIRTTERELMEREE

translation of interest-bearing borrowings (see Note 23) and bank loans
which denominated in USD in 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 s B

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=EHEAIN - BUAAREIIR)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 5 BR®ANEF
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BRBE AR A D0 (BEA) AT &
HZSH
(a) Finance costs (a) ®ERX
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B AR®BTT ARBTT
Interest on convertible bonds A[EEIRE AT B 23(iii) 92,178 257,329
Interest on bank loans and IRITE R R EAMERFE
other borrowings 142,768 43,014
234,946 300,343

Less: interest expense capitalised i : £ TR RAE K2

into construction in F B FASE *
progress* (7,548) (18,697)
227,398 281,646
* The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of 3.60%— * BRAKABIEETF3.60% 2
5.50% per annum (2022: 4.40%-5.39%). 5.50%M bk XE R (Z T ==

F : 4.40% £ 5.39%) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEERAN - HUAREIITR)
5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued) BRBL AR R ()
(b) Staff costs (b) EIRAE
2023 2022
—E_-= T
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
i ARBFRE  AR®TT
Salaries, wages, bonuses and e ITE - BAREF
benefits 714,304 612,185
Contributions to defined TE BB FUR KB FET 2
contribution retirement
benefit schemes 38,001 35,304
Equity-settled share-based NEEREENRG ZARX
payments expenses 25 45,136 -
797,441 647,489

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised
by the local government authorities whereby the Group
is required to make contributions to the Schemes based
on certain percentages of the eligible employee’s
salaries. The local government authorities are
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to
the retired employees. The Group has no other material
obligations for payments of retirement and other post-
retirement benefits of employees other than the
contributions described above.

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution
plans are expensed as incurred and not reduced by
cantributions forfeited by those employees who leave

the plans prior to vesting fully in the contributions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

(c)

(B BEHH -

BAANRESIR)

BB A A ()

Other items (c) H#EAR
2023 2022
=== —ET-=
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARETx ARETF T
Depreciation e 10 172,603 150,554
Less: amount capitalised as W BB HERE
development costs (842) (1,601)
171,761 148,953
Amortisation B 11 219,513 228,404
Auditor’s remuneration ZER B &
— audit services — B R 1,950 1,900
— non-audit services — FEEET RS 867 817
Lease charges HEEH 7,232 6,905
Cost of inventories sold(i) EEFERA() 16 1,083,047 573,555
(0 Cost of inventories include RMB308,059,000 (2022: 0 FEXRABIEEE TRA - TE

RMB240,130,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation and
amortisation expenses, which amount is also included in the

respective total amounts disclosed separately above or in the

Note 5(b) for each of these types of expenses.

LBEAT AR HARE
308,059,000 C (=T ==/ : A
K% 240,130,00070) ' WA b&
REINET A £ XSk 5% 5(b) 3t & 5
SAARIE N BB BEAS TN -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B HEHIN - GUARKEIIR)

6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 6 #HmelEZLHMEZEWE

OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER KANFEHR
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit or loss (a) HZEEZRHEMEZEWERA
and other comprehensive income represents: HEIEE
2023 2022
—EB-=F —E-F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
e AR®TRT ARBTT
Current tax BN HA %1 18
Provision for PRC CIT for the year AFE B EFTBHEE 26(a) 368,088 59,351
(Over)/under-provision for PRC ~ BEFFEH BB EMEH
__OTinrespect of prior years | (BEERE) BETR  26@| )| 6123
368,022 65,474
Deferred tax EERE
Origination and reversal of BN EREMELRED
__temporary differences 260 | (97,077)| (75,291
Total income tax JTiEER TR LR 270,945 (9,817)
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 6

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 s B

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

(b)

(B BEHH -

BAANRESIR)

REBEsERkAEM2E RS

RANNFEH @)

Reconciliation between income tax expenses and (b) FISHMXHEPEAREHE
accounting profit at applicable tax rates: WEEANNEE:
2023 2022
—E-= = —
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
M AR®Tr AR®T
Profit before taxation B 75 A A 2,126,771 39,422
Applicable tax rate WA 0) 25% 25%
Notional tax on profit before BRELADR IR E IR
taxation 531,693 9,856
(Over)/under-provision for PRC ~ @FFEPEDEEH
CIT in respect of prior years (HBRERE) BETE (66) 6,123
Tax effect of non-deductible PAHMBRAZ ORGSR
expenses 16,066 46,891
Tax effect of preferential tax rate BREMRENRETE (i) (264,158) (33,446)
Tax effect of additional deduction #iff 2% 5 sz 28 9MOF 89 R
of R&D expenses - (26,709) (16,506)
Tax effect of additional deduction BB #32 & RE S HH
of expenditure for purchasing BEIMNIB BB &
machinery and equipment - (13,779)
Tax effect of utilisations of tax T FBEFE KR
losses for deferred tax assets B IEE ERTIA
not recognised in prior years BENHBETE (5,611) (36,571)
Tax effect of unused tax losses of R HERIE LR IEE E MY
deferred tax assets not RFABIAE B
recognised g2 19,730 27,615
Actual income tax BERREH 270,945 (9,817)

()  The PRCCIT rate is 25%.

(i) The PRC CIT Law allows enterprises to apply for the certificate of
“High and New Technology Enterprise” (“HNTE”) which entitles
the qualified companies to a preferential income tax rate of 15%.
The Company was recognised as “HNTE” for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 and a subsidiary of the Company was
recognised as “HNTE” for the year ended 31 December 2023, and
they enjoyed a preferential CIT rate of 15% for the relevant years.

@

(ii)
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MRMEE R ERFE=E
BISHH D EMBHEERE -

REXRTEERNDERAF]
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B HEHIN - GUARKEIIR)

7 DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION 7

The details of directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration are

disclosed as follows:

EEREEME

EEMEEMeFBERENT

2023
—E-c=F§
Contributions
to defined
Salaries,  contribution
allowances retirement Equity-settled
Directors’  and benefits benefit  Discretionary  share-based
fees in kind schemes bonuses payments Total
Fe BMR TEMAREHK NERGEE
£ 2ok BENER BAGEMR MEEL  HROXA @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETL  ARETrn ARETR  ARETR AR%Tn  ARETR
Executive directors HEs
Mr. Jiang Juncai Bk - 482 2 940 1,127 2572
Mr. Wang Danjin R as: ¥ - 412 23 1,150 1,127 2,712
Mr. Li Shuang IREE - 377 19 360 563 1,319
Mr. Chen Hao (i) RELA() - 156 8 960 462 1,586
Mr. Chen Yangui () REELE() - 153 1 481 - 645
Non-executive director FHTESE
Mr. Tang Xinfa EMEEL - - - - 32,189 32,189
Independent non-executive directors BuFHTEE
Mr. Tang Jianxin ERIEE 100 - - - - 100
Ms. Xiang Ling Ok 100 - - - - 100
Mr. Li Xuechen FERRE 340 - - - - 340
Supervisors Bz
Mr. Tang Jinlong e e - 420 px] 770 - 1,213
Mr. Wang Shengchao ThErE - 251 16 700 24 1,181
Mr. Luo Zhonghua BRERLL - 381 25 250 676 1,332
Total &5t 540 2,632 148 5,611 36,358 45,289

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=EHEAIN - BUAAREIIR)

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION 7 EEREEME (&)
(continued)
2022
—E--F
Contributions
to defined
Salaries, contribution
allowances retirement
Directors’ and benefits benefit Discretionary
fees in kind schemes bonuses Total
e 2R EREHTRK
Eikn EMEN B EHRR WETEL @ar
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AR®FT ARBTFT AR®FT ARBTFTL
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Jiang Juncai BHTRE - 600 23 651 1,274
Mr. Wang Danjin ITRERE - 481 23 413 917
Mr. Chen Yangui [5¥:2c3 - 455 34 540 1,029
Mr. Li Shuang FREAE - 456 18 324 798
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Tang Xinfa BMEEE - - - - -
Mr. Eddy Huang (if) FI A (i) - - - - -
Independent non-executive BIFHTES
directors
Mr. Tang Jianxin BEMEE 100 - - - 100
Ms. Xiang Ling &L+ 100 - - - 100
Mr. Zhao Dayao (ii) AT 4 (i) 408 - - - 408
Mr. Li Xuechen FERELE 340 - - - 340
Supervisors Ex
Mr. Tang Jinlong BeEEE - 482 23 410 915
Mr. Wang Shengchao THBLE - 290 15 150 455
Mr. Luo Zhonghua BEERE - 370 25 432 827
Total FEE 948 3,134 161 2,920 7,163
[0) Mr. Chen Yangui resigned as executive director and Mr. Chen Hao was [0) RMELEAER S _=F AL ANBBT

appointed as executive director on 8 September 2023.

(i) Mr. Eddy Huang resigned as non-executive director and Mr. Zhao Dayao

resigned as independent non-executive director on 20 September 2022.

WITER MREESERRARZER
WITEF -

(ii) EWEAN T —_FAA -+ HEHE
FEHNITEE - MEARLEERRA BT
B IFHITES -

FEHE 2023 / EERGARIEXZRNERAF
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BT FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B HEHIN - GUARKEIIR)

8 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 8 EeEFMAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three AamRTMALH Hb=%(=
(2022: one) are the directors whose emoluments are disclosed T_F:—R)RESF BEFTM
in Note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the BERMT7 - Httma (2=
other two (2022: four) individuals is as follows: F:OH) ATHFMAENT
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT
Salaries and other emoluments e N H b 6,317 2,875
Discretionary bonuses B IETEAL 313 1,410
Contribution to retirement schemes RIRET B 18 73
6,648 4,358
The emoluments of the other two (2022: four) individuals with EMMmE (ZEF UR) &=
the highest emoluments is within the following band: FATHFMAFUTEHE -
2023 2022
—==-= —E=-=
Number of Number of
Individuals Individuals
A AE
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 % 7Tt £ 1,500,000 % 7T - 4
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 % T 2 3,500,000/8 7T 1 -
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 % 7T £ 4,000,000 % 7T 1 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BAEN - IAAREIIR)
FRER

EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of
the Company of RMB1,992,624,000 (2022:
RMB76,603,000) and the weighted average of
879,967,700 ordinary shares (2022: 879,967,700

ordinary shares) in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during
the year ended 31 December 2023, and therefore,
diluted earnings per share is the same as the basic

earnings per share.

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2022 is same as the basic earnings per share
as the potential conversion of the canvertible bonds had
an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share.

FERE 2023 / EERG AR TIEERMNER AR

(a)

(b)

BRELXEF

AEEREARBFETUAR
AEAEERREGRIAR
#51,992,624,000C (ZZE ==
F: AR#76,603,00070) #
FREETEBRMEFHE
879,967,700k (=T ==

879,967,700 i iR ) MEZE o

BREERF

BHE_Z-_=F+=-RHA="1—
HIEFETEABTHELE
VEBAR - IR E AR 6
SRERAFIER -

MR EBRELSNEEERY
BREAAFEAERBEE
A -#wEE_2=-_F+=A
“+-HLEFENEREBESR
FIRF/REARFER -
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B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B HEHIN - GUARKEIIR)

248

- s
10 FIXED ASSETS 10 BE&EE
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) EREIEMHER
Property, plant and equipment Right-of-use assets
% BERRE RREEE
Ownership
interests in Other
Office leasehold properties
Plant and equipment Motor  Construction landheld leased for
Buildings ~ Machinery  and others vehicles inprogress  Sub-total forownuse ownuse  Sub-total Total
KEEAZ
BAERE HEL#  HtER
RERET HE REf RE  HEEIR Mt OFEEEE  AENE it @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT ARETT AREFR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR
Cost: A
At 1 January 2022 W-F--F-F-A 1,575,687 752,732 349,126 2,264 567,944 3,247,753 395,748 - 395748 3,643,501
Additions HE 9,490 4,964 5,468 - 434,616 454538 - - - 454538
Transfer from construction BERIREY
in progress 110,319 37971 178,818 - (327,108) - - - - -
Disposals RE - (3,026) (3,203) - - (6,229) - - - (6,229)
At 31 December 2022 KoE--E+-B=+—H 169549 792641 530,209 2264 67545 3696062 395,748 - 395748 4,091,810
Additions RE 3271 4231 4,047 849 380,516 392,914 - 1,874 1,874 394,788
Transfer from construction BERTRER
in progress 78,827 291,729 44,898 2,314 (417,768) - - - - -
Disposals RE - (1,303) (1,802) - - (3,105) - - - (3,109)
At 31 December 2023 RoB-ZEF-A=+-H 177759 1087298 577392 5427 638200 4085871 395,748 1874 397622 4483493
Accumulated depreciation: ZitHE
At 1 January 2022 R-E--£-f-R (148479)  (141,085)  (98740) (641) - (383345 (38,000) - (38001)  (426946)
Charge for the year Eabil (GL779) (49022 (40,943) (215) - (4199 (85%) - (8595  (150,5554)
Written-back on disposals REERHH - 1,986 2,469 - - 4,455 - - - 4455
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+ZA=1-H (200,258)  (188,121)  (137,214) (856) - (526,449) (46,596) - (46,596)  (573,045)
Charge for the year FRAk (533517)  (31303)  (58472) (340) - (163632 (8,595) (376) (8971)  (172,603)
Written-back on disposals REERHH - %3 1,616 - - 2,579 - - - 2579
At 31 December 2023 REEZ=F+ZA=1-H (253,775)  (238/461)  (194,070) (1,19) - (687,502) (55,191) (376) (55,567)  (743,069)
Carrying amount; REE:
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=F+ZA=+-0 1523819 848,837 383,282 4231 638,200 3,398,369 340,557 1,498 342,005 3,740,424
At 31 December 2022 RZZZZF+-A=+-0 1495238 604,520 392,995 1,408 675,452 3,169,613 349,152 - 349,152 3,518,765
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

10 FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(@) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

0)

(i)

@iii)

All property, plant and equipment owned by the
Group are located in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group was applying
for certificates of ownership for certain properties,
with carrying value of RMB432,426,000 (2022:
RMB443,265,000). The directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the use of and the conduct
of operating activities at the properties referred to
above are not affected by the fact that the Group
has not yet obtained the relevant properties title
certificates.

As at 31 December 2023, amount of
RMB254,041,000 (2022: RMB159,322,000) of the
ownership interests in leasehold land held for own
use, amount of RMB117,949,000 (2022:
RMB409,075,000) of construction in progress, and
amount of RMB667,593,000 (2022:
RMB609,044,000) of plant and buildings were held
in pledge for bank loans (Note 22(a)).

(B BEHH -

BAANRESIR)

10 EEEE ®)

(@) FREEHHIRGE)

0)

(i)

@iii)

AEBERENMBYME
BE Kz mAMRHE -

S+

443,265,0007T) M &
MERBRMERES -
RARREEZFRARNEE
e A BN A5 AE B 4 2 R
FFEBELTEFER
LR E TG ES) o

—E =%+ A
+— B  AR¥
254,041,000t (=&
- = #F AR &
159,322,000 7T) K45 {E
BERzEAE LA A E
E o= A R K
117,949,000 (=&
- = % AR &
409,075,00070) £#E T
2 &k AR %667,593,000
T(ZEZZF: ARK
609,044,000 7C) B9 & &
REFIERBITERK
(Fi3E22@)) °

2%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B HEHIN - GUARKEIIR)

10 FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(@) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

10 EEEE®)

(a)

(iv)

The Group sold some of its machinery and
equipment to external parties and leased them
back for terms of 2—3 years for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2023. The Group determined
the transfers to buyer-lessor were not considered
as sales under IFRS 15, thus the Group continues to
recognise the underlying assets, and recognises
financial liabilities for the considerations received
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
Note 1(j). No gain or loss were recognised from the
sale and leaseback transactions for the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: nil). As at 31 December
2023, the carrying amounts of the plant and
buildings and machinery pledged for the
aforementioned sale and leaseback transactions
were RMB327,463,000 (2022: RMB321,727,000)
(Note 22(b)).

(b) Right-of-use assets

0)

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use

AREEHH AR ()

(iv)

BHE_ST_—_Fk_%
—=#+-_RA=+—H
IEFE - AEEmEIN
ATHEEL DS X
HELHEEHER - A
ME=ZF AEBEBT
HEYEH — HAAL
TR BB SRS
R E 155 B T 8 8
E WMAEBEEERR
HEEE LREWZE
1) FTHE e BERE W
IMREEREBREE -
BHE-_FT_=%+=_H
“t+—RHIEFE &%
i 6l &2 5 3 % W R B 25
(ZZEZZF  F) - =
T _=F+_A=+—
B L EEHERRS
BEROBE - EF kK
ENEEAEBARE
327,463,000 (= &
- - £ A R ¥
321,727,000 7T) (M &t
22(b)) °

ERREEE

0)

REREEREAE D H

assets by class of underlying assets is as follows: FAEERAFED
T :
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-C
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT
Included in fixed assets: BIERETEEE -
— Ownership interests in — HIEERZHEE L
leasehold land held P R
for own use 340,557 349,152
— Other properties leased — BB AMEEME
for own use 1,498 -
342,055 349,152
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R B o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BAANRESIR)

(B3N -
10 FIXED ASSETS (continued) 10 BEEE &)
(b) Right-of-use assets (continued) (b)y FHAEEEE)

(i) The analysis of expense items in relation to leases

(i) RESEIEEEEN

recognised in profit or loss is as follows: FXEESTAT :
2023 2022
—ZEC=F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT
Depreciation charge of LB EESERNE D 2
right-of-use assets by class CREEENEER :
of underlying assets:
— Ownership interests in —FEERAZHEE
leasehold land held TP A
for own use 8,595 8,595
— Other properties leased — HEthg AHEEYHE
for own use 376 -
8,971 8,595
Expense relating to short-term  BREIREHEE 2 HX
leases 7,232 6,905
Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE 69 -

FEHE 2023 / EERGARIEXZRNERAF
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=EHERAI - AUARKETITR)
11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 11 BFEE
Hepatitis C drugs Other Drugs
AR EY Hip g
Generic drug Insulin
Capitalised intellectual intellectual Capitalised
development property property development
Patent costs rights rights costs Total
-e(4 g REZ ¥/
EF  REXE NEEE  OBEE  REXHE @t
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Mz ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR
Cost: KA
At 1 January 2022 R-E--%#—f-A 848,021 174015 1469757 150963 1,027,331 3,670,087
Addition through internal BRNPRENE
development - 497 - - 69,125 69,622
Addition and transfer from BB R
prepayments 15 - - 20,381 - - 20,381
Transfer from development ~ BE X HEAEF
costs to patents - - - 110,106 (110,106) -
At 31 December 2022 i —
+ZA=1+-H 848,021 174512 1,490,138 261,069 986,350 3,760,090
Addition through internal BRNPREHNE
development - - - - 204,908 204,908
Addition and transfer from BRFENE R EA
prepayments 15 - - 144,978 - - 144,978
Transfer from development & X HEBAEF
costs to patents - - - 95,861 (95,861) -
Abandonment BE - (174512 - - - (174512)
At 31 December 2023 RZF_=%F
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, TIRTTCR o weon - IEBI6 6E0 1095397 3856
Accumulated amortisation: ~ R3f###
At 1 January 2022 W-E-—%—-f—-H (169,782) - (192,879) (9,452) - (372,113)
Charge for the year ERk (67,481) - (143694 (17,229) - (228,404)
At 31 December 2022 i
+ZA=1+-H (237,263) - (336573) (26,681) - (600,517)
Charge for the year ERk (62,465) - (127,746) (29,302) - (219,513)
At 31 December 2023 i ——:3
TZA=1+-H (299,728) - (464,319) (55,983) - (820,030)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 s B

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRAERPI - AUAREIIR)

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 11 BEFXEE @)
Hepatitis C drugs Other Drugs

AFEY Hip g

Generic drug Insulin

Capitalised intellectual intellectual Capitalised
development property property development
Patent costs rights rights costs Total
Bxf % S g4
BR BEXE  A8EE  NEER BRI @t
Note RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
M ARBTR ARBTT ARETT ARYTR ARBTRT ARETR

Impairment loss: HEFSE:
At 1 January 2022 RZE-—F-f-H - - (25,984) - - (25,984)
Recognised in the year FRED (iif) (20,399) (22,599)  (169,945) - - (212,943)
At 31 December 2022 i S

+ZRA=t—-H (20,399) (22,599)  (195,929) - - (238,927)
Recognised in the year ERER (il (139,753)  (151,913) (193,727 - - (485,393)
Written-off e - 174,512 - - - 174,512
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, ToASTCR (eols) - (389e%6) - - (549.808)
Net book value: RHFE:
At 31 December 2023 W-E=-=

+-A=t—-H 388,141 - 781,141 300,947 1,095,397 2,565,626
At 31 December 2022 RZFZZF

+-A=+-A 590356 151613 957636 234388 986,350 2,920,646
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B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB -

11
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BIAANRESITR)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

0]

(ii)

(iii)

The amortisation charge for the year was included in the
“cost of sales” and “general administration expenses” in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, except to the extent that they
are included in the development cost not yet recognised

as an expense.

Development costs were either in-process research and
development projects (“IPR&D”) acquired or development
cost capitalised in accordance with the accounting
policies for the research and development costs in Note

1(i) to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the intangible assets under
development were not yet ready for intended use.

Impairment review on the intangible assets of the Group
has been conducted by the management as at 31
December 2023. For the purpose of impairment test, the
recoverable amount of the intangible assets is
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use the cash flow projections based on the
financial forecasts approved by management, with
reference to professional valuation reports issued by
China Alliance Appraisal Co., Ltd. and Beijing KYSIN Assets
Appraisal Co., Ltd., independent firms of professionally

qualified valuers.

11

B EE &)

0)

(i)

(iii)

AEFZHNBIHERGTARER
m R EMEEEEROTEE
A R [—RITHRERFX ]
KM 2 R AR S 1B R
RRFSTRIERSIN -

FA% S 18 2 B RO ETT R AT
HIEE (ETHHEEE DX
REBEGEVHREMELIOE
BT L B R E AL
MRS -

RZE_=F+=-_A=+—
A HAEPEFEEENRET
BERE -

RZE_=F+=-_A=+—
CAEEEEEDHERE

DEEREBEAEEE - %%
AEEREREEE ML ERN
BHEANRSRERA X2
EHEXAEBMGEEMAR
B AR AR REEENG
BERARRIE R TEREE
HEERARHAMNERMEE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRAERPI - AUAREIIR)

(iii)  (continued)

1)

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 11 BREE®
(iiy (%)
Capitalised development costs 1) EXREEXZH
Capitalised development costs represent IPR&D BERRETHED WRERNE
acquired or internal development cost capitalised THAEEERBEERER
by pharmaceutical products as follows: LRHRAEEZL - FBEOT :
2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Mz AR®Tr AR%®TT
Rongliflozin L-Pyroglutamic SRS EEREY)F (a) 819,747 622,637
Liraglutide FAIER=Niyy @) 88,671 82,390
Emitasvir phosphate BB oK ZE
follow-up compounds BELAEY ®) 186,979 186,979
Hepatitis C A (© - 151,913
Insulin RS % - 94,344
1,095,397 1,138,263

Capitalised development costs are tested for
impairment annually until the completion or
abandonment of the related research and
development efforts.

BEAREREY L EFEETRE
Bl EEEASRERBT
BT

FEHE 2023 / EERGARIEXZRNERAF
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B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
BIAARESIR)

(BB -

11

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)

(continued)

1)

Capitalised development costs (continued)

(a)

Identifiable assets: Rongliflozin

L-Pyroglutamic, Liraglutide

In 2019, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement and a supplemental
agreement to such sale and purchase
agreement with Sunshine Lake Pharma Co.,
Ltd. (BERRBGALEXROHD AR DA,
“Sunshine Lake Pharma”) which is the
controlling shareholder of the Company since
December of 2021. Pursuant to which the
Company agreed to acquire and Sunshine
Lake Pharma agreed to dispose the IPR&D in
relation to two pharmaceutical products,
namely Liraglutide and Rongliflozin
L-Pyroglutamic within the PRC at a total
consideration of RMB1,645,600,000 (the
“Proposed Acquisition”). The payment terms
comprised an up-front payment of
RMB550,000,000, and three milestone
payments totalling of RMB246,840,000 and a
contingent payment of RMB848,760,000
subject to the future sales of the target
products. The Proposed Acquisition was
effective after the shareholder’s approval in
January 2020. Up to 31 December 2023, the
Company have made accumulated payments
of RMB708,880,000 (2022: RMB555,680,000)
and have recognised IPR&D as intangible
assets. The remaining payments will be
accumulated into the cost of the intangible
assets when the capitalisation criteria are
met or recognised as a cost of sales in line
with the underlying sales.

11
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B EE &)

(iii)

1)

(%)

BEACRBEEH (F)

(a)

AHRBEE : EAER
A& FIF - FABAK

RZZE—NF  ARA
HERRRGEERD
ERAR ([EREEE
mE|] BT —F
+=Z AR AR R RIE
REPEER) BT BB B i
ZEBEWBE AT WE -
Bt AREREWE
MERRGREERE
HEEMNNEMREER
RABL IR F B Y
BB R BE AN EITH
MEEE  BREAEA
R #1,645,600,000 7T
([ WKEEE]) -+
xOH A AR K
550,000,000 JT &) 38 1+
HCZEAEHEARK
246,840,000 70 ) £ 12 18
NREERARE
848,760,000 JLAA A - E
XRAEEEMMNBIE
HE BERESER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)  (continued)

1) Capitalised development costs (continued)

(a)

Identifiable assets: Rongliflozin
L-Pyroglutamic, Liraglutide (continued)

The management regards Rongliflozin
L-Pyroglutamic and Liraglutide as a
separately identifiable asset and CGU in the
impairment test.

Based on the result of impairment test, the
recoverable amount of Rongliflozin
L-Pyroglutamic and Liraglutide calculated
based on value-in-use exceeded their carrying
amount as at 31 December 2023, no
impairment was recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

(B BEHH -

BAANRESIR)

11 |BEE (&)

iy (4&)

1) BEXRCRBXZEH(E)

(a)

TRANEE - RAAM
SRR - RIRIERK (48)

B IR JE R BB B A
EARE KRR F RF
B PRAR R B R A
MEERRESELEM -

BEREIRER  ®
=%+ = A
=+—RH EEHAEHA
HENEAAELRET
R R LB ARy AT U e
CRBLEERTE &K
HEZZ-_=F+=A
=+ —BIEFEILEE
RAE(ZE_—F&|) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
BIAARESIR)

(BB -

11

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)

(continued)

1)

Capitalised development costs (continued)

(b)

Identifiable assets: Emitasvir phosphate

follow-up compounds

On 22 July 2015, the Group entered into an
agreement with Sunshine Lake Pharma.
Pursuant to the agreement, the Group
acquired the right to use all the relevant
knowhow and patents relating to emitasvir
phosphate and follow-up compounds. As of
31 December 2023, this Emitasvir phosphate
follow-up compounds has completed its
phase Il clinical trial and the application of
the new drug have been submitted to the
National Medical Products Administration
(“NMPA”) of the PRC. It is targeting to obtain

the new drug approvals and permits in 2024.

Based on the result of impairment test, the
recoverable amount of Emitasvir phosphate
follow-up compounds calculated based on
value-in-use exceeded its carrying amount as
at 31 December 2023, no impairment was
recognised for the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: nil).

11
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)  (continued)

1) Capitalised development costs (continued)

(c)

CGU of patents, capitalised development
costs and goodwill related to Hepatitis C
(collectively referred to as “Hepatitis C Asset
Group”)

The capitalised development costs of
Hepatitis C project and the patents of
Hepatitis C drugs are allocated to the Group’s
CGU of Hepatitis C Asset Group.

During the year ended 2023, the Group
decided to abandon the research and
development of Hepatitis C project due to the
delayed progress of the IPR&D of Hepatitis C
and the new market competitors introduced.
As a result, the capitalised development
costs of Hepatitis C Asset Group and one of
the patents related to this IPR&D has been
fully impaired. An impairment loss on
intangible assets of RMB291,666,000 (2022:
impairment loss on intangible assets
RMB42,998,000 and impairment loss aon
goadwill of 75,896,000) was recognised in
the “other net losses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

(B BEHH -

BAANRESIR)

11 BEREEE »®)

iy (4&)

1) BEXRCRBXZEH(E)

(c)

ERFHEBENER - &
FEMBIHREEN
ReELEN (BABIR
F&EEAR ]

ARFE B B & AN E R %
SXHEAFEDEND
EEAKEARFEER
RN EL BN -

HEZZ-_=F+=A
=+—HALEFE -#BR
AFETHRHAEERN
EELR RS AFTS
HEHF O AEERTE
WERFIEE OHE-
Bt - RFEEHAR®
BB A R
ZEITHRIEIAE
B—IEEFEEERE -
EFEEREBRAR
¥ 291,666,000 (==
T EEEERE
&5 18 A R % 42,998,000
TEREEREBBEBAR
¥ 75,896,0007T) R &R &
BahkEMrAEKEE
NIER A [ E BB F
]
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB -

BIAANRESITR)

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)  (continued)

2)

Generic drugs

As at 31 December 2023, generic drugs represent
31 generic drugs’ intellectual property rights. The
management regards each individual drugs’
intellectual property rights as a separately
identifiable asset and CGU in the impairment test.

Based on the results of impairment tests, the
recoverable amount for 18 out of 31 generic drugs
calculated based on value in use exceeded their
carrying amount as at 31 December 2023 and no
impairment was recognised during the year ended
2023.

Due to the price of generic drugs decreased after
they have been included in the national centralised
procurement, new market competitors were
introduced or the estimated distribution and
production cost increased, the estimated
recoverable amount of 13 (2022: 11) out of 31
generic drugs were less than their carrying amount
as at 31 December 2023.

11 BEEE ©)

(i) (#&)

2)

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

L

RZEZ=F+=A
=+—B - {HE%E3
TE 7 BB A EE R o
EREARS  BEE
1 5 T8 BE Y B S0 B E
BRAEEBEBIZNEE R
WEEEBN -

BB ERRER - 31
e R sEh K 18 TR (&
AEETENA KES
HHEB_—_T_=—F+=
A=+T—HMEM®EE"
BEHE-_Z_=F1%F
[E 0 B RERRE o

HRFTREMABRRE
FPRBEERTE ™
B ESIAFOHRFHF
il ET 9 88 R EE KA
B RZEZ=F1=
A=+—H8 318+ 48
13 (2= :11
&) (7 BB/ G EH AT 42
SREENERMEE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)  (continued)

2)

Generic drugs (continued)

The differences were approximately
RMB193,727,000 (2022: RMB169,945,000) in total
based on the impairment evaluation result, which
was recognised as impairment loss in the “other
net losses” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

Based on the life cycle of drugs and the market
supply and demand of similar drugs, the life of the
generic drugs for impairment evaluation is at least
10 years after the drugs listing on the market. The
lifecycle of the generic drugs are 10 years in the
recoverable amount calculation in the impairment
test.

The calculations apply the cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a three-year period.

The following sets out the key assumptions for the
value in use calculation of the 14 generic drugs:

(B BEHH -

BAANRESIR)

11 BEEE ©)

(i) (#8)

2)

s ()

BEREFHER =
MEdr ARE
193,727,000t (=&
- = F AR %
169,945,0007T) * R4
eERkAMEERE
KA E A EEFE
NIER A RERRE -

REBEEDOHBHEAR
FRBEERNTEHE
PRV Rk (B 5T 17 B 17 B B2
SwRENLETERED
104 » R E R B A A]
el et ES  TH
ENSmBAMRI0F -

AEDEREREM
ERE=FHNMBEE
BEMRSRETRRISL

AT & 5147105 BB
EREEFENTIER

.
B
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
BIAARESIR)

(BB -

11

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)

(continued)

2)

Generic drugs (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Revenue

Revenue is calculated based on the tax-
exclusive selling price and the sales volume,
after considering the factors such as market
competitors, product launch time, the price
and volume in the national centralised
procurement.

Costs of goods sold

The cost of goods sold includes the cost of
materials and the processing cost, in which
the cost of materials is determined in
combination with the production data of
related units and the market price. The
processing cost is mainly determined by
reference to the manufacturing cost of the
similar drugs.

Discount rate

The discount rates used in the impairment
valuation is pre-tax discount rate 17.85%
(2022: 18.42%). and reflect specific risks
relating to the generic drugs.

11
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 s B

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BREHEBIN - AUARBIIR)
INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 12 AMERRAIZRE
As at 31 December 2023, the Company has direct interests in RZEZ=F+=-_A=+—H" 'K
the following major subsidiaries, which are private companies. NIRRT EZMB AR (BAEILA
The particulars of the subsidiaries are set out below: NE)HEEEEZ  B@ANB A
ABEHIIT
Proportion of
Place of direct
incorporation Registered Paid-up ownership
Name of company and business capital capital interest  Principal activities
aEf A BEHRE
AREH REEHH RA S2ARE ERLH FTEEEK
Yichang HEC Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* PRC RMB2,000,000 RMB2,000,000 100% Sales of
(‘BERGABEBRAR") pharmaceutical
products
HERGABERRAF hE ARE AR 100% HWEBZEM
2,000,0007T 2,000,0007T
Yichang HEC Pharmaceutical Manufacturing PRC  RMB450,000,000 RMB332,000,000 100% Manufacturing and
Co., Ltd. * sales of active
(‘EERBAREBRAR") pharmaceutical
ingredient
HERBHHERRAR HE AR® ARE 100% FERHEERRE
450,000,000t 332,000,0007C
Dongguan Yangzhikang Pharmaceutical Co., PRC ~ RMB50,000,000 RMB50,000,000 100% Sales of
Ltd.* Pharmaceutical
(REMEREEERECAR") products
RrmBRBEEREMENA HE AR® ARE 100% HEBEED
50,000,000t 50,000,000 7T
Guangdong HEC Biological Pharmacy Co., PRC  RMB530,000,000 RMB439,532,109 100% R&D of
Ltd. * pharmaceutical
(‘BEREBAENDEERLE") products, medical
devices and
biotechnology
ERRBHENREERAF i AR® ARE 100% BEEML BEEW
530,000,00070  439,532,1097C R Bl B0 B

FERE 2023 / BEE

REXRTEERNDERAF]
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(Br=FERERAN - BAARKETIR)

12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

12 RMBRARZEE &)

Proportion of
Place of direct
incorporation Registered Paid-up ownership
Name of company and business capital capital interest  Principal activities
1A BEER
NCET REgHH R E8RA LA TEEHR
YiChang HEC Pharmaceutical technology PRC  RMB50,000,000  RMB46,500,000 100%  Medical consulting
Marketing Services Co., Ltd.* services
(‘HERBXBEMRERRE
BRAR])
HERGABENBEERKERAT i ARE AEE 100% BEAARS
50,000,0007¢ 46,500,0007C
YiChang HEC Bio-technology Co., Ltd.* PRC ~ RMB30,000,000 RMB3,000,000 100% Manufacturing and
(EHEREHENHEERA") sales of active
pharmaceutical
ingredient
HERGRENRBBRAA HE ARE AR% 100% HERHERHE
30,000,0007¢ 3,000,0007T
Dongguan HEC TaiGen Biopharmaceuticals PRC  RMB683,400,000  RMB683,400,000 100% Research,
Co., Ltd.* development,
(‘RERGAARBEREERATAF’, production and
“HEC TaiGen”) (i) sales of drugs
RERGAASBEREREREELA (R HE AR¥ = 60% e 4ERHELER
BRAED () 683,400,000 683,400,0007T
Zhejiang HEC Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* PRC ~ RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000 100% Marketing and
(MIXRGRBEERARF) Medical consulting
services
HIRGABRERRAR HE = AR 100% ZHRBEAARSE
10,000,000 7T 10,000,000 7T

* These entities are limited liability companies established in the PRC.The
English translation of the above companies’ names is for reference only.
The official names of these companies are in Chinese.

The following table lists out the financial information relating
to HEC TaiGen as at/for the year ended 31 December 2022, the
only subsidiary of the Group which had a material non-
controlling interests (NCI) as at 31 December 2022. The
summarized financial information presented below represents

the amounts before any inter-company elimination.

* ZEERDNPBEKINERAR - £
MAREWHEBFEHRDE - ZE
RAEWE T HERT AT -

TRHEWR -_ZET-__F+ K
“t+—BAEEE—HEEEAFEE
fEEZNMBARREB X RASERZ
E-—H#+-A=+—B/HBEZ
BLEFEENMBEER - TX25H
MHEERBE AN RIREHEATHSEE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRAERPI - AUAREIIR)

12 RBRARZEE (&)

2022

RMB’000

AREEF T

NCI percentage FEERBERE ST 40%

Current assets MBEE 28,028

Non-current assets ERBEE 436,023
Current liabilities mENa & (1,595)

Net assets FEE 462,456

Carrying amount of NCI FEVER R AREE 185,117

Revenue EERE -

Loss and total comprehensive income FABEREZMEALE

for the year (68,410)
Loss allocated to NCI DB IEIER R M E 1B (27,364)

Dividend paid to NCI A FEVE AR i 2 AT AR 2 -

Cash flows from operating activities KEEBRENE 4,277
Cash flows from investing activities KETERER=E (6,061)

Cash flows from financing activities BEESRERE -
(i)  On 22 November 2023, the Company entered into an )y RZEBE—_=F+—A=+=

equity transfer agreement with the minority shareholder

of HEC TaiGen, to acquire the remaining 40% equity

interests in the HEC TaiGen with a consideration of

USD4,980,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB35,450,000). Upon completion of the transaction,
the Company became the sole shareholder of HEC TaiGen.
Loss of HEC TaiGen attributed to NCI amounted to
RMB136,798,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023.

FERE 2023 / BEE

H: ARAIEEGXKFHF
PNIRERET I REEZEHZE - WK
BREBELXAKSHHTI0%R
# - {8 54,980,000 % 7t (48
ERH# AR 35,450,000 L) °
RBTEHE  RNRBIK ARG
ARENE—RE -HE-T
Z=F+ZA=+—HLF
- EEREREGRRE A
S M BB A ARIE
136,798,000 7T °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U7 == =
Br F5 s a= MY 7t
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(Br=FERERAN - BAARKETIR)

13 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED
AT FVPL

13 RAREETEEHED
SFABRENEREERE

&
At At
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
R=B=-=F RZ__—
t=A=+—H +-A=t—H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
e AR®TR ARBTT
Non-current assets FREEE 819,747 622,637
— Investment in listed equity — ETRAFSKE
securities ) 19,587 -
Current assets RBEE
— Investment in a trust — REFERERE
investment scheme & (i) - 290,000
— Foreign currency option — SMNEHARE S 4
contracts (iii) 18,686 -
18,686 290,000
Current liabilities pEE=Ri
— Foreign currency option — HNEHARE S A
contracts (iii) (1,139) -
() The Group’s investment in listed equity securities are () FAEENLELMERABHEER

shares in Beijing Sunho Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a
campany listed in Beijing Stock Exchange and engaged in
manufacturing and sales of pharmaceutical products.
The Group classified its investment in non-current
financial assets measured at FVPL, as the investment is

held for strategic purposes.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the net fair
value gain in respect of the Group’s investments in listed
equity securities recognised in profit or loss amounted to
RMB4,387,000 (2022: nil).

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

13 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED
AT FVPL (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

On 27 December 2022, the Group invested in a trust
investment scheme established and managed by a trust
company as the trustee with the principal of
RMB290,000,000. Pursuant to the agreement, the trust
scheme is designated to make the majority of its
investments in debt and equity securities, while the
principal and return of the investment are not

guaranteed.

In March 2023, the Group redeemed all investment in the
trust scheme with the principal amount of
RMB290,000,000 at a total consideration of
RMB294,645,000 and recognised investment income
from this trust investment scheme of RMB4,645,000.

The Group entered into foreign currency option contracts
with banks to mitigate the currency risk arising from
certain of its bank loans denominated in USD. All these
option contracts are matured within one year.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the net fair
value gain in respect of the Group’s foreign currency
option contracts recognised in profit or loss amounted to
RMB17,547,000 (2022: nil).

FERE 2023 / BEE

(B BEHH -

BAANRESIR)

13 RAREBEEFTEEHED
SFABRENEREERE

&)

(i) M= += H—+t
avm ¢§mm1%
EASEARTR Eﬁ%%ﬁ
BEHE AL ABARM

(iii)

290,000,000 7T ° *Eﬁ%ﬁ%%% '
FEEstEEERIRE RE D
REHFRBRAES ﬁﬁ?x§$
& N[O 3R A AR FE

R-E-_=F=Zf KEEE
Bl X & B A AR K
290,000,000 7T & FT B 15 5L 5T
BE BREABARE
294,645,0007C © I H % 1= 7¢
HETEEREERAARE
4,645,000 7T °

AEEERITAISLINERES
%) AREE T AERTTAHER
RITEFRMSI BN EEAR
MBZEHREANDE—FR
Elp

HE_Z-_=F+-_H=*+—
HIEFE - A& Bt oM Hi g
BHRBERTEANAAEE
W F 58 B AR 17,547,000
T(ZEZZF 8\ .
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(Br=FERERAN - BAARKETIR)

14 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

14 HEHEZFRBEE

At At
31 December 31 December
2023 2022

RIEZ=F RZZT-—F
+=A=t—-8A +=A=1—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT

WIFHFEEMRE
— JF ETRANEE

Investments not held for trading

— Unlisted equity securities

- 2,312,320

The unlisted equity securities are shares in Sunshine Lake

Pharma.

In 2021, the Company was granted with 10% equity interest in
Sunshine Lake Pharma (the “Target Equity”) at nil
consideration from Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co.,
Ltd. CRYI TR EEZERE EGR A7), “Shenzhen HEC
Industrial”) in connection with the Company agreed to enter
into a revised non-competition agreement. The Company
recognised the granted equity interest as FVPL at its fair value
of RMB1,770,385,000 when it obtained the control of the
equity interest in July 2021. Meanwhile, the Company
recognised RMB1,504,827,000 as capital reserve after netting
off tax payables of RMB265,558,000, which was in relation to

this transaction.

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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RZBEZ—F ARARRREE]
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7<r IR EED BEERTE
HEBHEEN10%E ([B 12K
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

14 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE (continued)

In December 2022, the Company (as the transferor), Shenzhen
HEC Industrial (as the transferee) and Sunshine Lake Pharma
(being the target company) entered into an equity transfer
agreement (the “Equity Transfer Agreement”), pursuant to
which, the Company agreed to transfer and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial agreed to acquire the Target Equity held by the
Company at a consideration of RMB2,312,320,000, which was
determined with reference to the market value of total
shareholders’ equity of Sunshine Lake Pharma prepared by an
independent professional valuer.

As at 31 December 2022, the Equity Transfer Agreement has
not taken effect as part of conditions precedent have not been
fulfilled. The Group transferred the financial assets measured
at FVPL of RMB2,312,320,000 into non-current assets held for
sale. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recognised the fair value gain of RMB522,699,000.

On 27 June 2023, with all conditions precedent under the
Equity Transfer Agreement fulfilled and the consideration of
RMB2,312,320,000 was settled, the Target Equity was
derecognised.

FERE 2023 / BEE

14

(B BRI -
RIFHEZFRBEE @)

BAANRESIR)

R-E-——F+—-—8 A28 (A
HBER) FNRGAEEEX (EAR
EAH)RERRGEX (BMEZER
Al RIS AR e vk ([ IR G 17
#D B AREREEEmA
NEGAEXRBEWERAREA
WmEERE REAARE
2,312,320,0007C " W &2 EE T
EXMEMRENERRSG LG
R R ESAEMEMmET °

RE D R GE M RERK - RES
EREEAENR - AEEBIZRAR
BEF=AHEEHTABTNESR
EE AR 2,312,320,000 08 A
EHEZHERBEE BHE_-Z
ZZF+ZA=+—HLEFE K

EEBRRBAABEEREARYE
522,699,000 7T °

RZE-_=FA=-++tH ki
ERBEBE OB L REEDE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(Br=FERERAN - BAARKETIR)

15 PREPAYMENTS

15 A

2023 2022
—E-= —E-C

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

M AR¥®TR ARETT

Prepayments for intangible assets /& E T 78 0) 6,135 109,691
Prepayments for property, M - WBERZEEN

plant and equipment TETRIE 109,244 186,069

115,379 295,760

(i) In 2018 and 2019, the Company entered into two (i) RZE—NEFEER_ZT—NF-

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

acquisition agreements with Sunshine Lake Pharma, to
acquire 33 pharmaceutical products’ know-how,
intellectual property rights and ownership rights (“Target
Products”) from Sunshine Lake Pharma with a total
consideration of RMB2,131,635,000, which comprised a
prepayment of RMB1,065,817,000, several milestone
payments totalling RMB577,888,000 and contingent
payments of RMB487,930,000 subject to the future sales
of the Target Products.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had made
accumulated payments of RMB1,641,250,000 (2022:
RMB1,599,828,000) to Sunshine Lake Pharma. During
the year ended 31 December 2023, RMB144,978,000
(2022: RMB20,381,000) was transferred to intangible
assets after the NMPA approvals for 2 (2022: 1) out of
the Target Products has been obtained. After the
transfers, the outstanding prepayments to Sunshine
Lake Pharma as at 31 December 2023 was
RMB6,135,000 (2022: outstanding prepayments
amounted to RMB1093,691,000).

RAREBERRGHESEFT
MIBWE D NEREBAR
#2,131,635,000 7T A & 8 &
15 't B 5 Uk B 3378 25, /9 B Al
RE - MBEERMAEE(E
BEM])  BREVEEMNR
1A AR #1,065,817,000 7T * #
FTERENREHEARE
577,888,000 7T & 3k A 15 ;LA
R # 487,930,000 * 8 F B
BEMHRREEME

RZEZ=F+=ZRA=+—
H AEECERFRERRKE
OB X X N AR K
1,641,250,000 L (Z &2 = =
F: AR®1,599,828,000
L) BE_E-_=F+_A
—+—HIEFE AR
144,978,000 L (Z &2 ==

A R #20,381,0007T) R ELE
EEERTMIE(ZE-__F
—IH) M HEERAEEAE
TEE REHERE NR_F
T=EE+-A=+—BEXHMHF
& R ER 5 e B HE B TR A FRIA £
A AREE,135000T (=
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 s B

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRAERPI - AUAREIIR)

INVENTORIES 16 #&
2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR
Raw materials R 253,741 215,311
Work in progress E& 75,898 55,006
Finished goods P 74,570 40,445
Goods in transit & 4,841 4,265
409,050 315,027
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an ERAAAXLFABEENTFES
expense and included in profit and loss is as follows: BEAONWAT :
2023 2022
—E=-= —E=-=
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Mz AR®Tr AR%®TT
Carrying amount of inventories sold E&F&EREE 1,063,056 519,773
Write-down of inventories 7 &MU 19,991 53,782
Cost of inventories sold EEFEKRAR 5(c) 1,083,047 573,555
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B AN - GUARKEIIR)

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

17 EZREMEBWRE

2023 2022
ZEZE —_=__

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

e AR®ETRT ARETT

Trade receivables 5 WA 2,000,557 892,611

Bills receivahle R EIE 89,852 124,377
Less: allowance for doubtful debts &l : RERERH 28(a) (17,798) (11,171)

2,072,611 1,005,817

VAT recoverable AT R E 20,565 22,077
Other receivables H {th fE K FR IR 22,750 11,886
Less: allowance for doubtful debts ¥ : RERE#H (3,128) (2,864)
40,187 31,099

Total et 2,112,798 1,036,916
() Bills receivable with carrying value of RMB19,512,000 () BREERAKR19,512,0007T

(2022: RMB10,667,000) were pledged as securities of
bank loans of the Group as at 31 December 2023 (see

Note 22(a)).

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade debtors and bills receivable (which are included in trade
and other receivables), based on the invoice date and net of
allowance for doubtful debts, is as follows:

17

(% RAER - HUAREFIR)
ESREMEWRIE®)

SRl 2 AT

REBERR  BURERLEREE
(BEFFAE S REMEKIR) RE
EHBMEMBREREBORE DT
s

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E- %
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTRT AR®ETET

Within 3 months 3ME AR
More than 3 months but within 1 year  #B#3fEAE1FR
More than 1 year HBiB 1

1,803,219 784,628
269,355 221,137
37 52

2,072,611 1,005,817

Trade debtors are generally due within 30-90 days from the
date of billing. Bills receivable is due in 3 months or 6 months
from the date of billing. The Group’s credit policy is set out in
Note 28(a). All of the trade and other receivables of the Group
are expected to be recovered within one year.

FEWBR R — M BB RS B BB
30Z290HAEIH - EREFRAZT
FRE A HEARRET 3@ A k6@ A A E
Hi o K& 712 B BUR S A M
28(@) c ANEBEFFBEE S MEMEK
FIBTEET AT R —FAYKE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B AN - GUARKEIIR)

18 RESTRICTED CASH 18 ZMRHIERE
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-—
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTRT ARETT

Security deposits REE® 1,567,300 76,781

As at 31 December 2023, the restricted cash mainly RZEBEZ=F+=ZA=+—H8" %

represented pledges to banks for bank loans or issuance of RH|ReEEZRBBITERIIET

bills payables and letter of credit. ERERREREMmMRERITREERLN
B -

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHERCASH 19 B KB £SZEHEERKH

FLOW INFORMATION HESREER

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: ) HRERRESEEBAEE:
2023 2022

—E-=F —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET ARBEF T
Cash on hand FHEES - 6
Cash at bank RITE S 1,674,413 923,537
1,674,413 923,543
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 s B

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BEHH -

BAANRESIR)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ANDOTHERCASH 19 RE KB SZEEERE
FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

HwESREEE ()

Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (b) BRBAGFELEFRBSREMN
generated from operations: #HHR -
2023 2022
—==-= —E-=
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
e AR®TRT AREBTT
Profit before taxation B B B 4 2,126,771 39,422
Adjustments for: IR
Depreciation e 5(c) 171,761 148,953
Amortisation B8y 5(c) 219,513 228,404
Interest income B A 4 (57,775) (6,739)
Investment income from a trust  {EFERE MR E WA
investment scheme 4 (4,645) -
Finance costs Bl & Al 7R 5(a) 227,398 281,646
Loss on disposal of fixed assets  HEETE & EMEIE 4 526 820
Fair value change on investment IR AEHIEE K
in equity securities NAEBEEES 4 (4,387) (522,699)
Fair value change in connection BRI AR EiaE 452
with derivative financial PTEEBMIAZ
instruments embedded in NREEEZE
convertible bonds 4 79,796 859,569
Fair value change on foreign HNEERRES AV BY
currency option contracts NRBEE 4 (17,547) -
Equity-settled share-based IARE = 4 H AR 1) S
payments expenses 25 45,136 -
Impairment provision for EREEERERE
intangible assets 4 485,393 212,943
Impairment provision for EERERE
goodwill 4 - 75,896
Share of loss of an associate DREEE R EBE 29 -
Dividend income from listed ERAFHFREWA
equity securities (247) -
Net foreign exchange loss [ 5 g1 F 34,418 241,731
Changes in working capital: HEEeH
Increase in inventories FEEN (94,023) (35,331)
Increase in trade and other B 5 N CHo b e Y SR IR 1 0
receivables (1,417,907) (530,589)
Increase in trade and other B 5 K H b e FOEE N
payables 109,487 961,310
Cash generated from operations ZZ B3R E 1,903,697 1,955,336

FERE 2023 / BEE
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BT FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B AN - GUARKEIIR)

19

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHERCASH 19
FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

HeREBEEEEEEREAE
EESREELZR &)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) BMETBFFEELEENHE
activities
Bank loans Interest-
and other bearing Lease
borrowings  borrowings liabilities Total
BITER
REMER FTEER HEBE Bt
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
iz ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTR
(Note 22) (Note 23)
(FizE22) (F¥3E23)
Atllanuary2023 1 R=ZB-_=F"A-H 914872 2906963 T 3821835
Changes from financing MERSRERE:
cash flows:
Proceeds from bank loans ~ RITERAIEFE 1,964,063 - - 1,964,063
Proceeds from borrowings ~ ERHEE L5
under sale and leaseback IEEGiRe s 8
transactions 200,000 - - 200,000
Repayments of bank loans ~ {BERITER (255,929) - - (255,929)
Payments for capital element &R FEEMN
of obligations arising from  EHMERHD 5K
sale and leaseback
transactions (150,000) - - (150,000)
Repurchase of convertible BRI A[E# &%
bonds - (3,047,989) - (3,047,989)
Payments of capital element BEBEEAHD K
and interest element of TS E P 308
lease liabilities - - (419) (419)
Interest paid ERHE (71,644) (66,678) - (138,322)
Total changes from financing BER &R E
cash flows 2FEH 1,686,490 (3,114,667) (419)  (1,428,596)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R B o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRAERPI - AUAREIIR)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ANDOTHERCASH 19 RE KB ESZEEERE

FLOW INFORMATION (continued) tEESREER (@)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) BMETBFEELEENYHE
activities (continued) (#)
Bank loans Interest-
and other bearing Lease
borrowings borrowings liabilities Total
BITEH
REMER FEMER HEBE w@ar

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
izt ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARET:H
(Note 22) (Note 23)
(5 22) (Ft5E23)

Other changes: Hith# 5

Interest on bank loansand ~ $FITEZ K

interesting bearing TEEFME

borrowings 103,359 92,178 - 195,537
Fair value change on derivative it \ FTE I E % H)

financial instruments TEEBIAN

embedded in convertible AREEZE

bonds 23(iii) - 79,796 - 79,796
Interest on lease liabilites ~ HEEEFIE - - 69 69
Derecognition of bank loans /& IFEERFITER [0) (96,730) - - (96,730)
Increase in lease liabilities ~ MEFERFILIHAL

from entering into new MEEEELM

leases during the year - - 1,874 1,874
Exchange adjustment [E i % (187) 35,730 - 35,543
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=F

+-A=+—H 2,607,804 - 1,524 2,609,328
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Br 1R < Mt 5t
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=FERERAN - BAARKETIR)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ANDOTHERCASH 19 REe KB E£ZEEERE
FLOW INFORMATION (continued) HmESREEE ()

278

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) BMETBFFEELEENHE
activities (continued) (#)
Bank loans Interest-
and other bearing
borrowings borrowings Total
RITER
RE M &R TEMER @ar
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(k=3 ARETT ARETT ARETT
(Note 22) (Note 23)
(3£ 22) (F3E23)
AtlJanuary2022 ] W-F-_%-A-H 593377 . 2600125 3,193,502
Changes from financing MERERESE !
cash flows:
Praceeds from bank loans BITERAEIE 367,937 - 367,937
Proceeds from borrowings under EERBRBHER
sale and leaseback transactions ~ FT55UE 150,000 - 150,000
Repayments of bank loans EREFETER (162,275) - (162,275)
Payments for capital elementof ~ EREERFEEN
obligations arising from saleand ~ EHMERH DR
leaseback transactions (12,500) - (12,500)
Repurchase of convertible bonds B[] 7] #1525 - (971,386) (971,386)
Interest paid ERFE (34,258) (78,485) (112,743)
Total changes from financing cash FER & REZHLH
flows 308,904 (1,049,871) (740,967)
Other changes: HinZg
Interest on bank loans and RITERRE BETFE
interesting bearing borrowings 40,995 257,329 298,324
Fair value change on derivative SR ARIEBIREHKITE
financial instruments embedded £ TEMDREBEE
in convertible bonds 23(iii) - 859,569 859,569
Derecognition of bank loans BIFERIRITER 0} (28,404) - (28,404)
Bxchangeadustment  BXS® W ... T 239811
i
At 31 December 2022 +-RA=+—H 914,872 2,906,963 3,821,835

(i)  The amount represents the derecognition of bank

loans of discounted bills with recourse upon the

maturity of respective bills receivable for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

() ZERIBEEBE—C

T-=F

+ZA=+t—HBRk=ZZE=Z=
TZA=THUEFEBHRE
WEREIHE - 42 - HEREAE
HHEREZIR 2 IRITER
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B 755 s B

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRAERPI - AUAREIIR)

20 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 20 EHEE
Contract liabilities EHER
2023 2022
:g:z —_=__
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFRT ARETET
Sales of goods HEEm
— Billing in advance of performance — TEHER IR 101,448 75,386
Movements in contract liabilities EHNEBNES
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETRE
Balance at 1 January R—HA—BM& 75,386 74,903

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result E#ERE AUk S
of recognising revenue during the year (Gt AFHAHEE)

that was included in the contract MEENAE LB ERD

liahilities at the beginning of the year (65,784) (63,804)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result X8 U 84 28 M & 4

of billing in advance of sales ME B EEN 91,846 64,287
Balance at 31 December R+ - A=+—HH&#% 101,448 75,386
The amount of contract liabilities expected to be recognised as EHRNBEE - FRERR/RBADNE
income after more than one year is RMB4,403,000 (2022: HNBaEeE A ARE4,403,0007T
RMB6,855,000). ALl of the other contract liabilities are (ZZ=-=—%F: AR ¥6,855,000
expected to be recognised as income within one year. o) c EHIFMEEMAE N BB/ —

FREZSWA -
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B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(Br=FERERAN - BAARKETIR)

21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21 EZRHEMENRE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
M AR¥BTR ARBTTT
Trade payable g S ENFIE 86,153 70,765
Bills payable SN FRIE 113,935 96,622
Amounts due to related parties A< BEESE 5 5k IA 30(b)(ii) 441 13,409
VAT and other taxes payable FEATIGE R R H A A 18 151,134 151,926
Accrued payroll and benefits FEET T & KAEF| 229,408 185,638
Accrued expenses FEstE A 660,281 740,417
Accrued royalty fee JEEH R ETREERE 356,669 261,585
Other payables for purchasing Hin e i B EE & EMRIE
fixed assets 136,106 172,111
Other payables H fth fE T k18 21,225 25,749
Financial liabilities measured at ~ R# X AAEZ S REE
amortised cost 1,755,352 1,718,222
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payable based on the NBEEABRAEAENE I REEE
invoice date is as follows: NFIEREITAT
2023 2022
—E-=F g
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AREF T
Within 1 month 1E AR 81,905 72,397
Over 1 month but within 3 months HiE1EAEIEAR 47,178 54,071
Over 3 months but within 1 year HBiB3MEAELIFER 67,486 39,179
Over 1 year HEIB 1 3,519 1,740
200,088 167,387

280 YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R B o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
BIAARESIR)

22 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(B BEHH -

22 RITEFRHEMER

2023 2022
—EB-=F -
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
e AR®TR ARETF T
Non-current JE BN HA
Bank loans IRITER 22(a) 253,998 629,029
Obligations arising from sale and ERENZHEENET
leaseback transactions 22(b) 34,288 62,500
288,286 691,529
Current B HA
Bank loans RITER 22(a) 2,165,438 147,901
Obligations arising from sale and EREBZHEENET
leaseback transactions 22(b) 154,080 75,442
2,319,518 223,343
2,607,804 914,872
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(Br=FERERAN - BAARKETIR)

22 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 22 $R{TER R EHMER @)

282

(a) Bankloans (a) RITEX
The analysis of the repayment schedule of bank loans is RITERMERKRERD>TN
as follows: ™
2023 2022
—EB-=F g
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AREF T
Within 1 year 1R 2,165,438 147,901
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F&BB2FA 153,998 96,291
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FBESFR 100,000 467,513
After 5 years 51 - 65,225
Total FEE 2,419,436 776,930

At 31 December 2023, the bank loans were secured as

RZEBEZ_=F+=_A=+—

follows: B RITERERNOT :

2023 2022

—E-=H —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®Tx ARETF T
Unsecured 4 149,803 40,055
Secured [REiw 2,269,633 736,875
Total @t 2,419,436 776,930
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=+ ST
R Ed
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(% BAEERAIN LA RESR)
22 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 22 SRITEFRREMER &)

(a) Bank loans (continued) (a) S|ITERE)
() The Group’s bank loans were secured as follows: () AEEMRTEFKE
LUl
2023 2022
—E-=H —E-=
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BT 5 ARBTRT ARBTT
— Ownership interestsin ~ — F{EEAZHE
leasehold land held for THTE RS

own use 10(iii) 254,041 159,322

— Construction in progress — EE T2 10(iii) 117,949 409,075

— Plant and buildings —BEREF 10(iii) 667,593 609,044

— Bills receivable (jii) — FEIEE (iii) 17(i) 19,512 10,667

— Restricted cash — RRBRHIEE 1,545,237 -

2,604,332 1,188,108

Apart from the above secured assets, the bank RZEZ=F+=H
loans of RMB564,248,000 (2022: =+—B BREafaE
RMB294,529,000), was additionally guaranteed by HEEN  ARE
Shenzhen HEC Industrial, Mr. Zhang Yushuai and 564,248,000 7T H) R 1T &
Mrs. Guo Meilan, the ultimate controlling party of H(ZEZZF: AR%K
the Group as at 31 December 2023. 294,529,0007T) B /&I

HEHEE AFLEEHN
R T RE R K E
N Ehie R 2 LR A EE s
R o
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B AN - GUARKEIIR)

22 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

(a) Bank loans (continued)

(ii)

@iii)

As at 31 December 2023, the total banking
facilities amounted to RMB2,939,193,000 (2022:
RMB840,000,000). Such facilities were utilised to
the extent of RMB2,395,255,000 (2022:
RMB763,429,000). These facilities are subject to
the fulfilment of covenants relating to certain of
the Group’s balance sheet ratios and intended use
of the loans, as commonly found in lending
arrangements with financial institutions. If the
Group were to breach the covenants the drawn
down facilities would become payable on demand.

Further details of the Group’s management of
liquidity risk are set out in Note 28(b).

As at 31 December 2023, the bank loans of
RMB19,512,000 (2022: RMB10,667,000)
represented the bills discounted with recourse
which were repayable within one year.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M o

22 BT
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@iii)

HER @

840,000,0007T) ° &% &
BECHANSEAA
R #2,395,255,000 7T
(ZFZ=ZF: AR%
763,429,0007T) ° % &
BEASEAEESRT
EEBEBERILERER

MTRRBEBENZEE
EKE SRR LN
TREENRELEER
EEFR MAEEE
REFH BB EE
BRBERKIAT -

AEBRHESRRE
B E — B E M
5F28(b) °

—E-=%1+=A
+ -8B AR¥
19,512,000 L M SR 1T &
R(ZEZZF: AR®
10,667,0007T) ¥ E BHIR
Wtﬁﬁﬁﬁ HEBR
—FRER
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22 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

(b)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 s B

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

Obligations arising from sale and leaseback transactions

Obligations arising from sale and leaseback transactions

(B BEHH -

B REFIR)
22 SRITEFRREMER B

EREORZELENRE

EREEXHEENEB AR

were repayable as below: BT
2023 2022
—E-=F R —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBFT
Within 1 year 1FR 160,966 81,042
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F®E2FR 18,412 64,474
After 2 years but within 3 years 2FBBEIFR 18,412 -

Total undiscounted obligations arising  &#& MBI 5 E £ H

from sale and leaseback transactions  RELIR E IS4 4E 197,790 145,516
Less: total future interest expenses o R EH B (9,422) (7,574)
Total et 188,368 137,942

All obligations arising from sale and leaseback

transactions were secured by plant and buildings and

machinery as mentioned in Note 10(a)(iv), and were

guaranteed by Shenzhen HEC Industrial, Mr. Zhang

Yushuai and Mrs. Guo Meilan, the ultimate controlling

party of the Group as at 31 December 2023.

RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—
A SRERNZSFEENAE
1519 LAM FE10(a)(v) AT it &
E RAEF RS EERMR - I
HRYIRERERE  NEEK
B AR AR 77 ok B B 5 AR K SR A
M TR ER -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB -

BIAANRESITR)

23 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

23 FTEMER

2023 2022
—E-= —E-C
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETT
Convertible bonds AERES
— Current — B HE - 2,906,963
() On 20 February 2019, the Company issued a tranche of () RZE-AF-_HAZ+RH K

1,600 H share convertible bonds with an aggregate
principal amount of USD400,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB2,702,320,000 translated at the then
exchange rate). Each number of bond has a face value of
USD250,000 and a maturity date of 20 February 2026.
The bonds bear interest at 3.0% per annum payable
semi-annually in arrears on 30 June and 31 December of
each year. The bondholders have the right to convert the
bonds to the Company’s ordinary shares at a price of
HK$14 per conversion share, which subject to adjustment
in relation to the adjusted net profit for the year ended
31 December 2021. The bonds are unsecured.

As the convertible bonds do not contain an equity
component, the conversion option embedded in the
convertible bonds above is measured at fair value and

the liability component is carried at amortised cost.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

23 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continued)

(ii)

On 26 September 2022, the Company repurchased
certain convertible bonds in the aggregate principal
amount of USD95,337,821 with total consideration of
UsD127,317,844 (equivalent to RMB912,907,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
entered into certain bond purchase agreements with the
bondhalders, pursuant to which the Company agreed to
repurchase all remaining portion of the convertible
bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
UsbD28,911,534, USD43,118,778, USD38,547,623 and
USD194,161,057 from the bondholders at the total
purchase price of USD40,000,000, USD60,000,000,
USD54,075,477 and USD263,191,332 on or before 31
January 2023, 15 March 2023, 3 April 2023 and 5 July
2023 respectively.

On 5 July 2023, the Company completed redemption all
the convertible bonds pursuant to above agreements.
The bondholders no longer have any interest in the
bonds and/or any rights arising therefrom.

(B BEHH -

BAANRESIR)

23 itEEFE

(if)

RZZBEZZFNA=Z+8"
KRR BREERSBEA
95,337,821 & Ty E T AT 88
BEH #BRER127,317,844
Ex (HE RN ARE
912,907,000 7T) °

Bz -_=F+_-_A=+—
AIEFE  AAREESEFA
AN ETESFEE RS B
I RARIRERZTEZ=F
—A=Z+—"H8 - ==%=
A+RH -—ZT-_=FmWA=
BN -_ZE-_=F+tFAHx%Z
Al - D Rl B EEE K
40,000,000 7T * 60,000,000
XJT > 54,075,477F Tt &
263,191,332k T ' MEH
EAEBRXRSEER
28,911,534 3 T ~ 43,118,778
XU~ 38,547,623F Tt &
194,161,057 3 JT Ky A] 88 # (B
HRBER T o

R-ZTE-_=FtAAB A2
AR & bt 15 =% < A B [0 22 &6
AEREs BEFRHAEATE
REF K,/ 3m b EE AE HEfA]
BN TR -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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(BRBEERAN - HUAREIITR)
23 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (continued) 23 FFEEBRE)
(i) The convertible bonds recognised in the consolidated (i) AEBEGZEUBRAKERN
statement of financial position of the Group are analysed ATERESSTEOT -
as follows:
Liability  Derivative
component component Total
PTE
=N g IERHG #et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®FT ARBTT
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—_F—Hf—H 2,364,366 235,759 2,600,125
Change on derivative financial ~ #x AT EREHFNITE
instruments embedded in SR TEAZE (H5E4)
convertible bonds (Note 4) - 859,569 859,569
Accrued interest (Note 5(a)) FEEE B (B 7% 5@)) 257,329 - 257,329
Interest paid B FLE (78,485) - (78,485)
Exchange loss I 4, &18 239,811 - 239,811
Repurchase of convertible bonds & [B] A] &5 # (& %
(Note 23(ii)) (B3 23(i)) (658,709)  (312,677)  (971,386)
At 31 December 2022 RN-_T——
+=ZA=+—H 2,124,312 782,651 2,906,963
Change on derivative financial ~ # A A 82 (E %5 K
instruments embedded in PTESRMI AN
convertible bonds (Note 4) 2E) (fH3E4) - 79,796 79,796
Accrued interest (Note 5(a)) FEET B (M FE5()) 92,178 - 92,178
Interest paid EF A (66,678) - (66,678)
Exchange loss b 5 &8 35,730 - 35,730
Repurchase of convertible bonds F# [B] 7] & #2 (&
(Note 23(ii)) (B 5T 23(ii)) (2,185,542)  (862,447) (3,047,989)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F
+=-A=+—H - - -
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(BRBEEBRAI - HUARETSIR)
24 DEFERRED INCOME 24 EIEWA
2023 2022
ZEZE = __

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

B & ARBTRT ARETRT

At 1 January »—A—H 195,684 142,109

Additions NE 7,851 61,770

Credited to profit or loss T AEE 4 (8,195) (8,195)

At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H 195,340 195,684
Net carrying amounts representing: B8Rl /FEIE

Current portion B E &L 8,195 8,195

Non-current portion JERNHARE 2 187,145 187,489

195,340 195,684

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, deferred income of the
Group mainly included various conditional government grants
for R&D projects of new or existing pharmaceutical products
and subsidies relating to purchase of fixed assets.

Deferred income relating to purchase of fixed assets are
recognised as income on a straight-line basis over the expected
useful life of the relevant assets.

MRZEZ=FfR-ZFT-__F+=A
=t+t—H AEBENEERAEE
BEAMIMERNIRA ERH TR
BEMZHEBRGBNEE LR
HEBRTEERBOMA -

FREEBEEEMNETWALE
MEENBAIERFHANER
ERER AU
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(Br=FERERAN - BAARKETIR)

25 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The controlling shareholder of the Group, Sunshine Lake
Pharma, adopted a restricted share scheme in June 2023 (the
“2023 Restricted Share Scheme”) for the purpose of attracting
and retaining the employees. Under the 2023 Restricted Share
Scheme, up to 7,926,777 restricted shares of Sunshine Lake
Pharma may be granted to the selected employees serving in
the Group at an exercise price of RMB0.7738 per share. These
restricted shares will vest after the 5th anniversary of the
grant date, on the condition that the employees remain in
service and has fulfilled certain performance requirement. If
employees leave the Group before the vesting date or fail to
fulfill the performance requirement, the restricted shares will
be forfeited. The forfeited shares will be repurchased by a
shareholder designated by Sunshine Lake Pharma at the
original exercise price, and with an additional 3% per annum
interest, and if applicable, and could be reallocated in the
subsequent grants at the discretion of Sunshine Lake Pharma.

On 18 July 2023, 7,926,777 restricted shares of Sunshine Lake
Pharma under the 2023 Restricted Share Scheme were granted
to the selected employees serving in the Group. The weighted
average grant date fair value of restricted shares per share
and aggregate fair value of restricted shares at the date of
grant were RMB57.71 and RMB457,496,000, respectively. The
fair value of restricted shares of Sunshine Lake Pharma at the
grant date was determined by using the asset-based valuation
method.

Total compensation expense calculated based on the grant
date fair value and the estimated forfeiture rate recognised in
the consolidated statements of profit or loss for
aforementioned restricted shares granted to the Group’s
employees were RMB45,136,000 (2022: n/a). No restrict
shares were forfeited or vested during the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: n/a). The weighted-average remaining
contract life for the outstanding restricted shares granted was
54 months as at 31 December 2023.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R B o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB EERIN  HUAARETIR)
26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 26 SR& M EMRARAMN S
OF FINANCIAL POSITION B
(@) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) HEHMBRRRAMENEE E
financial position represents: &
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-—
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
M ARETRT AREBTTT
Provision of PRC CIT for the year A& B E
TS fi 6(a) 368,088 59,351
(Qver)/under-provision for PRC BFFEFR B EESH
CIT in respect of prior years (BB BBTRE 6 (66) 6,123
PRC CIT paid for the current year A4 [Z R E 1+
R PTISTR (230,485) (255,427)
137,537 (189,953)
Balance of PRC CIT at 1 January #»—A—HH
B SIS T A R 8,672 198,625
Balance of PRC CIT at R+ A=+—8H8
31 December PR EMSH AR 146,209 8,672
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(Br=FERERAN - BAARKETIR)

26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 26 #Z&8 B BMRRETARANFRE

OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued) Bs)
(b) Deferred tax assets recognised (b) CRIBELEHREEE
The components of deferred tax assets recognised in the RERE BRI KR A ERE IR
consolidated statements of financial position and the TR IEE FE AR IR0 AR
movements during the year are as follows: ERNEHBHMT
Fair value
changein
connection
with
Provisions for derivative Excessed Provisions  Depreciation
Deferred  inventory and Accrued financial ~ advertisement forintangible forfixed  Unused tax
revenue  receivables expenses  instruments expenses assets assets losses Total
BEfE
RETHREN FEREY SRIEZ BERS EYEE BE&E ABA
Deferred tax arising from:  EREHE : BERE FERRE Eit8R LABESD BX BE i hEER @it

RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB00D RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
AR®TL  ARHTL  ARETn  ARETn ARETn  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

At 1 January 2022 W-E--%-f-H 13 17,012 8,901 (549) 3333 6,49 - - 65,318
Credited/(charged) to A/ (%) B
profitorloss (lote6@)  (F3£6(3) 3 (5,019) 033 19075 ©72) 53015 137) - 7521

At 31 December 202and  R=E==F

1 January 2023 TZRA=t-Bk
“ECZE-f-8 507 11,993 39,238 18,526 24613 59,511 (13,779) - 140,609
(Charged)/credited to (k) /3t A&
proft o loss Qote63)  (FFE6(8) «) 27 0%6) Qe (4613 49ET 163 e 97,077

At 31 December 2023 R-F-ZE+Zf
=t+-A 458 14,720 3,282 (3,289) - 109,386 (12,144) 9,13 237,686
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRAERPI - AUAREIIR)

26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 26 Z&8 B BHRRETARANFRE

OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued) B

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised () FAFRIMELEHEBEEE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note AR AR B R 1(u) T8 & 5T R
1(u), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in AR EEBZBEaEER R
respect of cumulative tax losses of RMB347,021,000 FEBARME  TAARE
(2022: RMB318,515,000) as it is not probable that future IR 2R FE ER B Sa ) DA $KC 88 ] (8
taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised Az BHIEEE  WASEI &
will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and MEFHEEE ARE
entity. 347,021,000 0 (ZE = =

AR 318,515,000 7T) FER IR
EFRIBEE °

The unrecognised tax losses will expire in the following A R R AL B HR 2 AR TERR
years: THIE 18
2023 2022
—EB=F —_F-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSTR ARBTET
2023 —EZ=F - 70,194
2024 ZEZNF 7,448 41,145
2025 “E-RF 25,852 33,740
2026 ZEZRF 97,088 97,275
2027 —EF 40,000 76,161
2028 —ZEDN\F 176,633 -
347,021 318,515
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(B =B AN - GUARKEIIR)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 27 EX - REERRE
(a) Movements in components of equity of the Company (@) ELAFRZERBHEH
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REBGEERS BN 2FT
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated N R G R 2 [ R S BR B A AR
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of ERREHERAN - BRAFUE
changes in equity. Details of the changes in the FREABA QN RE R E = 35
Company’s individual components of equity between the ZEBHBEHINNAT

beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

Share Capital Statutory Retained Total
capital reserve reserve earnings equity
IS BAfGRE EERE REBN HEL
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR  AR®FTT ARBTR ARETL ARETR
Note 27(c) ~ Note 27(d)() ~ Note 27(d)(ii)
MEE27()  BEE27(0)0)  BEE27(d)i)

Balance at 1 January 2022 R-E-_—_F—-F—-A#&% 879,968 2,647,175 328,692 2,399,392 6,255,227
Total comprehensive income FRE2ENELE

for the year - - - 241,960 241,960
Balance at 31 December 2022 W-Z--#+-R

and 1 January 2023 =+-ARk=-Z==%

—A-H8&EH 879,968 2,647,175 328,692 2,641,352 6,497,187

Equity-settled share-based NEREZENRAIZ R

payments - 42,092 - - 42,092
Appropriation of statutory reserve  REVAT A - - 111,291 (111,291) -
Total comprehensive income ERPANEEE

for the year - - - 1,910,568 1,910,568

Balance at 31 December 2023 i —a
+ZA=+-B&% 879,968 2,689,267 439,983 4,440,629 8,449,847
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(B BEHH -

BAANRESIR)

27 BEX - REERRE @)

Dividends by K2
No dividends have been declared or paid by the Company HE_ZS-_GR-ZT-=F
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023. +ZA=+—HIEFE &ARQ
AT R IRTARE o
Share capital (&N
2023 2022
—E-=F T F
Number of Number of
shares RMB’000 shares RMB’000
BRHBE AR¥TR BmgE ARETFT
Ordinary shares, issued B 21T REEH
and fully paid: LR
As at 1 January and 31 R—H—B&K
December +ZA=+—H | 879,967,700 879,968 | 879,967,700 879,968
Reserves (d) f#E
(i) Capitalreserve (i) EBXfFE
The Company’s capital reserve mainly represented RKAREAREEIER

premium arising from capital injection from equity
owners after the deduction of treasury shares
cancellation, assets obtained from the controlling
shareholder, the grant date fair value of
unexercised share options granted to NCI of a
subsidiary of the Group and the grant date fair
value of restricted shares granted to the
employees of the Group (see Note 25) that has
been recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for share-based payments (see Note

1(E)D)).

EHREFRMDEHER
ELrARaRAANIE
B - B R B
BHWEE BTAKHE
B /B8 2 A IF 22 B HE A
RITEBEREREHA
HH AR EERRERT
AEBEREER ZZEHIIK
MRELBHORRE
B (R M 25) (BERES
B AR REEs
B T LARER) (R MY A
1)
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(BB -

BIAANRESITR)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d)

(e)

()

Reserves (continued)

(ii) Statutory reserve

According to the Company’s Articles of Association,
the Company is required to appropriate at least
10% of its net profit as determined in accordance
with the Company Law of the PRC to its statutory
surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches
50% of the registered capital. The appropriation to
this reserve must be made before distribution of a
dividend to equity owners. The statutory reserve
can be utilised, upon approval by the relevant
authorities, to offset accumulated losses or to
convert into capital, provided that the balance
after such issue is not less than 25% of its
registered capital.

Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity sharehaolders of the
Company, as calculated under the provisions of Company
Law of the PRC, was RMB4,440,629,000 (2022:
RMB2,641,352,000).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objective when managing capital is
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for its
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by
pricing products commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

27 BEX - RERRE @)

(d)

(e)

()
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BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

U]

Capital management (continued)

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholders returns that might be possible with
higher levels of bank loans and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes

in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose,
adjusted net debt is defined as total debt (which includes
interest-bearing borrowings and bank loans and other
borrowings) plus unaccrued proposed dividends, less
cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash. Adjusted
capital comprises all components of equity, less
unaccrued proposed dividends.

During 2023, the Group’s strategy was to maintain the
capital in order to continue its operations, cover its
planned and/or committed capital expenditure and cover
its debt position.

(B BEHH -

BAANRESIR)

27 BEX - REERRE @)

U]

EXREE (E)

AEEBEBLERFERER
HEAER NERERSK
REFREEKFLEFZE
AR EREHNERNRANES
B 72 2 2 R M T S
& BEBRNEMBAER
BAREERE -

AEBENRRHBFEHRER
b REEHERRE - 5Lk
BORBARFEBILIRERR
B (BREAEERRRITE
RREMER) ZMARERZ
ERERRERRSEFEEE
AEZRERE - EHAEER
B3 T 2 O P B AL AR ER 7 TR R

REZERE -

R =% AEEKEE
RRFBER NBEBRLEXE
% T EFEIRRAEE
A - WREBEEHNLR
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(Br=FERERAN - BAARKETIR)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M o

27 BEX - RERRE @)

Capital management (continued) ) EXREE(E)
The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-equity ratios at 31 REBR_T_=FKR_F
December 2023 and 2022 are as follows: ZZHFFTZA=+T—BZ&H
BFEBEERLENOT
2023 2022
—==-= —E=-=
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
[ihg=3 AREBTRT ARBTT
Bank loans and other IRITER R EAM
borrowings — current fg sk — BN ER 22 2,319,518 223,343
Bank loans and other IRITER R EAM
borrowings — non-current &R — JERNER 22 288,286 691,529
Interesting-bearing borrowings & E &K 23 - 2,906,963
Total debt BIER 2,607,804 3,821,835
Less: Restricted cash W ZRHIE S 18 (1,567,300) (76,781)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents J& : & MIR&EEER 19 (1,674,413) (923,543)
Adjusted net (capital)/debt REE(EF) B EE (633,909) 2,821,511
Total equity BREZE 7,935,513 6,070,001
Adjusted Capital BRBEER 7,935,513 6,070,001
Adjusted net debt-to-equity SR FEKY
ratio RS R N/A 46%

Except for the covenants of bank loan disclosed in Note
22(a)(ii), neither the Company nor its subsidiary are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements as at
31 December 2023.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks

arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The

Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk

management policies and practices used by the Group to

manage these risks are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables. The
Group maintains a defined credit policy and the
expasures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis. The Group’s expasure to credit risk arising
from cash and cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions, for
which the Group considers to have low credit risk.
Management has a credit policy in place and the
expasures to these credit risks are monitored on an

ongoing basis.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which the customers
operate and therefore significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant

exposure to individual customers.

28

(B BEHH -

BAANRESIR)

BBRREERAAEE

A&

BREEXBEETEEEE
nBEE MEREERR -

SR P R % F R R AR R
FAA & 38 5% 35 L B 0 B 75 L B B R
BER M ERFRMT -

(a)

ERAR

EERBREEHF I IETE
MBS ERAE B EEM
BRONER AEBEMEER
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HIE - AEEREABNEE
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- AHFHRARERBE
ERBRBRENRT RS RE
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EEHEEERE LEHE

S e
ERZEEERR -

AEEESNEERRIZS
NeREPMERFIEmTE
EREFEEMAEITRLE
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(BB -

BIAANRESITR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(a)

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has a concentration of credit risk of the total
trade receivables due from the Group’s largest debtor
and the five largest debtors as follows:

28

BBERERERAAEE

(%)

(a)

FERE(E)

AEENEERRSES  BYK
AEESERKEBARAKXER
AWE ZRYGRIERREMT

2023 2022
—E=-= —E- -
Due from JE W
— largest trade debtor — &EREBA 22% 22%
— five largest trade debtors — AKEBA 68% 73%

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Credit limit is established for each
distributor which represents the maximum open amount
or credit term without requiring approval from the Board
of Directors. The Group chases the customers to settle
the due balances and maonitors the settlement progress
on an ongoing basis. The Group usually granted credit
term to distributors which was generally due within
30-90 days from the date of billing. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers.

HESHREMEBEURKEBEMES
REBSHMBEERET T
CHEEENEPHETEIEE
M RENHEERFPBREA
FEERCEARBRAINER
BN WEERAREFIUR
BERPREMERLBRRNET
BR - SDHEEAMERTEEE
REAHDAKEESSHENEK
BAREESEXEERR K
SEeRANEFLASI B
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FF30Z=90H A EIAf o — /& i
T AEETEEREFPREM
@ o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade debtors
and bills receivable and other debtors at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the loss
allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer
bases.

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade

(B BEHH -

BAANRESIR)

28 MBEABREERAAEBE

(%)

(a)

FERBE(E)

AR EZESNEBEE WA
BHEEERNSRAEES
B U BR TR N PR M R 9B % EL At R
WEHERNEREE AR
TERBEREAERSL - /A
RASEEBENEEBELR
TARRARELDRHEHEXN
TREBEEESN  EXBEas
MENEBEERETSE TN
AEETRZPER 2R —

R

AEEEZREFTENEER
0 & IEHEE R R

receivables: BRINTNERR
2023
—EBC-=F
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount  allowance
FEHEER BRE#E EERE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETRT AR¥TR
Within 6 months 61 H A 0.5% 1,980,201 9,901
More than 6 months but within B 6 E A
1 year B1FER 11% 13,957 1,535
More than 1 year but within 2 years #B3@ 198 2FR 45% 67 30
More than 2 years but within 3 years i@ 2 F18 3 F K 100% 15 15
More than 3 years BiR3F 100% 6,317 6,317
2,000,557 17,798
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BT FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(Br=FERERAN - BAARKETIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(@) Credit risk (continued)

28 HEREERAAEBE

(%)

(@) fFERRE)

2022
T F
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance

BHERE REAE - BEEA
%  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBETT ARETT

Within 6 months 618 A A 0.5% 885,753 4,429

More than 6 months but within iR e {E A
1 year B1FRA 11% 72 8
More than 1 year but within 2 years BB 1FE2F R 45% 95 43
More than 2 years but within 3 years 882418 34X 100% 500 500
More than 3 years HBim3F 100% 6,191 6,191
892,611 11,171
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of
trade receivables during the year is as follows:

(B BEHH -

BAANRESIR)

28 MBEABREERAAEBE

(%)

(a)

FERBE(E)

FNE S EBFAREBRER
HEBIT -

2023 2022
—E-= —E-C
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TET
Balance at 1 January R—A—BW&eR 11,171 15,097
Impairment loss recognised during ~ FRHEZREEIE
the year 6,710 896
Impairment loss reversed during FANRLERESE
the year (83) (4,822)
Balance at 31 December RT+-A=+—HMW&Es% 17,798 11,171
Liquidity risk (b) FEELRAR

The Company and its individual subsidiaries are
responsible for their own cash management, including
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising
of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to
approval by the Company’s board when the bank loans
exceed certain predetermined levels of authority. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash,
readily realisable marketable securities and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the

short and longer term.

ARARENBARBER S
MIRSEETE BRERA
RV E IR E S B ETARE
NEAREF R (WRRTE
FREBBXLAREELR
BERESARBDEZTEOH
) c REBEOMBERETHE
BERBESHR  UEEREN
BRERRENRTE - AERE
R T4 ) 3R & & A A0 A (L BE B
EENEEES AKESE
ETRMEBAGRHRHNE
RES UnREHMERES
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(Br=FERERAN - BAARKETIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 HEREERAAEBE

VALUES (continued) (&)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) HREBELRR(E)
The following tables show the remaining contractual THRENAEBE Z2HAEER
maturities at the end of each report periods of the SHEBRB T 26 L5 H
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on A DEREARTRRSN
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest (BRREHNFEFE ZFE
payments computed at contracted rates, if floating, R S RFB R X - Bl
based on rates current at the end of the reporting RBERARERHMNEFTE
period) and the earliest date the Group can be required NRAEEEE R ZFEE:
to:

2023
—EC=F

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BRRTERERH

Morethan  More than

Withinl  1yearbut 2yearsbut
yearoron  lessthan  lessthan  More than Carrying
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount

1¥ps #B1F  #B2F
RERX 2R 55k BB5F st BREE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’'000  RMB’'000
ARBTR ARBTRT ARWMTIT AR®TR ARTR AR%TR

Bank loans BITER 1,787,915 210,599 503,609 23,912 2,526,035 2,419,436
Trade and other payables SR EMERNTIE 1,755,352 - - - 1,755,352 1,755,352
Lease liabilities HERRE 419 419 838 - 1,676 1,524
Obligations arising from sale &% MBI FELE

and leaseback transactions & 160,966 18,412 18,412 - 197,790 188,368
Total M 3,704,652 229,430 522,859 23,912 4,480,853 4,364,680

304 YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023



28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

VALUES (continued)

(b)

(c)

Liquidity risk (continued)

(BR=EHEAIN - BUAAREIIR)

28 HEREERAAEBE

(%)

(b) RBESEMR(E)

2022
—E-F
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BRRFRALRE
More than ~ Mare than
Within1 ~ 1yearbut 2 yearsbut
yearoron  lessthan  lessthan  More than Carrying
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
1A% #B1F  Bi#2F

BER  (E2FR
RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT

B5FR  HBSF ' EEE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTTE ARBTL ARBTR ARETR

Bank loans RITER 193,343 125451 511,790 74952 905536 776,930
Trade and other payables B REMENTE 1,718,222 - - - 1718222 1,718,222
Interest-bearing borrowings TSR 3,107,587 - - - 3,107,587 2,906,963
Obligations arising fromsale % BER FEE

and leaseback transactions REK 81,042 64,474 - - 145,516 137,942
Total @t 500,194 189,925 511,790 74952 5,876,861 5,540,057

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s
interest rate risk arises primarily from bank loans. Bank
loans that are at variable rates and at fixed rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value
interest rate risk respectively. The Group’s interest rate
profiles as monitored by management is set out in (i)
below.

() FERER

MEEBRAS-BEERTANAD
REBEEIARKRSREHAD
35 ) 3 DA 7 B2 B P S SR
@ AKREZNERAREER
BIRTTEN ¥ B K EEME
RITEREASE D B E R
TRENERAR LD EER
KRR TXOTFHINERE
BEEERZAKENEAMR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(Br=FERERAN - BAARKETIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 KEBEERANAEE
VALUES (continued) (&)
() Interest rate risk (continued) (c) F=Ep(E)
() Interest rate profile (i) FBARR
The following table details the interest rate profile TRFMRN TR EBHRA
of the Group’s bank loans at the end of the SEBRITERFEAR
reporting period: e
2023 2022
—E-ZE —E-CF
Effective Effective
interest rate Amount interest rate Amount
BERF% +8 ERF% |
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBFL
Fixed rate instruments: EEfEIA:
Convertible bonds ELES - - 3.00% 2,906,963
Obligations arising from saleand ~ EATRER HEENEH
leaseback transactions 4,95%-5.76% 38,205 4.95% 87,933
Floating rate instrument; FEIA:
Bank loans RITER LPR- LPR+
125bp-335bp  2,399.924 |  Obp-85hp 766,263
Obligations arising from sale ERBRRSEENRE
and leaseback transactions LPR+220bp 150,163 LPR+220bp 50,009
Total interest-bearing SBENREESE
loans and borrowings 2,588,292 3,811,168
Net fixed rate instruments ETHEIAFRLIA
as a percentage of AENEAL
total instruments 1.48% 78.58%
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BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRAERPI - AUAREIIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk (continued)

(i)  Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 25 basis points in
bank loans interest rates, with all other variables
held constant, would have decrease/increase the
Group’s profit after tax and retained profits by
approximately RMB5,243,000 (2022: decrease/
increase the profit of RMB1,594,000). Other
components of equity would not be affected by the

changes in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the impact
on the Group’s profit for the year and retained
profits that would arise assuming that there is an
annualised impact on interest expense by a change
in interest rates. The analysis has been performed
on the same basis as 2022.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
bank loans, interest-bearing baorrowings, shares issued
upon initial public offering which give rise to cash
balances and purchase which give rise to receivables and
payables that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e.
a currency other than the functional currency of the
operations to which the transactions relate. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Hong Kong
dollars and United States dollars.

28 MBEABREERAAEBE

(%)

()

(d)

=@ (&)

(i) HREDH

e

—EZ=F%+= A
=+—H ERBEAM
BERFIENBERLT -
HETRITERFI R
EFH 25 fE B
HERAEEB R E
i M KRB & o B
LM AR
5,243,000 (=& ==
FmAED  IEMAR
¥ 1,594,0007T) ° E b
e R RN S

BT -

b i U AT o R
B 4F 3% P R AR B R
MY BREBRNEEH
EHFI B BREE
CHEMESL - UEH
i —FE - —F @&
HAET o

B ER

AEEETERRITER 58
AR BRAFEEREITR
D E LRI S R RIASNE (B
B2 58 BRI PTY K 3E
DEEEH) S ENERERR
BEEEEMNBKNEMNKIEM
A EBER - 5| Bt BE R
MEBETZRBITMET
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B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(Br=FERERAN - BAARKETIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 XEBEEBERAAEE
VALUES (continued) (&)
(d) Currency risk (continued) d) E¥ERERE)
() Exposure to currency risk () ERE¥ER

The following table details the Group’s exposure at
the end of the reporting period to currency risk
arising from recognised assets or liabilities
denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the entity to which they
relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of
the exposure are shown in RMB, translated using
the spot rate at the year end date.

TRHFLANEER HRE
HIRPTE R E 4+ B R
NEBERINESTE I
SNVEBEHENEES
BEMNERRER -2
JIME - AR EURA
REIR HFEERR
BEX®ME -

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in RMB)

HERMERE (UARBIITR)
2023 2022
—E-=F T
United United
States Hong Kong States Hong Kong
Dollars Dollars Dollars Dollars
ESH BT eV BT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR AR¥TR AREBTT ARETR
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEER 15 20 16 1,398
Trade and other payables B R HEMENFIE - - (104,469) -
Bank loans RITER (672,857) - - -
Interest-bearing borrowings T 8 - - | (2,906,963) -
Net exposure arising from BREEREEN
recognised assets and [ B %5
liabilities (672,842) 20 (3,011,416) 1,398
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BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued)

(i)

(B BEHH -

BAANRESIR)

28 BBEREERAREE

(%)

(d) E¥ERE)

Sensitivity analysis (i) BBEDH
At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that a R_ZE =%+ A
general appreciation/depreciation of 5% in RMB, =+—H ERBEAM
with all other variables held constant, would have BERFTELNELT
increased/decreased the Group’s net profit for the mEtAREERENE T
year and retained profits as below. B5% HEHAEEN
FROFMNE RRE R F
DRI EAIT .
2023 2022
—ECZ=F B4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT
United States Dollars ETT 28,596 127,985
Hong Kong Dollars BT (1) (59)
The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in LR ESTBRE
foreign exchange rate had been applied to re- ZEHEANENGE
measure the financial instruments held by the RREARSAEEE

Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period. The analysis
excludes differences that would result from the
translation of the financial statement of foreign
operations into the Group’s presentation currency.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2022.

2 SN [ B ) 2N 5 B 8
ENERTE - %DM
TRIEREIINEBET B
BREVRERAEEZT
EEEEMNERE - UL
AMEBEE-_ZTE-_—FH
BREEHLT o
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BT FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B AN - GUARKEIIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES (continued)

(e) Fair value measurement

(i) Financial instruments and liabilities measured at

fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the

Group’s financial instruments measured at the end

of the reporting period on a recurring basis,

categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy

as defined in IFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The

level into which a fair value measurement is

classified is determined with reference to the

observability and significance of the inputs used in

the valuation technique as follows:

valuations:

valuations:

. Level 1
. Level 2
. Level 3

valuations:

Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date.

Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. abservable inputs
which fail to meet Level 1, and
not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are
not available.

Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

28 BHEREERAREE

(&)
e) =
0]
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES (continued)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

P ey

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

28

(i) Financial instruments and liabilities measured at

fair value (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

(B BRI -
BBEBEERDAEBE

(&)

BAANRESIR)

(e) AAEEEGE)

() BAREBESENEE
TARGBE#E)

KA EEER (E)

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2023 categorised into
RZBZ=ZF+=ZA=+—-HBH

MREEHESEAR
Fair value at
31 December
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
R-B-=f
+=ZB=+-H
ZAREE E14 EPEE #38
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETR AR®TR ARBTR
Recurring fair value REMIAEETE
measurements
Financial assets measured BOABEIEEEEY
at FUPL AR EREE
— Listed equity securities — ERAE S 19,587 19,587 - -
— Foreign currency option —NEEERH
contracts 18,686 - 18,686 -
Financial liabilities measured ~ AR EBEFEAEEH
at FupL AARRNERAR
— Foreign currency option —NEERERD
contracts (1,139) - (1,139) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(Br=FERERAN - BAARKETIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28
VALUES (continued)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial instruments and liabilities measured at
fair value (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

BBERERERAAEE

(%)
(e) DAEMEFE(E)

() BAREBESENEH
TARGE#E)

KA EEER (E)

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2022 categorised into
RZFZZFFZA=1—HH
AEEHENER

Fair value at
31 December

2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
i —
+-A=t-8
ZRREME £14 WL ERE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBFT ARBT ARBTFT
Recurring fair value REMIAEETE
measurements
Financial assets measured BOAEBEIEEEE
at FUPL AABRRKNEREE 290,000 - 290,000 -
Non-current assets held BIEHENFERDEE
for sale 2,312,320 - - 2,312,320
Convertible bonds Ak ES
— Derivative component —TET A
(Note 23(ii)) (UEZED)) 782,651 - 782,651 -
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BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

0]

Financial instruments and liabilities measured at
fair value (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2023, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair

value measurements

The fair value of foreign exchange option contracts
is determined using the spot price of the foreign
exchange rates as of the valuation date, strike
rates, forward foreign exchange rates, implied
volatilities of foreign exchange rates and the risk-
free rates.

The fair value of conversion option embedded in
convertible bonds in Level 2 is the estimated
amount that the Group would pay to terminate the
option at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the underlying share price and the
potential shares outstanding to be converted.

(B BEHH -

BAANRESIR)

28 BBEREERAREE

(%)

(e) 2R

0]

BEE(E)

BEORBEEGFENEE
TARGBE#E)

KA EEER (E)

HE2-_Z-_=ZF+_-A
=+—HLEFE FIH
M2 MBI EEE
FEALBHEIR -

F2RANEBEHGEFE
FA B9 125 18 £ 1 #1802
&

SMNE R HB AT E
ERAEERNSAEE -
TTHEME = ~ mHAME = -~ Sh
EEXNRSEDHER
BRERMEETE -

Rt RERRE BT
e R XD 1R - 56 24%
AERESARAZE
BENINEESAE
B R E B RE AN
RIFHERfhET 28 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB -

BIAANRESITR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

0]

Financial instruments and liabilities measured at
fair value (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

The movements during the year in the balance of

28 BHEREERAREE

(%)

(e)

DREEFE(E)

0]

BEAORBEEGFENEE
TARGE#E)

BREIRANEBENE
HIEH

HZEEIMDIABENE

these Level 3 fair value measurements are as ERMFERNEFHNT :
follows:
2023 2022
—E=-= —E=-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TET
Unlisted equity securities: FELETRAFS
At 1 January Rn—H—H 2,312,320 1,789,621
Disposal during the year FALE (2,312,320) -
Changes in fair value recognised in AR BzEERK
profit or loss during the year NAEEEZE - 522,699
At 31 December W+=ZA=+—H - 2,312,320
The gains or losses arising from the EFFIELTRAES

remeasurement of the listed equity securities, the
foreign currency option contracts, the conversion
option embedded in the convertible bonds and
unlisted equity securities are presented in the
“Other net losses” line item in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R B o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRAERPI - AUAREIIR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 28 IBEBMEERAIAEBE
VALUES (continued) (&)
(e) Fair value measurement (continued) (e) 2AREEEE)
(i) Fair value of other financial assets and liabilities (i) UDXAAREEUISRT
carried at other than fair value RNHMEREERE
BAREE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial A 6R [B R AROAS 3HE SE BK
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost were AIEMESRTARA
not materially different from their fair values as at BEEHAR-_ZZ=F
31 December 2023. +ZA=+—HBMAR
ERETHESAER-
29 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 29 BEXREE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December not RtT+ZA=+—H G0 B%®R
provided for in the consolidated financial statements were as KR RBEORBITEANRENT
follows:
2023 2022
—EB-=F g
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTRT AR®TET

Contracted for SHES]
Acquisition of fixed assets BERTEEE 568,069 254,472
Acquisition of intangible assets BEEFEE 1,427,105 1,621,727

1,995,174 1,876,199
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB -

30

BIAANRESITR)

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During 2023 and 2022, the directors are of the view that

related parties of the Group include the following:

Name of related parties

BB S B

30 EXEBARS

RZBEZ=ZFR-_ZB__F £=F
REREBBEEHB2EATSS

Relationship with the Group
BEREENER

Sunshine Lake Pharma

BERRG I BEE

Shaoguan HEC Packaging and Printing Co., Ltd.*
(RARGXBEIHRERAR)
(“Shaoguan HEC Printing”)

HBERG K BEDRABR AR (RS ER )

Yichang HEC Power Plant Co., Ltd.*
(EERGANNBEARRAR)
(“HEC Power Plant”)
BERBAANETARAF (REEINEE])

Yidu Shanchengshuidu Project Construction Co., Ltd.**#

(BB KEBRETIRBERAT)
(“Yidu Construction”)

HERMUBKEBEETIZEARAR ([EHEED

Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*
(FURREAEXBRAA)
(“Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical”)

RRGAEXBRAR ([FRRG R EX])

Yidu Changjiang Machinery Equipment Co., Ltd.*
(EMRIIEWMREERARF])
(“Yidu Machinery”)

HBRIMWMZEERAR ([BERIEMERED

the immediate parent of the Group

AEENEZRY AR

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

MREERERERER

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

HREERERERER

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

HREERERERER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 s B

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Name of related parties

B BB

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=EHEAIN - BUAAREIIR)

30 EXEBAERS &)

Relationship with the Group
BEREBENER

Shenzhen HEC Industrial

RYIRGIE R

Guangdong HEC Health Sales Co., Ltd.*
(BERREGARERHEEFRAF])
(“Guangdong HEC Health Sales”)

BERRGEAEEHEARAT
(TERREBERZEHEED

Yichang HEC Biochemical Manufacturing Co., Ltd.*

(EERGAE(REFRAT])
(“HEC Biochemistry Manufacturing”)

HERGEE(CHEFER AR ([RECE(CEE])

Dongguan HEC Drug Development Co., Ltd.*
(RERBAEDHERRAF])
(“Dongguan HEC Drug Development”)

RERGAEDMEBR AR ([RERE A EDHIE])

Yichang Shancheng Shuidu Restaurant Co.,Ltd.*
(EEWLBKEBREBIEFRAF)
(“Yichang Shancheng Shuidu Restaurant”)

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling

shareholder

HRAEREREDER

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling

shareholder

REEERERESHESR

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling

shareholder

MEEERERESHESR

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

HRAEREREDESR

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling

shareholder

HEWWBKBABREERAR ([EEILPKEBARE]) HRELERRRERESR
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B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B HEHIN - GUARKEIIR)

30

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Name of related parties

BB B8

30 EXEBAERS (&)

Relationship with the Group
BEREENER

— Shenzhen HEC Formed foil Co., Ltd.*
CRINTREGHALBSERD BRAA])
(“Shenzhen HEC Formed foil”)

RINT RS HACBSER D BR A A
(DRI REE S ALRCE])

— Dongguan HEC Biopharmaceutical R&D Co., Ltd.*
(REMREGHEYEREFRAA)
(“Dongguan HEC Biopharmaceutical”)

REMRGHEYEREFRAA]
(IRE=mREALEME])

— HEC (Hong Kong) Sales Co., Limited
(ARG HIBEERAT)
(“HEC (Hong Kong) Sales”)
EBRGHIHEBRAR([EERGAEE]D

— HEC Medicine Retail Chain Co., Ltd. Yidu Store*

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling

shareholder

MEEERERESHESR

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling

shareholder

REEERERESHESR

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling

shareholder

MEEERERESHESR

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling

(R HEEEEHARATEHE) shareholder
(“HEC Medicine Retail Chain”)

RERETEEHEER AR TEHE HEAIERRRESES
(IREEHETEEHE])

* The English translation of the above companies’ names is for reference * FATERWOEXEHREHRSE - %

only. The official names of these companies are in Chinese.

# The controlling shareholder sold its equity interests in Yidu Construction
to a third party on 28 September 2023. Yidu Construction was no longer

a related party of the Group since then.

FERRME T B AT XA

# PERER-—E-=FAA -+ N\BE
HBENEERBETE=H-8
It BEEETHEAEEMRME S -
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30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P ey

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=EHEAIN - BUAAREIIR)

(continued)

(a)

Transactions with related parties (a)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
entered into the following material related party
transactions:

30 EXRBEBERS (@)

HEBLZX5

BE_T-_=F+-_A=+—
ALEFE  AEEFTYUTE
AEB AR5

2023 2022

—EB-=F =S
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AREBTT

(i)  Purchase of goods from: () BUTEZFEEER:
— HEC Biochemistry — RGN E (R

Manufacturing 33,579 33,377
— HEC Power Plant —RBEXNNEE 40,822 33,933
— Shaoguan HEC Printing — ARG 37,869 24,628
— Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical — FLRERG e B 30,714 20,109
— Others — HAh, 912 739
143,896 112,786

FEHRE 2023 / H

EREARIEXZRNABRAT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BREHERN  HUARETIR)
30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30 EXEBAERS (&)
(continued)
(a) Transactions with related parties (continued) (a) EHEBEMAXRZ ()
2023 2022
—s=-= —E=-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
(i) Receive services from: (i) BIZUTSIRE:
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — ERRMG G 167,611 66,298
— Yidu Construction — H R 12,936 6,752
— Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical — FUREBE e EEE 8,987 6,868
— HEC Biochemistry
Manufacturing — RS E R GE 3,186 3,186
— Yichang Shancheng Shuidu
Restaurant — HE UK E AR E 13,348 1,360
— Others — Hfth 986 939
207,054 85,403
(i) Lease assets from: (i) MUATSEHFHEELE :
— Dongguan HEC Drug — RRRBGHEYHE
Development 2,226 2,226
— Shenzhen HEC Formed foil — FITERE A 651 651
— Others — Efh 545 423
3,422 3,300
(iv) Payments past through: (iv) BBUTETRR:
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — ERRPG s 22,588 34,670
— Shenzhen HEC Industrial — MR HEZE - 49,673
22,588 84,343
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30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(a)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P ey

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B3N -
30 EXEBAERS &)

BAANRESIR)

Transactions with related parties (continued) (a) EBEMAXRZ ()
2023 2022
—E2-= —E- =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETIT
(v)  Cash collection through: () BBUATEHTREEES
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — EREGEE 154,960 43,956
(vi) Proceeds arise from Target (i) BEERELED
Products: FT{S3K78 -
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — ERREGEE 92,339 180,850
(vii) Sales of goods to: (i) MIATEFEEER
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — ERBERG 11,698 10,917
— HEC (Hong Kong) Sales — BABERBGHEE 1,536 -
— Others — Hith 969 257
14,203 11,174
(viii) Provide entrusted production  (viii) MM & HIRHEEE
and inspection services to: A EE ORI AR TS
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — BERRG s 60,471 36,418
— Dongguan HEC — REMREK
Biopharmaceutical A Y B - 2,454
— Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical — FLRRFS e BE - 608
— Others — Hith 319 363
60,790 39,843

FEHE 2023 / EERGARIEXZRNERAF
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT TSR R M 5T
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=FERERAN - BAARKETITR)

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30 EXEBAERS (&)

(continued)

(a) Transactions with related parties (continued) (a) EHEBEMAXRZ ()
2023 2022
—E-=F g
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETr AR®FTT
(ix) Purchase of fixed assets from:  (ix) M T&
BEEE :
— Yidu Machinery — BRI RS 9,637 17,817
(x)  Purchase of intangible assets ~ (x) TAIA N& 5 HE
from: | EE
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — EREGEE 298,177 26,061
(xi) Lease assets to: (xi) MUATEHEBEE:
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — EREGEE 274 -
(xii) Proceeds arise from the (xi) DK IBREER
sharing agreement: PRI FRIE
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — ERREGEE 23,037 -
(b) Balances with related parties (b) EERFEES RN
()  Amounts due from related parties (i) PEWREEESRIE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETT
Prepayments and trade RENRTEFHEBEER R
receivables from: 5 EWGIE
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — BR R G s 229,555 343,325
— Guangdong HEC Health Sales — EREB X AEREEE 189 189
— HEC (Hong Kong) Sales — BEBRGHEE 1,531 -
— HEC Medicine Retail Chain — RGN ETEEH 68 -
— Dongguan HEC — R RGN EYEE
Biopharmaceutical - 2,773
231,343 346,287
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30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P ey

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=EHEAIN - BUAAREIIR)

(continued)

(b)

(c)

Balances with related parties (continued) (b)

(ii) Amounts due to related parties

30 EXRBEBAERS (@)

SLRARE T MY AR R (AF)

(i) FESEREE TS RRIR

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTFRT AR®ETET

Trade payables and other ERUATETHES R
payables to: Efth5RI8
— Yidu Construction — EEBEE - 2,182
— Shaoguan HEC Printing — BB R Y EDRI 436 11,227
— Yidu Machinery — EH R R 5 -
441 13,409
Financial guarantees () HHER

At 31 December 2023, guarantees were issued to the
Group by Shenzhen HEC Industrial, Mr. Zhang Yushuai
and Mrs. Guo Meilan, the ultimate controlling party of
the Group in connection with bank loans and other
borrowings amounted to RMB752,616,000 of the Group.

FEHRE 2023 / H

RZTEZ=F+ZHA=+—
H - RINRBEAEE K&EE
B B AR AR 77 o B B o AE X 3B
WHEZTRAEERITERR
Hib e m A s BEREER
A AR 752,616,0007T °

EREARIEXZRNABRAT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BT TSR R M 5T
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=FERERAN - BAARKETITR)

30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30 EXABARE (&)

(continued)

(d) Key management personnel compensation d) ZTESEAENHRH
Remuneration for key management personnel of the AEEFEZEBEAEBNHMN (B
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s B THATEENORARE
directors’ as disclosed in Note 7 and certain of the ERMESEENE TR
highest paid employees as disclosed in Note 8, is as A THFIBE) AT -
follows:

2023 2022
—E-= B4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT
Salaries and other benefits e hEMmEF 14,869 15,022
Contribution to defined retirement  TE 28R K48 FIET B30
benefit schemes 162 358
Equity-settled share-based payments ARz 45 & HR% 10 2 1+ 36,358 -
51,389 15,380
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (See Note HMERET ATE TRA] (R
5(b)). Mi5Es(b)) °

(e) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to connected (e) HEAEXZHEBAMLWRAUN
transactions il
The recurring transactions with related parties in respect 4l B 5 30(a) AR Y 8 B T AL
of Note 30(a) above constitute continuing connected BUHRXZEK ETHRAE T
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing AEERE TZHBHERS -
Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the B ETRBNETOASTR
Listing Rules are provided in section headed “Continuing EZBRBHREZTREZIF
Connected Transactions” of the Directors’ Report. BB S 8-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

FERE 2023 / BEE

(BREEEAIN - HUAREDITR)
31 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 31 AREEZMBMRR
POSITION
2023 2022
—Z=-= 2
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
M AR®Tr ARKTT
Non-current assets IREBEE
Fixed assets B E & E
— Property, plant and equipment ~ — Y% « BE M RE 2,121,701 2,092,968
— Right-of-use assets —CRAEEE 213,723 217,814
2,335,424 2,310,782
Intangible assets mEEE 1,925,185 1,716,072
Investments in subsidiaries KRB R RNRE 12 1,260,692 1,566,391
Interests in an associate B N A e 12,571 -
Financial assets measured at FVPL AR EEFEBEEH)
ARG REE 19,587 -
Prepayments T FRIE 53,401 149,611
Deferred tax assets EETRIBEE E 124,227 81,069
5,731,087 5,823,925
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 334,631 268,158
Trade and other receivables B 5 M E I ERIA 3,530,410 2,097,412
Prepayments TET IR 269,625 24,532
Financial assets measured at FVPL R AR BETE B EE
ARG EREE 18,686 290,000
Non-current assets held for sale BIEHENIEREEE - 2,312,320
Restricted cash REHHRE 1,247,300 76,781
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREFEIAE 1,607,608 815,328
7,008,260 5,884,531

REXRTEERNDERAF]



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BREHERN  HUARETIR)
31 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 31 ARIEEZMBEMRRT @)
POSITION (continued)
2023 2022
—E=-= —E- =
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
e AR®BTR AREF T
Current liabilities REaE
Trade and other payables B 5 MEMENFRIE 1,717,304 1,644,834
Contract liahilities BHAER 81,600 151,514
Bank loans and other borrowings IRITER R EALER 1,979,795 168,278
Interest-bearing borrowings FHEMER - 2,906,963
Deferred income IEE W = 4,680 4,680
Financial liabilities measured at FVPL AR BEET2 2 %
SFABENERAsE 1,139 -
Current taxation RVER %% 18 145,039 6,331
| 34929557 | 4,882,600
Netcurrentassets =~~~ WB®EFE | 3078703 | 1,001,931
Total assets less current liabilities #EEBABAEE 8,809,790 6,825,856
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bank loans and other borrowings RITER L HAER 213,288 182,500
Deferred income EEW 2 145,490 146,169
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,165 -
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 359,943 | 328,669
Net assets REE 8,449,847 6,497,187
Capital and reserves EAXR#E 27
Share capital LN 879,968 879,968
Reserves s 7,569,879 5,617,219
Total equity HRERE 8,449,847 6,497,187

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023




32

33

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTIES

At 31 December 2023, the directors consider the immediate
parent of the Group to be Sunshine Lake Pharma, which is
incorporated in the PRC. The ultimate controlling party of the
Group to be Mr. Zhang Yushuai and his mother Mrs. Guo Meilan.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2023

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB
has issued a number of new or amended standards, which are
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
which have not been adopted in these financial statements.
These developments include the following which may be

relevant to the Group.

32

33

(B BRI -
EE& ll\*’fugﬁﬂii

BAANRESIR)

R-F_=F+-A=+—H &
ERARAEBNEERRATARY
BRI ERREGLEE T
AEBENRKEET BERBENEE
RESRIERMELL -

RBE-B-=%+=5
=t—RALFEEEEMHE
1 5 2 R4S 3T © 572 B
RRENECEE

EXRFEUBERETEER  BR
SHEREBESSCHEHMAZEHNES
—EZ=F+-A=+—HLEHFE
MAEMBT AR FEHHREA
R ETREBTER - L F%
BEIETISENERNERSH
BAER) o

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
BUATHEHR 2%
RIS AR

IFRS 17, Insurance contracts
BB E RS LR B 1755 - (RER A4

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: Classification of

liabilities as current or non-current

BEE st ERIE 1R (BATA) » BIBHKREY  BEDRA

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements and IFRS Practice

SREB S IERE

1 January 2024
—E_MNF—-H—H

1 January 2024

—E-NFE—H—H

1 January 2024

Statement 2, Making materiality judgements: Disclosure of accounting policies

BIp & st RIS 158 (85T A) -
B8 (EHEAHE - ©tHENKE

FERE 2023 / BEE

MBBRERZ5RERN G REENER RS

—E-NFE—H—H

REXRTEERNDERAF]
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M o

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B HEHIN - GUARKEIIR)

33 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 33
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2023 (continued)

RBE-Z-_=5+=-FH
Z=+t—-BLEFEEHEME
o RAERBIEET - #ER K
RENEERXE @)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

BUATHBR 2%
B E T BEEN
Amendments to IAS 8, Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and 1 January 2024
errars: Definition of accounting estimates
BERGFHERIE 8 (BRATAR) - @t E - St 2H LK “EoME—-A—H
EiE BAEAT I EE
Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities 1 January 2024

arising from a single transaction
BR &t ERIE 125 (BRI A) - TS -
BE-XGMELEEKAGBNHEBELHEA

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the

consolidated financial statements.

—E-NFE—H—H

AEETEFERRRBRERY
RMWBHMEEETHE - EEB A
Bl EwRRAUFER T KA
REHRAMBHBRENEATE -

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Audit Committee
=

“AGM”

[BRBFAE

“Annual Report”

[4F 4R

“Articles of Association”

“Blackstone”
=-Y=)

“Board of Directors” or “Board”

=

“Board of Supervisors”

=

“Chairman”

[BEEK]

“China” or “PRC”

[ B

» o«

“Company”, “the Company”,
“Pharm HEC”, “we” or “us”

[ARR KRB RITEERE 5
E:4 N

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”
[ B A% 3R

DEFINITIONS

the audit committee of the Board
EEeERELEY

the forthcoming annual general meeting for the year 2023 of the
Company

RARR_ZE_=FEERRBFRE

the annual report of the Company for the year 2023
RRAB B - ZFFR

the articles of association of the Company (as amended from time to
time)
RAFHER (BTREET)

Blackstone Inc. and its related parties
Blackstone Inc. &2 H BF st 75

board of directors of the Company

ARREEG

board of supervisars of the Company

ZAUNSI 2

chairman of board of directors of the Company

ARABEZEGEER

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purposes of this Annual
Report and for geographical reference only (unless otherwise
indicated), excluding Taiwan, Macau and Hong Kong
MEARANE  EAFREME EME  BEEEAN T
BREAE RFARES

YiChang HEC Changliang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (E& RE X KT
B RS  H R A A)), a company established in the PRC on 11 May
2015 as ajoint stock company
HERBGXARIZERNERAR  —XR_T—HFAA+—
BEFR K H RN BR AR

has the meaning given to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmARIFE T A RE

FERE 2023 / EERG AR TIEERMNER AR
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DEFINITIONS

“Director(s)”

[E£]

“Domestic Share(s)”
[RNERK]

“Global Offering”
[2IREE

“Group”

SN

“Guangdong HEC”

[BRRB L]

“H Shares”

[HAX

“HEC Medicine Development

and Research”

[ SR Y B 7T 3%

“HEC Pharm?”

[EEREX]

director(s) of the Company
ARARESE

issued ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company with a
nominal value of RMB1.00 each, which is (are) subscribed for or
credited as fully paid in RMB
ARARRAFEREEAREL1OOTTHEHTLER  EUAR
BRE R

the offer of the Company’s H Shares for subscription as described in
the prospectus of the Company
MR R BB ERZE AR AIHREE A RE

the Company and its subsidiaries

RRABREMBAA]

Guangdong HEC Technology Holding Co., Ltd. (&R 5 B5 Y B 5 A%
fi% 5 A BR A A]), a company incorporated in the PRC on 24 October
1996 and whose shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600673)

BREGABEERBRMERRE  — KR —AARETA
M BEREFE M REROR EEE SRS ET 2 AR (KR
AR 5% - 600673)

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company with a nominal
value of RMB1.00 each, which is (are) listed on the Stock Exchange
and is (are) subscribed for and traded in HKD
AATRAPEREBAREL100TH SRR - AEBARMET
WA TREREE

Dongguan HEC Medicine Development and Research Co., Ltd. (R 5=
B BT B B R A A)), a company incorporated in the PRC,
being a subsidiary of Shenzhen HEC Industrial
RERGHLEYABER QR —KREFEEMK LT A
RINRGHE XM E R A

HEC Pharm Co., Ltd.* (EE RG L BEE KD AR A 7)), a company
incorporated in the PRC on 12 January 2004
HERGAEERMARLDR  — KR _TTMF-A+-B%#
H B AR SZ ) 2 A
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nHK$u or “HKD”

&7t

“Hong Kong”
(&

“Hong Kong Stock Exchange” or

“Stock Exchange”
[ 25 7B Bk 32 7 | = [ Bk 22 Py

“IFRSs”

[BR B 5 5 2 Al

“Latest Practicable Date”

[ ERATTHH

“Listing Date”

[ B8

“Listing Rules”

[ LR Al

“Model Code”

[ 57 Al

“Nomination Committee”

(2R Eg

DEFINITIONS

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency for the time being of Hong
Kong
BT BELRKEEEE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
hEFBFRITTE R

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMAERSHAARRDF

the International Financial Reporting Standards, which include
standards and interpretations promulgated by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and the International Accounting
Standards (IAS) and interpretation issued by the International
Accounting Standards Committee (IASC)

R BHmEER BEBEEGHEAESERMNERRZE
ARBEBR G EREZEGRMNBEKR G LRI RRE

26 April 2024, being the latest practicable date for the purpose of
ascertaining certain information contained in this Annual Report
prior to its publication

TECHFMOAZTRE RAFRTEMABEELTAEHEET
BHOKEERAITAES

29 December 2015, on which the H Shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange and from which dealings in the H Shares were permitted
to commence on the Stock Exchange

TE-RAF+ AR HBRRBRAETOES  TEA
H  HIREERB IR ES

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, as amended from time to time

EEMARGMARRNAES EHARA - K TEER]

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules
FHRRAMSRCIPAEE LT BEITAESTETESFRHHFETH

the nomination committee of the Board

ExeRA%%Eg

FERE 2023 / EERG AR TIEERMNER AR
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DEFINITIONS

“Renminbi” or “RMB”

[AR% ]

“Remuneration and Evaluation

Committee”

[HE N EZZE S

“Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical”

[FLRRS e EE R ]

nSFCJ:

EL -

(KSFOU

(785 kB &P

“Shareholder(s)”

(AR

“Shares”

(A7 |

“Shenzhen HEC Industrial”

(RIS B

“Sunshine Lake Pharma”

[BRRMBEEE]

the lawful currency of the PRC
HEDEEE

remuneration and evaluation committee of the Board
EEFWERERZES

Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (FLJRR B BEEER A A, a
company incorporated in the PRC and an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of Shenzhen HEC Industrial

BRRGHAEXRBRAR  —KEFBEFTMRIZHRAA - RINIR
BRAEXNREIIETENBAF

the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong
BERFNHEEREREZES

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time

BEREDIFESTIERF LB & TREET - MAIAHA
Bk

holder(s) of our Shares, including holders of H shares and holders of
domestic shares of the Company

BOFBEA  BEAXFHEFEAEARRERRTEE A

shares in the share capital of the Company, with a nominal value of
RMB1.00 each
RRRIRAHFREEARE 1.00 TH D

Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd. CFRIIT RGN & 2
R AR A d]), a company incorporated in the PRC on 27 January
1997 and a Controlling Shareholder

AYTREAREEZREBRAR  — KR —AEF—A=+t
BEFBEZFMEIMNART - A—RERKRR

Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd. (BR R[5 X B XK H AR L A,
previously known as Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd.(& SR B3t %
¥ B PR~ 7)), a company incorporated in the PRC on 29 December
2003

BREBHEERNERAR  —KR_ZBEZE=F+-_A=+Ah
BEFBEZMK AT IS ABERRGHEXBR AT
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“Supervisor(s)”

(B %]

“Yichang HEC Biochemical

Manufacturing”

[EERBE A BE]

“YiChang HEC Pharmaceutical

Manufacturing”

[EERBG L EE]

“Yichang HEC Power Plant”

[EERBRNNEE]

“Yidu Construction”

[EAPEE]

“Yidu Guijun”

[E#E ]

“Yidu HEC Industrial”

[EHRBECEX]

“Yidu Machinery”

[ B #R T A % 5

n%u
(%]

DEFINITIONS

the supervisor(s) of the Company
RARIEE

Yichang HEC Biochemical Manufacturing Co. Ltd. (BB 5 ¥ £ &
B[R /2 7)), a company incorporated in the PRC, being a subsidiary
of Shenzhen HEC Industrial

HERGAEMBHEERAR  —REPBEIMAZZ AR B
RYIRFG I BEEH B R A

YiChang HEC Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Co., Ltd. (B & RF5 &
225 R A A)), a company incorporated in the PRC and a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
HERGABEERQR  —REFEZMAZHNRE  BERQ
AEEZENB AR

Yichang HEC Power Plant Co., Ltd., a company incorporated in the
PRC, being a subsidiary of Shenzhen HEC Industrial
HERGHAANBEEERRA  —REPBEIMAZZ AR B
RYIRFG I BEEH B A

Yidu Shanchengshuidu Project Construction Co., Ltd., a company
incorporated in the PRC, a subsidiary of Shenzhen HEC Industrial
HELUWKBRETIEBRAR  —REFREZMEZIHAT -
RARYIRGHEEOHERF

Yidu Guijun Pharmaceutical Technology Co., Ltd., a company
incorporated in the PRC and owned as to 50% by Mr. CHEN Yangui
and 50% by three independent third parties
HEEOBEMRARAR  —REPEZTMRZHOLGE - BA
BREERER=FFILE=T7 7 5I%EH 50% &% 50% &9 # 55

Yidu HEC Industrial Co., Ltd.* a company incorporated in the PRC, a
direct non-wholly owned subsidiary of Shenzhen HEC Industrial
HHTREGAEXERBRAG  —REPBEIMEAZINAF
RNNREAEXNEEIEZENB LA

Yidu Changjiang Machinery Equipment Co., Ltd. (B &0 & T # # 3%
AR 2 A1), a company incorporated in the PRC and a subsidiary
of Shenzhen HEC Industrial

HBRIEBBEERAR  —RKEPBEFMAZHAE R
RIEXEENKH B AT

per cent
EliNsd
FEW|E 2023 /| HERBGARIEERHERAA
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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REGISTERED NAME
YiChang HEC ChangJiang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. JIANG Juncai

Mr. WANG Danjin

Mr. CHEN Hao (appointed on 8 September 2023)
Mr. CHEN Yangui (resigned on 8 September 2023)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. TANG Xinfa (Chairman)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. TANG Jianxin
Ms. XIANG Ling
Mr. LI Xuechen

REMUNERATION AND EVALUATION COMMITTEE

Ms. XIANG Ling (Chairman)
Mr. TANG Jianxin
Mr. JIANG Juncai

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. TANG Jianxin (Chairman)
Mr. TANG Xinfa
Ms. XIANG Ling

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. LI Xuechen (Chairman)
Mr. TANG Jianxin
Ms. XIANG Ling

SUPERVISORS
Mr. TANG Jinlong

Mr. LUO Zhonghua
Mr. WANG Shengchao
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. PENG Qiyun
Mr. WONG Wai Chiu (FCG, HKFCG)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. TANG Xinfa

West Fourth Floor, Building 106

Huafa North Road, Futian District, Shenzhen
Guangdong Province, the PRC

Mr. WONG Wai Chiu

40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre
No. 248 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

No. 38 Binjiang Road
Yidu, Yichang, Hubei Province, the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

No. 38 Binjiang Road
Yidu, Yichang, Hubei Province, the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

40th Floor, Dah Sing Finance Centre
No. 248 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKER

China Construction Bank Co., Ltd.
Qingjiang Branch

56 Changjiang Avenue

Yidu, Hubei Province, the PRC

AUDITORS

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance

with the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance
8/F, Prince’s Building, 10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

CORPORATE INFORMATION
NS

BEARWE

THELLE
= (B8 % 4 (FCG, HKFCE)

REAR

ekt e
FRIERSE
YT A8 [ 2 B L B
106 FRIUIE

HEBLEE
EBEBT
EFERIEH 2485
K& a0 4018

AMRERE

FRERILE EE EART
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PEEREXME
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FEIZRRITRDBRAF]
LT
FEHIEE BEE ™
)T KB 56 5%

% RED

EFR G REBAT
HEZRTED

K& R B E R B EG) T&
AR AR e B B A B
TR

EITE 10 A FREBHE

FEHE 2023 / EERGARIEXZRNERAF

335



CORPORATE INFORMATION

ANCI-)

PRC LEGAL ADVISORS P EEEEM
Jia Yuan Law Offices SZIRER BT
F408 Ocean Plaza F

158 Fuxingmennei Avenue dEmm

Xicheng District g

Beijing EHPIA KA 158 5%
the PRC iR FRNEF408
HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISORS EBEEER
Jia Yuan Law Office SRR EET
17/F BB

No. 238 Des Voeux Road Central I’

Sheung Wan R R 238 5%
Hong Kong 1748

H SHARE REGISTRAR HERRGOBFERTRE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited BEPREBSFEZLERAA
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor BB

Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East SRARER183FAFE L
Wanchai, Hong Kong 17#81712-1716 5% 4

STOCK CODE B 5K 5%
01558 01558
COMPANY’S WEBSITE b /NI R

www.hec-changjiang.com www.hec-changjiang.com

LISTING PLACE Lt

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited BEBAEXSHMBRAF

The Company’s 2023 environmental,social and governance report, which is prepared in both Chinese and English,
has been uploaded to the Company’s website (www.hec-changjiang.com) and the website of HKEXnews (www.
hkexnews.hk) and is available for inspection. Stakeholders may contact our Company in cases where hard copy is
needed. Our contact details are as follows:

ANAFIEI2023FIRE L REARESR - BRAE _EHR AR T (www.hec-changjiang.com) & & 7B 2
2 P 55 5 # U (www.hkexnews.hk) » BDBI 8 - tNRFEZLRIA - ATLABRARIEBE - HANBESRXNT

Address: Securities Department, Dongyangguang Scientific Park, No. 368 Zhen An Zhong Road, Chang’an County,
Dongguan, Guangdong Province, the PRC

dak P EERA RET R ZERL T 5K 368 57 R IG5 St B E E 55

Company’s Email: changjiangpharm®@dyg-hec.com

A BEPAE : changjiangpharm@dyg-hec.com
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